

LUND UNIVERSITY

III-V Devices for Emerging Electronic Applications

Olausson, Patrik

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Olausson, P. (2024). *III-V Devices for Emerging Electronic Applications*. Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

III-V Devices for Emerging Electronic Applications

Doctoral Thesis

Patrik Olausson



Department of Electrical and Information Technology Lund, February 2024

Patrik Olausson Department of Electrical and Information Technology Lund University Ole Römers Väg 3, 223 63 Lund, Sweden

Series of Licentiate and Doctoral Theses ISSN 1654-790X, No. 167 ISBN 978-91-8039-942-5 (printed) ISBN 978-91-8039-943-2 (digital)

 \odot 2024 Patrik Olausson This thesis is typeset using LATEX 2_{ϵ}.

Frontispiece: Optical microscopy image of a wire bonded Hall bar, and a wire bonded Greek cross.

Printed by Tryckeriet i E-huset, Lund University, Lund, Sweden.

No part of this thesis may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without written permission from the author. Distribution of the original thesis in full, however, is permitted without restriction.

Abstract

ODAY'S digitalized society relies on the advancement of silicon (Si) Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor (CMOS) technology, but the limitations of down-scaling and the rapidly increasing demand for added functionality that is not easily achieved in Si, have pushed efforts to monolithically 3D-integrate III-V devices above the Si-CMOS technology. In addition, the demand for increased computational power and handling of vast amounts of data is rapidly increasing. This has led to an increased interest in quantum computing, offering the potential to solve specific complex problems more efficiently than conventional computers. Superconducting transmon Quantum Bits (qubits) are promising for the realization of quantum computers, which has led to an increased interest in cryogenic electronics. For these applications, III-Vs are suitable as their high carrier mobility enables low power consumption, low noise, and highly transparent superconductorsemiconductor interfaces. High-quality interfaces between superconductors and semiconductors are crucial for the implementation of gate-tunable hybrid superconductor-semiconductor qubits known as gatemon qubits.

This thesis explores the potential of utilizing indium arsenide (InAs) and indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) nanowire and quantum well devices in these emerging electronic applications. Both as an add-on in Si-CMOS technology, as well as the channel material in electronic devices for cryogenic applications.

The electron transport in near-surface quantum wells is studied by DCmeasurements in combination with applied magnetic fields, from room temperature down to cryogenic temperatures. Several different ways to extract the carrier mobility are investigated, such as standard current-voltage sweeps, the Geometrical Magnetoresistance Effect (gMR), as well as the Hall effect. A deeper understanding of electron transport at cryogenic temperatures is obtained by the development of a model for the current characteristics of long-channel InGaAs quantum well Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistors (MOSFETs), which includes the effects of band tail states, electron concentration-dependent mobility, and interface trap density. The model shows an increased effect of remote impurity scattering associated with mobility degradation in the subthreshold region.

A demultiplexer based on an InGaAs nanowire network was fabricated, to enable routing of DC-currents on-chip and reduce the number of connections to the cryostat. To facilitate system-level investigation of circuits containing Josephson Field-Effect Transistors (JoFETs), a compact model was developed which by circuit simulations accurately reproduced the measured data from our JoFET.

Finally, a process for the growth of InAs nanowires on tungsten was developed. This novel approach is based on Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy (TASE) and allows for easy 3D-integration of III-V devices in Si-CMOS technology.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

dagens digitala samhälle är man alltid tillgänglig, uppkopplad, och uppdaterad. Datorer, smarta mobiltelefoner och internet har revolutionerat våra liv. Den genomsnittliga användaren använder till exempel sin smarta telefon under totalt mer än tre timmar varje dag uppdelat på 58 tillfällen. Grunden för den här utvecklingen började 1947 på Bell laboratories i New Jersey, då de tre forskarna Shockley, Bardeen och Brattain hade tillverkat den första fungerande transistorn. Denna upptäckt gav dem senare Nobelpriset i fysik, och anses idag vara en av de viktigaste uppfinningarna någonsin.

I princip all dagens elektronik innehåller transistorer. En transistor har tre kontakter, source, drain och gate. Gaten används för att styra strömmen som går mellan source och drain, likt en ventil som styr flödet av vatten mellan två vattentankar. Storleken på strömmen mellan source och drain kan ändras med en faktor 100 000 genom att ändra potentialen på gaten några tiondels volt. Detta möjliggör för snabba beräkningar i det binära talsystemet där "1:or" och "0:or" motsvaras av hög respektive låg ström i dagens datorer. Ett annat viktigt användningsområde för transistorer är som förstärkare av elektriska signaler, vilket är essentiellt för att ta emot och skicka information över internet och telenätet.

Den extremt snabba prestandautvecklingen av dagens elektronik baseras främst på att transistorerna blir mindre och mindre. Idag finns det flera miljarder transistorer på en yta av några hundra kvadratmillimeter. Detta medför att beräkningar kan ske snabbare och till lägre effektförbrukning. Gränsen för hur små transistorerna kan bli börjar dock närma sig, då vissa strukturer bara består av några atomlager. Ett problem som uppstår då transistorernas dimensioner blir mindre är att det blir svårare att kontrollera strömmen i kanalen mellan source och drain. För att mer effektivt kunna styra strömmen har nya kanal-geometrier utvecklats. Från att ha varit plana strukturer, där gaten bara påverkar kanalen mellan source och drain från en sida, har kanalstrukturer i form av fenor och trådar utvecklats. Det möjliggör kontroll av strömmen genom kanalen från flera sidor. Ett möjligt sätt att förbättra prestandan utan att minska storleken ytterligare, är att tillverka transistorer av andra material. Historiskt sett har halvledaren kisel använts som material i kanalen, men i andra halvledare kan elektronerna färdas snabbare vilket ökar prestandan. Till exempel har kombinationer av material från grupp 13 och 15 i det periodiska systemet visat sig ge elektronerna mycket högre mobilitet. Dessa kristaller, som brukar kallas III-V halvledare, utklassar kisel i vissa applikationer men är samtidigt dyrare och mer sällsynta. Att helt och hållet ersätta kisel med III-V halvledare är därför väldigt osannolikt, men att integrera III-V halvledare i kiselbaserad teknologi skulle medföra ökad prestanda och funktionalitet. Det är dock en komplex uppgift, eftersom kisel och III-V halvledarna har olika avstånd mellan atomerna i kristallerna så måste de växas på olika substrat och sedan flyttas över till samma substrat. I denna avhandling har vi undersökt ett annat alternativ. Vi har utvecklat en process för att växa kristaller av III-V halvledare direkt på en metall, och vilket substrat som används spelar därför ingen roll. Denna metod har därför potential att möjliggöra integrering av III-V halvledare på kiselsubstrat.

Ett annat intressant tillvägagångssätt för att öka beräkningskapaciteten är att byta ut de digitala bitarna "1" och "0" mot kvantbitar, som utöver "1" eller "0" även kan vara i en superposition av dessa två tillstånd. Det möjliggör att vissa typer av komplexa beräkningar som skulle ta orimligt lång tid att utföra på en konventionell dator, kan utföras parallellt. Viktiga användningsområden för kvantdatorer skulle vara inom områden där stora mängder data hanteras, till exempel inom medicinforskning, energioptimering, finansiell modellering, och kryptering. En av de mest lovande kvantbitarna baseras på att vissa metaller blir supraledande vid temperaturer nära absoluta nollpunkten (-273.15°C). Vid dessa låga temperaturer blir effektförbrukningen och inverkan av brus särskilt viktigt. Elektroner med hög mobilitet har visat sig minska både effektförbrukningen och bruset, vilket gör III-V halvledare intressanta även för dessa användningsområden. I denna avhandling fokuserar vi på att tillverka högpresterande transistorer av III-V material, och studera elektrontransporten vid temperaturer nära absoluta nollpunkten.

Acknowledgments

IME has swiftly passed as I've enjoyed every moment of my Ph.D. studies! Working with numerous inspiring individuals has been a true delight and has played a pivotal role in bringing this thesis to fruition. First and foremost, I extend my gratitude to my supervisors, *Erik Lind* and *Mattias Borg*. Thank you for dedicating your time and effort to make this work possible. Your expertise and guidance have been indispensable throughout these years, and I am sincerely thankful for that. Special thanks to *Johannes Svensson* for always keeping your door open and for being ready to discuss cleanroom work, EBL-designs and so much more. *Lars-Erik Wernersson*, thank you for creating this fantastic research environment.

A great thank you to *Lasse* for the countless hours we spent together in the cleanroom and the stimulating discussions about sample designs and measurements. I also express my appreciation to *Louise*, not only my younger sister but also one of my closest friends. It has been a pleasure exploring the realm of superconductivity with you, and I am confident in your success during your Ph.D. and future career. To an old friend, *Robin*, who would have thought when we first met at 16 that we would spend the next 12 years studying together! Your presence as a colleague and friend has always been a source of security, and I am genuinely grateful for that.

I also want to thank all fantastic colleagues I have had the opportunity to work with, thank you Sebastian, Olli-Pekka, Markus, Fredrik, Stefan, Adam, Johan, Anton, Heera, Abinaya, Saketh, Navya, Zhongyunshen, Gautham, Hannes, Marcus, Ben, Niklas, André, Alexandros, Paula, Karthik, Philipp, Anette, Ngoc-Duc, Lars, Mats, Daniel, and Karl-Magnus.

Finally, I extend my deepest gratitude to my family for their unwavering support and encouragement. None of this would have been possible without you!

And to *Linn*, just as there are fundamental laws in nature stating that energy cannot be created nor destroyed, you've made me realize another law—I cannot live without you!

Pahh Am

Lund, February 2024

Contents

Abstract ii
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning
Acknowledgments vi
Contents iv
Preface xii
Structure of the Thesis
Included Papers
Related Work
Acronyms and Symbols xvi
Acronyms and Abbreviations
Latin Symbols
Greek Symbols
INTRODUCTION
1 Background 3
1.1 Motivation to this Thesis
1.2 III-V Devices for Cryogenic Electronics
1.3 Integration of III-V Devices in Si-CMOS Technology

2 MOSFET Theory	9
2.1 Performance Metrics	11
2.2 Gate Capacitance and Oxide Defects	12
2.3 Electron Transport and Mobility	15
2.3.1 Drift and Diffusion	15
2.3.2 Ballistic Transport	16
2.3.3 Quasi-Ballistic Transport	20
2.3.4 Transport at Cryogenic Temperatures	21
2.4 Summary	25
3 Fabrication	27
3.1 Near-Surface Quantum Well Devices	27
3.1.1 Gate Length Definition	28
3.1.2 Mesa Definition	28
3.1.3 Source-Drain Metallization	28
3.1.4 Passivation and Gate Oxide Deposition	29
3.1.5 Gate Metallization	29
3.1.6 Annealing	29
3.2 Lateral Nanowire Devices	29
3.2.1 Nanowire Growth	30
3.2.2 Contact Regrowth	32
3.2.3 Mesa Definition	32
3.2.4 Source-Drain Metallization	32
3.2.5 Passivation and Gate Oxide Deposition	32
3.2.6 Gate Metallization	33
3.2.7 Annealing	33
3.3 Vertical Nanowire Devices using TASE	33
3.3.1 Layer Stack Definition	35
3.3.2 Etch Mask Definition	35
3.3.3 Growth Template Definition	35
3.3.4 Nanowire Growth	36
3.3.5 Via Definition to Bottom Contact	36
3.3.6 Metallization	36
4 Device Characterization	39
4.1 Contact Resistance	40

4.2 Carrier Mobility	42
4.2.1 Effective Mobility	43
4.2.2 Field-Effect Mobility	44
4.2.3 Hall Mobility	45
4.2.4 gMR Mobility	49
4.2.5 Summary of Mobility Extraction Methods	51
4.3 Positive-Bias Temperature Instability Measurements	52
5 Conclusion and Outlook	55
5.1 Summary of Papers	56
5.2 Semiconductor-Last Approach Based on TASE	59
5.3 Hybrid Superconductor-Semiconductor Devices using TASE \cdot .	60
Bibliography	61
APPENDICES	73
A Fabrication of Near-Surface Quantum Well Devices	75
B Fabrication of Lateral Nanowire Devices	83
C Fabrication of Vertical Nanowire Devices using TASE	91
D Summary of Extracted $R_{\rm C}$ and $\mu_{\rm EFF}$	95
PAPERS	97
I Optimization of Near-Surface Quantum Well Processing	99
II Low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing of InGaAs MOSFETs	109
III Geometrical Magnetoresistance as a Tool for Carrier Mo- bility Extraction in InGaAs MOSFETs	119
IV Cryogenic Characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET	127
V Low-Temperature Characteristics of Nanowire Network Demultiplexer for Qubit Biasing	135
VI Gate-controlled near-surface Josephson junctions	143

VII Three-Dimensional Integration of InAs Nanowires by Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy on Tungsten 151

Preface

HIS thesis is the culmination of five years of work in the *Electromagnetics and Nanoelectronics* division at the Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, and presents detailed studies of III-V devices at cryogenic temperatures, as well as their potential integration in Si-CMOS technology. The work was supervised by Professor *Erik Lind* and Associate Professor *Mattias Borg*.

STRUCTURE OF THE THESIS

The three main parts of this thesis are: Introduction, Appendices, and Papers. The introduction provides a summary of the research field, its development, and fundamental concepts. This part is intended to be comprehensible for aspiring researchers with a Master's degree in a related subject. The appendices contain detailed fabrication schemes, intended to work as a guide for future Ph.D. students, as well as a summary of R_C for different semiconductor/metal combinations, along with extracted values of μ_{EFF} . The papers appended in the back, form the main body of the thesis.

INTRODUCTION

The introduction aims to motivate the research performed in this thesis, provide a broader view of the research field, introduce its fundamental concepts, and make the appended publications understandable for readers with basic knowledge of semiconductor device physics.

• APPENDICES

A Fabrication of Near-Surface Quantum Well Devices

Appendix A provides a detailed process flow for the fabrication of near-surface quantum well devices.

B Fabrication of Lateral Nanowire Devices

Appendix B provides a detailed process flow for the fabrication of lateral nanowire devices.

C Fabrication of Vertical Nanowire Devices using TASE

Appendix C provides a detailed process flow for the fabrication of vertical nanowire devices using TASE.

D Summary of Extracted $R_{\rm C}$ and $\mu_{\rm EFF}$

Appendix D provides a summary of extracted $R_{\rm C}$ and $\mu_{\rm EFF}$ for some different semiconductor/metal combinations.

• PAPERS

The papers forming the main body of the thesis are reproduced in the back and listed in the following.

INCLUDED PAPERS

The following papers form the main body of this thesis and the respective published or draft versions are appended in the back.

Paper I: <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, L. SÖDERGREN, M. BORG, AND E. LIND, "Optimization of Near-Surface Quantum Well Processing", *Physica Status Solidi (A) Applications and Materials Science*, vol. 218, no. 7, pp. 2000720, January 2021, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000720.

► I developed the process flow, fabricated the devices, carried out all electrical measurements and analyses, and wrote the paper.

Paper II: <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, R. YADAV, R. TIMM, AND E. LIND, "Low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing of InGaAs MOSFETs", *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 055001, March 2023, doi: 10.1088/1361-6641/acc08c.

► I fabricated the devices, carried out all electrical measurements and analyses, and wrote the paper.

Paper III: <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Geometrical Magnetoresistance as a Tool for Carrier Mobility Extraction in InGaAs MOSFETs", *IEEE Transactions* on Electron Devices, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 5614-5618, November 2023, doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3318556.

► I developed the process flow, fabricated the devices, carried out all electrical measurements and analyses, co-performed the simulations, and wrote the paper.

- Paper IV: L. SÖDERGREN, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Cryogenic Characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET", *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 1226-1230, March 2023, doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3238382.
 ► I fabricated the devices and carried out most of the electrical measurements and analyses.
- Paper V: L. SÖDERGREN, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Low-Temperature Characteristics of Nanowire Network Demultiplexer for Qubit Biasing", *Nano Letters*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 3884-3888, May 2022, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c04971.

► I co-fabricated the devices and assisted during electrical measurements and analyses.

Paper VI: L. OLAUSSON*, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>*, AND E. LIND, "Gate-controlled nearsurface Josephson junctions", *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 042601, January 2024, doi: 10.1063/5.0182485.

* Contributed equally.

► I planned and performed the device fabrication, co-performed the measurements, performed most of the data analysis, and co-wrote the paper.

Paper VII: J. SVENSSON*, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>*, H. MENON*, S. LEHMANN, E. LIND, AND M. BORG, "Three-Dimensional Integration of InAs Nanowires by Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy on Tungsten", *Nano Letters*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 4756-4761, June 2023, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04908.

* *Contributed equally.*

► I developed the process flow, fabricated the devices, and carried out all electrical measurements and analyses.

RELATED WORK

The following publications are not included in the thesis, but summarize related work that I was involved in. The work is divided into peer-reviewed journal papers and conference contributions and is listed according to the thematic order of the thesis.

JOURNAL PAPERS

Paper viii: N.S. GARIGAPATI, L. SÖDERGREN, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Strained $In_xGa_{(1-x)}As/InP$ near surface quantum wells and MOSFETs", *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 120, no. 9, pp. 092105, March 2022, doi: 10.1063/5.0073918.

CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTIONS

Paper ix: J. SVENSSON, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, H. MENON, E. LIND, AND M. BORG, "Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy of InAs on W", Compound Semiconductor Week (CSW), Jun. 2022. doi: 10.1109/CSW55288.2022.9930423

Acronyms and Symbols

Here, important acronyms, abbreviations, and symbols are listed, which are recurring throughout the thesis. Some parameters, which only occur in a narrow context, are intentionally omitted; some parameters are used in more than one way, but the context is always explicitly clarified in the corresponding text. Some (compound) units are provided with prefixes to reflect the most commonly encountered notations in literature.

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

2DEG	2-Dimensional Electron Gas
AHA	Atomic Hydrogen Annealing
ALD	Atomic Layer Deposition
ART	Aspect Ratio Trapping
BEOL	Back-End-Of-Line
BOE	Buffered Oxide Etchant
CMOS	Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor
DC	Direct Current
DIBL	Drain-Induced Barrier Lowering
DOS	Density Of States
EBL	Electron-Beam Lithography
EOT	Equivalent Oxide Thickness
FEOL	Front-End-Of-Line

FinFET	Fin Field-Effect Transistor		
GAA	Gate-All-Around		
gMR	Geometrical Magnetoresistance Effect		
HSQ	Hydrogen Silsesquioxane		
IC	Integrated Circuit		
ICP	Inductively Coupled Plasma		
IPA	Isopropanol		
IRDS	International Roadmap For Devices and Systems		
JJ	Josephson Junction		
JoFET	Josephson Field-Effect Transistor		
MBE	Molecular-Beam Epitaxy		
MIBK	Methyl Isobutyl Ketone		
MLA	Maskless Aligner		
MOCVD	Metal-Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition		
MOSFET	Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor		
PBTI	Positive-Bias Temperature Instability		
PECVD	Plasma-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition		
PMA	Post-Metal Annealing		
pMR	Physical Magnetoresistance Effect		
QCL	Quantum Capacitance Limit		
qubit	Quantum Bit		
RF	Radio-Frequency		
RIE	Reactive Ion Etching		
RTP	Rapid Thermal Process		
SAE	Selective Area Epitaxy		
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscope		
S.I.	Semi-Insulating		
SQUID	Superconducting Quantum Interference Device		
SS	Subthreshold Swing		
TASE	Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy		
TLM	Transfer Length Method		
TMAH	Tetramethylammonium Hydroxide		
TMAI	Trimethylaluminum		

UVL Ultraviolet Lithography

LATIN SYMBOLS

Al Al ₂ O ₃ Ar As AsH ₃ Au		Aluminum Aluminum oxide Argon Arsenic Arsine Gold
C _C C _G CH₃COOH C _{IT} C _{OX} C _Q Cl Cl ₂ Cr	$F m^{-2}$ $F m^{-2}$ $F m^{-2}$ $F m^{-2}$ $F m^{-2}$	Centroid capacitance Gate capacitance Acetic acid Interface-trap capacitance Oxide capacitance Quantum capacitance Chlorine Chlorine gas Chromium
d D _{IT} D	${m \atop J^{-1} m^{-2} \atop m^2 s^{-1}}$	Thickness of dielectric Interface-trap density Diffusivity
E _U	J	Urbach energy
F Fe		Fluorine Iron
g _d g _m Ga(CH ₃) ₃ Ge	S S	Output conductance Transconductance Trimethylgallium Germanium
$\begin{array}{l} H_2 \\ H_2 O \\ H_2 O_2 \end{array}$		Hydrogen gas Water Hydrogen peroxide

H ₃ PO ₄ H ₂ SO ₄ HCl HF HfO ₂ HNO ₃		Phosphoric acid Sulfuric acid Hydrochloric acid Hydrofluoric acid Hafnium dioxide Nitric acid
In InAs In(CH ₃) ₃ InGaAs InP I _{DS}	A, mA μ m ⁻¹	Indium Indium arsenide Trimethylindium Indium gallium arsenide Indium phosphide Drain-Source current, often normalised by the gate width
I _{OFF} I _{ON}	A, mA μ m ⁻¹ A, mA μ m ⁻¹	Off-current, often normalised by the gate width On-current, often normalised by the gate width
k _B		$\approx 1.381 \times 10^{-23} \text{ kg m}^2 \text{ K}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}, \text{ Boltz-mann's constant}$
L _G L _{G,EFF} L _T	m m m	Gate length Effective gate length Transfer length
m ₀ m* Mo MoRe	kg m ₀	$\approx 9.109 \times 10^{-31}$ kg, electron rest mass Effective mass Molybdenum Molybdenum rhenium alloy
n n_{s} N_{2D} N_{2} $NH_{4}OH$ $(NH_{4})_{2}S$ Ni	m^{-3} m^{-2}	Carrier concentration Surface carrier concentration 2-dimensional effective density of states Nitrogen gas Ammonium hydroxide Ammonium sulfide Nickel
O ₂		Oxygen
Pd		Palladium

<i>q</i> Q _{CH}	$\mathrm{C}\mathrm{m}^{-2}$	pprox 1.602 $ imes$ 10 ⁻¹⁹ C, Elementary charge Mobile channel charge density
R _{ACC}	Ω m	Access resistance
R _C	Ω m	Contact resistance
R _{CH}	Ω m	Channel resistance
R _{ON}	Ω	On-resistance
R _{SH}	Ω	Sheet resistance
SF ₆		Sulfur hexafluoride
Si		Silicon
SiO ₂		Silicon dioxide
Si_3N_4		Silicon nitride
Sn		Tin
Ti		Titanium
TiN		Titanium nitride
$v_{\rm SAT}$	${\rm m~s^{-1}}$	Saturation velocity
v_{T}	${ m m~s^{-1}}$	Thermal injection velocity
V _{DD}	V	Drive voltage
V _{DS}	V	Drain-Source voltage
V _{GS}	V	Gate-Source voltage
V _{HALL}	V	Hall voltage
V _{OV}	V	Overdrive voltage
V_{T}	V	Threshold voltage
W	m	Device width
W		Tungsten

GREEK SYMBOLS

χ	J	Electron affinity
Γ		Transmission coefficient
κ		Relative permittivity
λ	m	Mean free path

μ μfe μeff μ _g mr μhall	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm cm}^2 \ {\rm V}^{-1} \ {\rm s}^{-1} \\ {\rm cm}^2 \ {\rm V}^{-1} \ {\rm s}^{-1} \\ {\rm cm}^2 \ {\rm V}^{-1} \ {\rm s}^{-1} \\ {\rm cm}^2 \ {\rm V}^{-1} \ {\rm s}^{-1} \\ {\rm cm}^2 \ {\rm V}^{-1} \ {\rm s}^{-1} \end{array}$	Mobility Field-effect mobility Effective mobility gMR mobility Hall mobility
φ _M	J	Work function
φ _B	J	Schottky barrier
ρ	Ωm	Resistivity

INTRODUCTION

1

Background

URIOSITY is one of the driving forces in our society, and research is the structured way to gain knowledge and drive innovation. From fundamental research, unraveling the mysteries of nature, to inventions such as smartphones and healthcare applications, research continues to form our society and the way we live our lives.

The cornerstone of the research performed in this thesis was developed already in 1947 when the first transistor was realized [1,2]. From the inception of the initial transistor, transistor technology has undergone remarkable advancements, profoundly enhancing and transforming our daily existence. Today, the transistor is the most widely manufactured device in history, and in 1965 Gordon Moore presented his famous observation, that the number of transistors in an integrated circuit doubles every year (later revised to every second year) [3].

The transistor is the main building block of our digitalized society. But, what led to this development, and how long can it continue? In the following paragraphs, a brief overview will be provided of key milestones in the development of the transistor and the digitalization of the world.

The first transistor was fabricated from germanium (Ge), but in the late 1950s silicon (Si) replaced Ge as the dominant semiconductor material. Si has many advantages: it is the second most abundant material in earth's crust, withstands high temperatures, easy to purify, high density of states, good electron mobility, and forms a native oxide, silicon dioxide (SiO₂), which is suitable as an insulator between the gate electrode and channel in Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor (**MOSFET**) devices, see Fig. 1.1

for schematics of **MOSFET**s, and Chapter 2 for details on their working principles.

In 1958 another essential invention for today's digitalized society was realized: the Integrated Circuit (IC) [4]. The IC made it possible to easily fabricate smaller circuits and allowed for an increased number of components. The development has since then, relied on scaling of the transistor dimensions in order to improve the device performance, in terms of speed and energy efficiency, and increase the number of components on a chip. Today, some dimensions of the transistors are only a few atomic layers, and the limit for how small the device can be is thus approaching.

In 1960, the first **MOSFET** was fabricated [5]. The **MOSFET** is by far the most common transistor in today's digital circuits, and almost all calculations and logic functions are realized by Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor (**CMOS**) technology, i.e. combining p- and n-type **MOSFET**s. The **CMOS** is ideal for digital applications, since no current flows except when switching from on- to off-state.

A lot of research has been performed on new materials and device structures. For instance, III-V semiconductors outperform Si in certain applications, due to their direct band gap and higher carrier mobility. The direct band gap is beneficial in optoelectronic applications while the high mobility is utilized in high-frequency applications [6,7]. Initially, III-Vs were intended to replace Si, but today they are instead viewed as a way to add new functionalities to Si digital technology [8-11]. One challenge with III-Vs is that their native oxide is of poor quality, and not suitable as a gate dielectric [12]. In 2003 an Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD) process was for the first time used to deposit a high-quality aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃) on top of a III-V semiconductor [13]. In addition to enabling high-performance III-V **MOSFET**s, the **ALD** process also allows for scaling of the oxide thickness and the possibility to deposit oxides with higher dielectric constant, κ . Scaling of the oxide is essential for maintaining good electrostatic control of the channel potential as the gate length is scaled down, while the high- κ value allows for a thicker oxide and less gate leakage current, for equivalent capacitive coupling to the channel. This is described by the Equivalent Oxide Thickness (EOT), which relates the high- κ thickness to the standard SiO₂ gate oxide,

$$\mathbf{EOT} = d \frac{\kappa_{\mathrm{SiO}_2}}{\kappa},\tag{1.1}$$

where d is the thickness of the dielectric.

For short gate lengths, the source and the drain potential will influence the channel potential and minimize the region of the channel controlled by the gate potential. In order to mitigate this problem, transistors with 3-dimensional channel structures have been realized, enabling gate control from multiple sides. The 3-dimensional channel structure also enables denser packaging of the devices. In Fig. 1.1, **MOSFETs** with different channel geometries are presented. The Fin Field-Effect Transistor (**FinFET**), see Fig. 1.1 (b), has a channel in the shape of a fin, which enables gate control from three sides, making it possible to decrease the gate length further and still have good electrostatic control of the channel potential with the gate potential [14]. The **FinFET** became commercialized in the 2010s and is today the dominant channel design for logic devices [15]. However, according to International Roadmap For Devices and Systems (**IRDS**) a transition from **FinFET**s to Gate-All-Around (**GAA**) devices will take place to further increase the number of devices on a single chip. In 2022, Samsung introduced a **GAA** device structure in the form of stacked nanosheets, see Fig. 1.1 (c) [16]. Another variant of a **GAA** structure is the vertical nanowire device shown in Fig. 1.1 (d).



Figure 1.1: Schematic representation of different channel geometries. For a planar device, the channel is only controlled from one side (a). The electrostatic control of the channel is increased for fin-shaped channel geometries, where the channel is electrostatically controlled from three sides (b). A **GAA** device structure gives optimal electrostatic control of the channel and can be realized by horizontal nanosheets (c). A cross-section of another **GAA** device geometry is shown in (d). In this case, the channel takes the form of a vertical nanowire.

1.1 MOTIVATION TO THIS THESIS

III-V devices excel Si in high-frequency and optoelectronic applications because of their superior carrier mobility and direct band gap [6,7]. The high carrier mobility of III-V devices also makes them interesting for emerging cryogenic electronics, where there is a need for extremely lowpower electronics, to enable scaling of the number of devices and at the same time maintain the low-temperature [17]. The high mobility of III-Vs could enable low power consumption [18] and low noise [19]. The growing interest in cryogenic electronics is closely tied to advancements in the realization of superconducting Quantum Bit (qubit)s. The dominating superconducting qubit is the transmon qubit, which major companies like Google [20] and IBM [21] are working on. The transmon qubit relies on the Josephson Junction (II), which consists of a superconductor/weaklink/superconductor and acts as a non-linear element, making it possible to address the two lowest quantum levels individually. Usually, two JJs are connected in a superconducting loop, known as a Superconducting Quantum Interference Device (SQUID), allowing for tuning of the qubit frequency with a magnetic flux [22]. However, this requires the introduction of dissipative currents to generate the magnetic flux, and scaling of the number of qubits, while keeping a cryogenic temperature, is thus very challenging. A possible way to mitigate this problem is to construct a hybrid II with a semiconductor as the weak-link between the superconductors. This variant of superconducting qubit is called a gatemon qubit, and allows for tuning of the **qubit** frequency with a low dissipative gate bias [23, 24]. For hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices, high mobility has shown to be critical for the formation of highly transparent interfaces [25]. III-V devices thus seem to be essential in emerging cryogenic electronics as well as in high-frequency and optoelectronic applications. However, Si-CMOS technology is dominating today's digital integrated circuits and will most probably not be replaced by III-Vs. One of the main reasons is that III-V devices are more expensive to fabricate and not sufficiently much better than Si in digital applications. To get the best of both technologies, III-Vs need to be monolithically integrated with Si-CMOS technology, which will add functionality, enable operation at higher frequencies, and reduce latency. The objective of this thesis was to investigate:

I. The potential of III-V devices for cryogenic electronics, see Section 1.2

II. The integration of III-V devices in Si-CMOS technology, see Section 1.3.

1.2 III-V DEVICES FOR CRYOGENIC ELECTRONICS

In this work, the focus has been on the development of high mobility indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) MOSFETs, which could be used in emerging cryogenic electronics. In Paper I, we developed an optimized fabrication process for InGaAs near-surface quantum well devices, and in Paper IV we did an extensive investigation of the electron transport at cryogenic temperatures. We have also investigated different annealing processes to further improve the mobility, see Paper II, and shown that the Geometrical Magnetoresistance Effect (gMR) is a powerful tool for mobility extraction, see Paper III. We fabricated Josephson Field-Effect Transistor (JoFET)s based on our InGaAs system, by replacing our normal source and drain contacts with aluminum (Al), which turns superconducting at $T \approx 1.2$ K. The **JoFET** is the main building block of gate-tunable gatemon **qubits**. Our devices exhibit effective gate control over the supercurrent flowing through the semiconductor. We also developed a Verilog-A-based compact model to facilitate circuit simulations and the possibility to investigate the potential of our devices in **qubit** systems, see Paper VI. In Paper V, we fabricated a demultiplexer based on a network of lateral InGaAs nanowires. Our device demonstrates on-chip routing of DCcurrents, which could be used for **qubit** biasing, and this type of device thus has the potential to address the challenge of an increasing number of cables entering the cryostat associated with the scaling of the number of **qubits**.

1.3 INTEGRATION OF III-V DEVICES IN SI-CMOS TECHNOLOGY

3D-heterointegration of high-frequency systems is considered essential for next-generation wireless communication (6G) [26]. It is however very challenging to monolithically integrate III-Vs on Si-CMOS due to lattice mismatch and different thermal expansion coefficients. So far, the main approaches to integrate III-Vs in Si technology have been: epitaxial growth of III-Vs on top of Si using thick buffer layers to accommodate the strain from the lattice mismatch [27], different types of selective area growth techniques on Si using dielectrics as growth masks [28–30], or transfer of III-V layers by direct wafer bonding [9, 31, 32]. Direct wafer bonding has been used to successfully 3D-integrate III-V Radio-Frequency (**RF**) devices on Si-CMOS circuits [9]. However, the main challenge of direct wafer bonding is that the process requires very low surface roughness, and any remaining particles at the interface between the transferred layers result in extended bonding defects and degraded device performance [33].

In Paper VII, we apply the Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy (TASE) technique with silicon nitride (Si_3N_4) as a growth template, but instead of

growing III-Vs on Si, we grow single crystalline indium arsenide (InAs) nanowires directly on tungsten (W). W is usually used at the interface between Front-End-Of-Line (FEOL) and Back-End-Of-Line (BEOL) in Si-CMOS technology, and our process is thus enabling integration of III-V devices in Si-CMOS stacks. FEOL is the part of the CMOS stack containing the devices, while BEOL is the part containing dielectrics and metallization layers, interconnecting the devices in FEOL.

2

MOSFET Theory

HE Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor (**MOSFET**), on which our digital society relies, is a three-terminal device with a source, a drain, and a gate. The basic principle of a **MOSFET** is to control the current in the channel between the source and the drain, using the gate. The size of the current can be changed by several orders of magnitude by changing the bias on the gate only by tenths of a volt. The possibility to quickly switch the current from high to low enables fast calculations in computers using a binary numerical system, represented by high and low currents. The gate is separated from the channel by a thin oxide with a high relative permittivity (high- κ), and capacitively controls the current in the channel. In Fig. 2.1 a schematic of an n-type near-surface quantum well device with raised highly doped n+ contacts is shown.



Figure 2.1: Schematic illustration of a near-surface quantum well **MOSFET** with raised n+ contacts. The electron transport between the source (S) and the drain (D) is capacitively controlled by the gate (G).

The highly doped n+ contacts will make the energy barrier between metal and semiconductor thinner, allowing for quantum tunneling and Ohmic behavior,

see Section 4.1 for details. Silicon (Si) **MOSFETs** usually have the opposite doping, in this case p-doping, in the channel where the electron transport occurs. The **MOSFET** is operated by forming an inversion layer under the gate oxide using the gate electrode. For III-V **MOSFETs** the channel layer is usually undoped and the **MOSFET** is operated by accumulation of electrons in the channel. In any case, a potential barrier for the electrons is formed between the source and the drain, see Fig. 2.5. The height of the barrier can be electrostatically controlled by the gate electrode, and hence the conductivity in the channel. If the barrier is lowered by a positive bias on the gate, the conductivity is increased, and if instead a negative bias is applied on the gate, the conductivity is decreased.

Depending on the gate bias, V_{GS} , relative to the threshold voltage, V_T , the **MOSFET** can be operated in three different modes. If $V_{GS} < V_T$, the device is in the subthreshold regime, and the current increases exponentially with V_{GS} . When instead $V_{GS} > V_T$ the device is in the on-state, which can be divided into two modes of operation, namely the linear region and the saturation region. These two modes of operations are highlighted in Fig. 2.2 (a), showing the output characteristics of a near-surface quantum well **MOSFET**. Another way to visualize the **MOSFET** performance is by its transfer characteristics, where the drain current, I_{DS} , is measured as a function of V_{GS} , for a fixed value of the drain bias, V_{DS} , see Fig. 2.2 (b), where the subthreshold region also is indicated. At high V_{GS} the channel resistance is negligible and the current is limited by contact resistances.



Figure 2.2: Typical I-V characteristics of near-surface quantum well **MOSFETs** fabricated in this thesis work. The different modes of operation, as well as important metrics, are indicated in the figures. The output characteristics are presented in (a), while (b) shows the transfer characteristics.

2.1 PERFORMANCE METRICS

In this section, standard figures of merit for transistors for digital applications are introduced and discussed. Specifically their definition, influence on device performance, and possible ways to improve them. All metrics discussed in this section are indicated in Fig. 2.2. While the focus of this thesis is not on transistors for digital applications, the purpose of this section is to familiarize the reader with fundamental **MOSFET** operation. This knowledge is crucial for comprehending the following chapters and the accompanying papers, with particular emphasis on parameters such as Subthreshold Swing (**SS**), on-resistance (R_{ON}), and threshold voltage (V_T), which all play a significant role throughout the rest of this thesis.

In industry, the off-current, I_{OFF} , is typically defined as I_{DS} at $V_{GS} = 0$ and $V_{DS} = V_{DD}$, where V_{DD} is the drive voltage. The on-current, I_{ON} , is defined as I_{DS} for the bias point, $V_{DS} = V_{DD}$ and $V_{GS} = V_{DD}$. In digital circuits $V_{GS} = V_{DD}$ and $V_{GS} = 0$ represent "1" and "0" in the binary number system used to perform all calculations. This means that every time a binary condition changes, the voltage is switched from V_{DD} to 0 or vice versa. The time to perform a switching event is limited by charging and discharging of capacitances and depends thus strongly on I_{ON} . I_{ON} is determined by the product of injection velocity and carrier concentration [34]. One way to increase I_{ON} , while keeping the drive voltage constant, is thus to use a channel material facilitating higher injection velocity or higher Density Of States (**DOS**). III-V devices can reach several times higher injection velocities compared to silicon-based devices, but is limited by its lower **DOS** [35].

It is of course also important to keep a small I_{OFF} to minimize the power consumption. For short gate lengths I_{OFF} can be limited by direct tunneling from source to drain, other limitations could be gate leakage current or band to band tunneling.

Another important metric in the off-state is **SS**, which is a measure of the current modulation by the gate. **SS** is defined as the inverse of the slope in the subthreshold region, $\left(\frac{\partial \log I_{\text{DS}}}{\partial V_{\text{GS}}}\right)^{-1}$. To improve **SS**, a Gate-All-Around (**GAA**) approach can be used, where the channel is capacitively coupled to the gate from several sides. High- κ materials as gate dielectric, and annealing processes to minimize defects in the oxide can further improve **SS**. For transistors where the drain current is limited by thermionic emission over a barrier between source and drain, the theoretical limit is set by the thermal voltage, $\frac{k_{\text{BT}}}{a}$, which gives **SS** $\approx 60 \text{ mV}$ /decade at room temperature.

The metric that defines the border between on- and off-state is the threshold voltage, $V_{\rm T}$. $V_{\rm T}$ can be extracted from a linear extrapolation of $I_{\rm DS}$, at the point of maximum transconductance $g_{\rm m} = \frac{\partial I_{\rm DS}}{\partial V_{\rm CS}}$. The point where the linear

extrapolation intersects the V_{GS} -axis, corresponds to V_{T} . However, this is only one of several different ways to extract V_{T} , which is not uniquely defined. n-type **MOSFET**s, which have a $V_{\text{T}} < 0$ is called to be depletion-mode or normally-on **MOSFET**s, while a $V_{\text{T}} > 0$ is characteristic for enhancementmode or normally-off **MOSFET**s. The position of V_{T} is thus very important because it will determine the off-state power consumption. **SS** together with V_{T} determines the ratio, $\frac{I_{\text{ON}}}{I_{\text{OFF}}}$, for a specific V_{DD} .

The transconductance is **SS**'s counterpart in the on-state. **SS** describes how efficiently the gate controls the drain current in the subthreshold region, while $g_{\rm m}$ is a measure of how much the drain current changes with gate bias in the on-state. The transconductance is especially important for high-frequency applications, since it is related to the transistor's gain and thus its amplifying capabilities. Other important metrics in the on-state are the on-resistance, R_{ON} , and the output conductance g_d . The on-resistance is extracted from the linear region, where it is the sum of channel resistance, access resistance, and contact resistance, $R_{ON} = 2R_{C} + 2R_{ACC} + R_{CH}$, and should be as small as possible in order to give high I_{ON} . The output conductance should also be as small as possible in order for the **MOSFET** to act as a gate-controlled current source. A high g_d means that the current will depend on V_{DS} even in the saturation region. This is a common issue for short-channel devices and is referred to as Drain-Induced Barrier Lowering (DIBL). The DIBL effect arises because the drain bias will affect the height of the barrier in the channel region, meaning that when $V_{\rm DS}$ is increased the barrier between source and drain is lowered and the current is increased. The **DIBL** effect will also shift $V_{\rm T}$ in the negative direction when $V_{\rm DS}$ is increased.

2.2 GATE CAPACITANCE AND OXIDE DEFECTS

In order to understand the transport mechanism in **MOSFET**s, the electrostatics of the system need to be considered. The height of the barrier between the source and the drain is what determines the current through the device, and is set by the capacitive coupling between the three electrodes and the channel, and by the carrier concentration in the channel. In a well-behaving **MOSFET** the gate capacitance is however much larger than the source and drain capacitances, meaning that the height of the barrier only is set by the gate to channel coupling. The gate capacitance can be modeled as three capacitances in series, see Fig. 2.3.

The total gate capacitance is the series combination of these three capacitances,

$$C_G = \left(\frac{1}{C_{\text{OX}}} + \frac{1}{C_{\text{C}}} + \frac{1}{C_{\text{Q}}}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (2.1)



Figure 2.3: Circuit diagram used to model the gate capacitance C_G . C_G is the series combination of C_{OX} , C_C , and C_Q . $\epsilon_1(0)$ represents the potential at the minimum of the first subband at the top of the barrier between the source and the drain.

The oxide capacitance, C_{OX} , is the geometrical contribution, which can be seen as a parallel plate capacitor between the gate electrode and the channel, separated by the thickness of the oxide,

$$C_{\rm OX} = \frac{\kappa \epsilon_0}{t_{\rm OX}},\tag{2.2}$$

where κ is the relative permittivity of the gate oxide, ϵ_0 is the vacuum permittivity, and t_{OX} is the thickness of the oxide. A high κ thus means that C_{OX} is large, and the gate-to-channel coupling is good. If a positive bias is applied on the gate electrode and an accumulation of electrons occurs in the channel, the repulsive interactions between the electrons will lead to an upward shift of the energy bands [36,37]. This effect is described by the charge centroid capacitance,

$$C_{\rm C} = \frac{\epsilon_{\rm S}\epsilon_0}{0.36t_{\rm W}},\tag{2.3}$$

where ϵ_S is the relative permittivity of the semiconductor channel and t_W is the thickness of the channel layer. The quantum capacitance, C_Q , for a fully degenerate quantum well with only the first subband occupied can be expressed as

$$C_{\rm Q} = q^2 D_{2D},$$
 (2.4)

where *q* is the elementary charge and D_{2D} is the 2D density of states [38]. From Eq. (2.4), it is evident that C_Q increases with **DOS**, which means that for a material with high **DOS** and thick oxide, $C_Q >> C_{OX}$, the third term in Eq. (2.1), i.e. $\frac{1}{C_Q}$, can be neglected. In this case, the device is said to be in the MOS limit, and the electrostatic control of the channel by the gate is mainly determined by C_{OX} . The coupling between the gate and the channel
can thus be improved by scaling the gate dielectric. This is often the case for Si **MOSFETs** but rarely for III-V **MOSFETs** due to their much lower **DOS**. In the other limit where $C_Q << C_{OX}$, the device is operating in the Quantum Capacitance Limit (**QCL**), and the first term in Eq. (2.1), i.e. $\frac{1}{C_{OX}}$, can be neglected. In this regime, the gate is directly controlling the potential at the top of the barrier according to Eq. (2.4). Further scaling of the oxide thickness will thus not increase the charge in the channel for a device operating in **QCL**. However, it has been shown that further scaling of the gate oxide will improve the power delay product, that is, the energy dissipated in a Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor (**CMOS**) circuit per switching operation [39].

The **MOSFET** performance depends strongly on the gate-to-channel coupling, which will be influenced by defects in the oxide, and at the high- κ /III-V interface. Since an interface between an amorphous dielectric and a crystalline semiconductor is formed, it is not surprising that a lot of defects arise at the interface [40]. These defects will be detrimental, since the charging and discharging of defect-induced trap states will reduce the movement of the Fermi level, resulting in increased **SS** [41]. The trap energies related to the increased **SS** are primarily situated in the band gap, while trap energies situated in the conduction band will influence the on-state performance. Charging and discharging of defect-induced trap states can be modeled as an interface-trap capacitance, $C_{\rm IT}$, parallel to the semiconductor capacitance, i.e. the series combination of $C_{\rm O}$ and $C_{\rm C}$, see Fig. 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Circuit to model C_{G} , including the effect from interface traps modeled by the parallel capacitance C_{IT} .

The interface-trap capacitance will depend on the interface-trap density according to

$$C_{\rm IT} = q^2 D_{\rm IT}.\tag{2.5}$$

It is worth noting that the interface-trap density, D_{IT} , will in general be energy dependent, and different parts of the D_{IT} distribution will participate at different gate biases.

In addition to the degradation of the device performance by introducing the capacitance, C_{IT} , the defects will also increase the scattering of electrons in the channel, degrading the device performance in terms of carrier mobility.

2.3 ELECTRON TRANSPORT AND MOBILITY

The main focus of this thesis has been the study of electron transport in InGaAs **MOSFETs** at cryogenic temperatures, to explore its potential in future cryogenic electronics. The following sections will introduce the basic concepts of electron transport in **MOSFETs**, which is the fundament upon which this thesis is built.

2.3.1 DRIFT AND DIFFUSION

The electrons in a nondegenerate semiconductor material, with no applied electric field, will move in a random pattern. The random nature of the motion will eventually even out any concentration gradients. Thus, there will be a net flow of electrons from high to low concentration, called the diffusion current. The diffusion current density is given by

$$J_{\rm diff} = q D \frac{\partial n}{\partial x},\tag{2.6}$$

where $D = \mu k_{\rm B}T/q$ is the diffusivity, q is the elementary charge, n is the electron carrier concentration, μ is the mobility, $k_{\rm B}$ is Boltzmann's constant, T is the temperature, and x is the dimension in which current flows.

If an applied electric field is introduced the electrons will move against the field lines. The current density is described as

$$J_{\rm drift} = qn\mu E_x,\tag{2.7}$$

where E_x is the magnitude of the electric field in the x-direction. The mobility is a measure of how easily the electrons move in the electric field and depends on the effective mass in the material and the concentration of scattering centers. The total current density is the sum of J_{diff} and J_{drift} , which can be described in terms of the gradient of the quasi-Fermi level [42],

$$J = J_{\text{diff}} + J_{\text{drift}} = n\mu \frac{\partial E_F}{\partial x}.$$
 (2.8)

For short-channel devices, the potential difference, ΔV , between the source and the drain gives rise to very high electric fields even at low applied voltages, $E_x = \frac{-\Delta V}{L_G}$. The electron velocity, $v = \mu E_x$, is proportional to the electric field, but will due to scattering saturate at a certain velocity, v_{SAT} , called the saturation velocity [43].

2.3.2 BALLISTIC TRANSPORT

In this section, the discussion on electron transport in 2-dimensional shortchannel devices with high electron mobility will closely follow Mark Lundstrom's textbook [38]. Under such circumstances, electrons can travel from the source to the drain without scattering, and this is called ballistic transport. The mean distance a charge carrier travels between scattering events is called the mean-free path, λ , and if $L_{\rm G} < \lambda$, ballistic transport could occur.

The current between the source and the drain is controlled by the gate bias, which varies the height of the barrier between the source and the drain, see Fig. 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Schematic of the lowest conduction subband in a fully ballistic 2dimensional **MOSFET** device, as a function of position, $\epsilon_1(x)$. The minimum of the first subband at the top of the barrier between the source and the drain is located at x = 0. The height of this barrier can be electrostatically controlled by the gate. An inset of energy versus momentum for parabolic bands is also included. The positive k-states are occupied to the source Fermi level, while the negative k-states are occupied to the drain Fermi level.

Fig. 2.5, shows the lowest conduction subband energy versus position, $\epsilon_1(x)$, and in the following, it is assumed that only the lowest subband is occupied. An inset of energy versus momentum, k, for parabolic bands is also included. The positive k-states are populated by injection from the source, and occupy all states up to the source Fermi level, $E_{F,S}$. In the same way, the negative k-states are populated by injection from the drain, and occupy all states up to the drain Fermi level, $E_{F,S} - qV_{DS}$. When V_{DS} is increased, the population of negative k-states is decreased, while the population of

positive k-states is increased, leading to a net flow of electrons from the source to the drain.

The concentration of electrons injected from the source and the drain can be calculated from the density of states and the probability that a state is occupied,

$$n_{s}^{+}(E_{\rm F,S}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{0}(E, E_{\rm F,S}) D(E) dE, \qquad (2.9)$$

$$n_s^{-}(E_{\rm F,D}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty f_0(E, E_{\rm F,D}) D(E) \, dE, \qquad (2.10)$$

where n_s is the surface carrier concentration, f_0 is the Fermi function and D is the density of states. The factor $\frac{1}{2}$, comes from the fact that only one half of the k-states have positive velocity and the other half has negative velocity. For 2-dimensional transport, Eq. (2.9) and Eq. (2.10) can be written in terms of the 2-dimensional effective density of states, N_{2D} , and the Fermi-Dirac integral of order 0, F_0 ,

$$n_{s}^{+} = \frac{N_{2D}}{2} F_{0}(\eta_{F}), \qquad (2.11)$$

$$n_s^{-} = \frac{N_{2D}}{2} F_0 \left(\eta_F - U_D \right).$$
(2.12)

Here, $\eta_F = \frac{E_{F,S} - \epsilon_1(0)}{k_B T}$, $\epsilon_1(0)$ is the minimum of the first subband at the top of the barrier, k_B is Boltzmann's constant, T is the temperature, and $U_D = \frac{qV_{DS}}{k_B T}$. The effective density of states for 2-dimensional transport is

$$N_{\rm 2D} = \frac{m^* k_{\rm B} T}{\pi \hbar^2},$$
 (2.13)

where m^* is the effective mass, and \hbar is the reduced Planck's constant. The Fermi-Dirac integral of order *j* is defined as

$$F_{j}(\eta_{F}) \equiv \frac{1}{\Gamma(j+1)} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{\xi^{j}}{1 + e^{(\xi - \eta_{F})}} d\xi, \qquad (2.14)$$

where $\xi = \frac{E - \epsilon_1(0)}{k_{\rm B}T}$ and the Γ-function is defined as

$$\Gamma(z) \equiv \int_0^\infty t^{(z-1)} e^{-t} dt.$$
(2.15)

The total carrier density at the top of the barrier is the sum of n_s^+ and n_s^- , which is determined by the gate bias and gate capacitance,

$$n_s^{+} + n_s^{-} = \frac{C_G V_{\rm OV}}{-q},$$
(2.16)

where $V_{OV} = V_{GS} - V_T$ is the overdrive voltage. The capacitive effects from the source and the drain are neglected, since these are much smaller than C_G for a well-behaving **MOSFET**.

Expressions for the drain current of ballistic 2-dimensional **MOSFET**s, will be derived by investigating two different operating conditions. First, we assume that the electron gas is nondegenerate, which means that the carrier concentration is low. This could for instance be the case when the III-V **MOSFET** is operated close to $V_{\rm T}$. At these conditions $F_j(\eta_F) \rightarrow e^{\eta_F}$, for any order, *j*, of the Fermi-Dirac integral. Eq. (2.11) and Eq. (2.12), can then be written as

$$n_s^{\ +} = \frac{N_{2D}}{2} e^{\eta_F}, \tag{2.17}$$

$$n_s^{-} = \frac{N_{2D}}{2} e^{(\eta_F - U_D)}.$$
 (2.18)

The current density is calculated by multiplying the charge density by the elementary charge, q, and the thermal injection velocity, $v_{\rm T}$. The current is subsequently obtained by multiplying with the width of the device, W, resulting in

$$I^{+} = Wq \frac{N_{2D}}{2} e^{\eta_F} v_{\rm T}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$I^{-} = Wq \frac{N_{2D}}{2} e^{(\eta_F - U_D)} v_{\rm T}, \qquad (2.20)$$

where the thermal injection velocity is defined as

$$v_{\rm T} = \sqrt{\frac{2k_{\rm B}T}{\pi m^*}}.\tag{2.21}$$

The total current is then the difference between the positive and negative currents, which can be expressed as

$$I_{\rm DS} = W C_{\rm G} v_{\rm T} V_{\rm OV} \frac{1 - e^{-q V_{\rm DS}/k_{\rm B}T}}{1 + e^{-q V_{\rm DS}/k_{\rm B}T}}.$$
(2.22)

This expression for I_{DS} is only valid under nondegenerate conditions and therefore a poor assumption above V_{T} for III-V **MOSFET**s. At cryogenic temperatures and degenerate conditions, $\eta_F \gg 1$, and n_s^+ and n_s^- will be described by step functions, Θ ,

$$n_{s}^{+} = \frac{m^{*}}{2\pi\hbar^{2}} \left[E_{F,S} - \epsilon_{1}(0) \right] \Theta \left(E_{F,S} - \epsilon_{1}(0) \right), \qquad (2.23)$$

$$n_{s}^{-} = \frac{m^{*}}{2\pi\hbar^{2}} \left[E_{F,S} - qV_{\rm DS} - \epsilon_{1}(0) \right] \Theta \left(E_{F,S} - qV_{\rm DS} - \epsilon_{1}(0) \right).$$
(2.24)

If $E_{F,S} < \epsilon_1(0)$ no positive k-states will be populated, and in order for negative k-states to be populated $E_{F,D} = E_{F,S} - qV_{DS} > \epsilon_1(0)$. Similar to the nondegenerate case, expressions for I^+ and I^- can be derived by multiplying the charge density with the elementary charge, the velocity of the charge carriers, and the width of the device. The velocity is described as

$$v^{+} = \frac{4}{3\pi} \sqrt{\frac{2 \left[E_{F,S} - \epsilon_1(0) \right] \Theta \left(E_{F,S} - \epsilon_1(0) \right)}{m^*}},$$
 (2.25)

$$v^{-} = \frac{4}{3\pi} \sqrt{\frac{2\left[E_{F,S} - qV_{\text{DS}} - \epsilon_{1}(0)\right] \Theta\left(E_{F,S} - qV_{\text{DS}} - \epsilon_{1}(0)\right)}{m^{*}}},$$
 (2.26)

and the currents become

$$I^{+} = qW \frac{\left[2m^{*}\left[E_{F,S} - \epsilon_{1}(0)\right]\Theta\left(E_{F,S} - \epsilon_{1}(0)\right)\right]^{\frac{3}{2}}}{3m^{*}\pi^{2}\hbar^{2}},$$
(2.27)

$$I^{-} = qW \frac{\left[2m^{*}\left[E_{F,S} - qV_{\rm DS} - \epsilon_{1}(0)\right]\Theta\left(E_{F,S} - qV_{\rm DS} - \epsilon_{1}(0)\right)\right]^{\frac{3}{2}}}{3m^{*}\pi^{2}\hbar^{2}}.$$
 (2.28)

At low V_{DS} , the following relationship between I^+ and I^- is valid,

$$I^{-} = I^{+} - \left(\frac{\partial I^{+}}{\partial E_{F,S}}\right) q V_{\text{DS}},$$
(2.29)

and I_{DS} becomes

$$I_{\rm DS} = I^+ - I^- = \left(\frac{\partial I^+}{\partial E_{F,S}}\right) q V_{\rm DS}.$$
 (2.30)

By evaluating the derivative in Eq. (2.30) using Eq. (2.27) we obtain

$$I_{\rm DS} = M \frac{2q^2}{h} V_{\rm DS},\tag{2.31}$$

where *h* is Planck's constant. The factor $M = \frac{Wk_{F,S}}{\pi}$ corresponds to the number of occupied transverse k-states, where $k_{F,S}$ is the source Fermi wave vector. A 2-dimensional ballistic **MOSFET** at cryogenic temperatures therefore should show a quantized conductance above V_{T} ,

$$G = M \frac{2q^2}{h},\tag{2.32}$$

where each transverse mode contributes with $\frac{2q^2}{h}$ S. In practice, it is impossible to distinguish individual steps in the conductance due to the closely spaced energy modes. However, by reducing the device width, *W*, the energy gaps

between the modes increase, and in the case of a nanowire, it is possible to measure distinct steps in the conductance [44].

Now we have expressions for I_{DS} under both nondegenerate and degenerate operating conditions. This will mark the upper performance limit for high mobility short-channel quantum well **MOSFETs**. In the next section, the effect of scattering will be considered, in order to describe I_{DS} for more realistic devices.

2.3.3 QUASI-BALLISTIC TRANSPORT

In real devices, scattering events will occur, resulting in a performance below the ballistic limit [45]. In the ballistic case, all electrons with positive k-sates are populated by the source contact and in equilibrium with the source Fermi level. This simple picture does however not hold anymore when scattering is introduced. Now electrons injected from the source can scatter and get negative momentum. If the scattering event occurs close to the source, there is a high probability that the electron never reaches the drain. To explain this we assume that an electron is injected from the source, and after traveling only a short distance it scatters and travels back towards the source contact. If the distance to the source contact is much smaller than the mean free path, the probability is low that the electron will scatter again before reaching the source contact. The electron injected from the source will therefore not contribute to the positive current from source to drain, but instead contribute to the negative current from drain to source. Similarly, an electron injected from the source which scatters close to the drain, will travel back towards the source, but if the distance is longer than the mean free path it is probable that it will scatter again and travel towards the drain again. I_{DS} is thus mostly influenced by scattering close to the source contact, which has been confirmed by simulations [46].

One very interesting and quite contradicting observation is that a longchannel device fabricated already in 1987 [47], showed performance close to the ballistic limit [48]. However, the expected improved ballisticity for devices with L_G less than the mean free path has been absent. A possible explanation for this is provided by Kenji Natori [49]. In the paper, they show that the ballistic limit should be reached for short-channel devices if the drain electrode is assumed to accept all incoming electrons, but in a real device with a highly doped drain contact, elastic scattering will occur inside the drain. A significant amount of the electrons reaching the drain will thus be scattered back into the channel, without losing any energy. For a shortchannel device, the backscattered electrons will with high probability reach the source contact without any scattering event. On the contrary, for a longchannel device, electrons that have been backscattered at the drain will with a high probability scatter again in the channel, turning back towards the drain. In addition, if inelastic scattering is dominant in the channel, the probability that the backscattered electrons will reach the energy level of the source is very small. In order for the drain to accept the electrons, the size needs to be large enough for frequent scattering inside the drain, and inelastic scattering needs to be predominant over elastic scattering for energy relaxation to occur. Even for a highly doped drain contact, long-channel devices can reach the ballistic limit, if inelastic scattering is predominant over elastic scattering in the channel.

The transport mechanism calculations become quite complex when introducing scattering, but a simple way to overcome this is to introduce the transmission coefficient, Γ . The transmission coefficient represents the probability that an electron injected from one of the contacts will reach the other contact, and if scattering occurs $\Gamma < 1$. The mean free path, λ , and the effective gate length, $L_{G,EFF}$, are used to determine Γ [50],

$$\Gamma = \frac{\lambda}{\lambda + L_{\rm G,EFF}}.$$
(2.33)

The effective gate length corresponds to the low-field part of the channel, close to the source. At low V_{DS} , $L_{\text{G,EFF}} = L_{\text{G}}$, but at high V_{DS} , $L_{\text{G,EFF}} < L_{\text{G}}$. Electrons scattering in the high-field region of the channel, close to the drain, will be very unlikely to return to the source [51].

The ballistic currents for nondegenerate and degenerate carrier statistics derived in the previous section, see Eq. (2.19)-(2.20), and Eq. (2.27)-(2.28), will hereafter be denoted I_B^+ and I_B^- . The total drain current, I_{DS} , in the quasiballistic case can be expressed in terms of these ballistic currents. The drain current will be the sum of the electrons flowing into the drain contact. This sum has three contributions, the electrons injected from the source that reach the drain (ΓI_B^+), plus the electrons injected from the drain that are scattered back to the drain ($(1 - \Gamma)I_B^-$), minus the electrons injected from the drain (I_B^-),

$$I_{\rm DS} = \Gamma I_{\rm B}^+ + (1 - \Gamma) I_{\rm B}^- - I_{\rm B}^-.$$
(2.34)

Eq. (2.34) can be simplified as

$$I_{\rm DS} = \Gamma I_B^+ + I_B^- - \Gamma I_B^- - I_B^- = \Gamma \left(I_B^+ - I_B^- \right) = \Gamma I_B, \tag{2.35}$$

where I_B is the ballistic drain current. This means that the ballistic current simply is reduced by the transmission coefficient.

2.3.4 TRANSPORT AT CRYOGENIC TEMPERATURES

During this thesis work, **MOSFET** characterization at cryogenic temperatures has been one of the main investigations. In this section, some effects on

electron transport which are clearly visible at cryogenic temperatures but may be hidden at room temperature due to thermal broadening, will be discussed. These effects are important to consider when studying **MOSFET**s at cryogenic temperatures.

Band tails are localized electronic states close to the valence band edge and the conduction band edge, but inside the band gap [52]. They arise due to different types of disorders in the crystal structure and show an exponential distribution defined by the Urbach energy, $E_{\rm U}$ [53]. The exponential decrease in density of band tail states below the conduction band can be expressed as

$$D_T(E) \propto e^{(E-E_C)/E_U},\tag{2.36}$$

where E_C is the conduction band energy. The band tail states will broaden the band edge, see Fig. 2.6, where the 2D density of states is plotted with and without including the effect from band tail states. At low temperatures, and with a Fermi level close to the conduction band edge, these band tail states will have a detrimental effect on the subthreshold swing. This is explained by the fact that electrons will transfer through these states, increasing the drain current and thus increasing **SS**.



Figure 2.6: The 2D density of states for parabolic bands as a function of energy. Ideally, there are no states below the band edge of the first subband, but if the effect from band tails is included, the band edge is broadened, giving states even below the band edge.

The subthreshold swing for a MOSFET can be expressed as

$$\mathbf{SS} = \ln(10) \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{q} \left(1 + \frac{C_{\rm Q} + C_{\rm IT}}{C_{\rm OX}} \right), \qquad (2.37)$$

where $k_{\rm B}$ is Boltzmann's constant, *T* is the temperature, $C_{\rm Q}$ is the quantum capacitance, $C_{\rm IT}$ is the interface-trap capacitance, and $C_{\rm OX}$ is the oxide capacitance. According to Eq. (2.37), the subthreshold swing will approach zero,

when the temperature goes to zero. Measurements at cryogenic temperatures show however consequently higher values than expected from Eq. (2.37) [54–57]. This can be explained by the band tail states, and is easily included by introducing a critical temperature, $T_0 = E_U/k_B$, at which **SS** saturates,

$$\mathbf{SS}_{SAT} = \ln(10) \frac{k_B T_0}{q} \left(1 + \frac{C_Q + C_{IT}}{C_{OX}} \right).$$
(2.38)

In Fig. 2.7, a comparison between **SS** with and without including the effect of band tail states is shown.



Figure 2.7: Ideally **SS** will approach zero when the temperature is approaching T = 0, but due to the band tail states, **SS** will saturate at **SS**_{SAT} for temperatures below a critical temperature T_0 .

In addition to broadening, the fact that the band edges will be rough due to charged defects at the semiconductor/high- κ interface [58], will affect the electron transport at cryogenic temperatures. For 1D devices, the rough band edge can be seen as multiple quantum dots and will give rise to sequential tunneling and resonances. This will show up as resonance current peaks in **MOSFET** measurements at low drain biases, when the electron transport is close to the band edge.

An interesting feature which is more prominent at cryogenic temperatures, is the fact that the carrier mobility is dependent on the carrier density, see Paper III and Paper IV. At low gate bias and low carrier densities, the mobility is limited by remote impurity scattering, but also by the roughness of the conduction band edge. When the gate bias is increased, both these scattering mechanisms are reduced. The increased carrier concentration leads to more efficient screening by the charge carriers, and the higher kinetic energy of the charge carriers results in less impact from the roughness of the conduction band edge. At an even higher gate bias, the electrons will be confined too close to the high- κ /III-V interface, and scattering from defects at the interface

as well as the influence from interface roughness will increase, decreasing the mobility. The peak mobility is higher at low temperatures compared to room temperature, due to reduced phonon scattering. At low carrier concentration, on the other hand, the mobility is higher at room temperature, which is explained by the fact that electrons with higher kinetic energy will be less affected by Coulomb scattering. The carrier concentration dependence is thus less visible at higher temperatures, see Fig. 2.8, where the carrier density dependence of the mobility is compared by measurements on the same device at room temperature and 9.4 K.



Figure 2.8: Carrier mobility extracted from a near-surface quantum well device at T = 9.4 K and T = 293 K, respectively. The carrier density dependence is less visible at T = 293 K, due to less impact from Coulomb scattering and increased impact from phonon scattering.

At cryogenic temperatures, the mobility depends strongly on the carrier concentration and hence varies along the channel between source and drain. If $V_{\rm DS} > 0$ the Fermi level is decreasing towards the drain side, meaning that the carrier concentration is decreasing and thus also the mobility. The mobility reduction along the channel leads to a reduced current and hence a lower **SS**. When the effect of carrier-dependent mobility is prominent, it is potentially possible to get **SS** lower than what is set by the thermal voltage, $\mathbf{SS} = \ln (10) \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{q}$ [59]. This can be explained by the fact that the current is proportional to the carrier concentration times the mobility. The carrier concentration decreases exponentially with $V_{\rm GS}$ at a maximum rate of $\ln (10) \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{q}$, which for constant mobility gives 60 mV/decade at room temperature. But if the mobility is decreasing with the carrier concentration, the product of carrier concentration times mobility will decrease with a rate faster than $\ln (10) \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{q}$, meaning that $\mathbf{SS} < \ln (10) \frac{k_{\rm B}T}{q}$.

2.4 SUMMARY

Achieving high-performance MOSFETs necessitates excellent material quality. The semiconductor quality within the channel must be exceptional to minimize scattering and facilitate high mobility of the charge carriers. The interfaces between different materials play a crucial role in determining the device's overall performance. A high quality of the semiconductor/high- κ interface is required to obtain good electrostatic control of the channel and minimize scattering of the charge carriers. Moreover, optimizing the interface between the semiconductor and metal contact is crucial for minimizing the contact resistance. At cryogenic temperatures, the material quality becomes even more important. Defects in the semiconductor's crystal structure introduce band tail states, which are detrimental for SS, and a rough conduction band edge, due to charged defects at the semiconductor/high- κ interface will decrease the mobility. In cryogenic applications, it is particularly crucial to utilize a low operating bias and, consequently, achieve low power consumption and low power dissipation, otherwise, the low temperature can not be maintained. In addition to high-quality materials and interfaces, a channel geometry that improves the electrostatic control of the channel is important in order to improve **SS** and minimize short-channel effects such as **DIBL**. The material choice is of course essential, where a high mobility channel material and a high- κ gate oxide are beneficial for the device performance.

3

Fabrication

ABRICATION of devices on the nm-scale is complex and requires high material quality. In this regime, the surface-to-volume ratio is large, meaning that the surface quality is essential. Interfaces, crystal growth, and the potential to integrate different materials are thus of high interest. A rough semiconductor surface, or poor interface between the gate oxide (high- κ) and the semiconductor channel, has detrimental effects on the device's performance. In addition, different parts of the devices are defined in separate steps, hence requiring extremely high spatial precision. In order to fabricate these types of devices in a research lab, process modules are developed and new process flows are realized by integrating these process modules in a carefully considered manner. For small features or high alignment accuracy Electron-Beam Lithography (EBL) is the choice of use, while process steps with lower requirements can be performed using lesstime consuming Ultraviolet Lithography (UVL).

In the work presented in this thesis, mainly three different process flows have been used, and in the next sections, the purpose of the main process steps will be described. More detailed step-by-step procedures can be found in Appendix A, Appendix B, and Appendix C.

3.1 NEAR-SURFACE QUANTUM WELL DEVICES

Variations of this type of device are used in Paper I, Paper II, Paper III, Paper IV, and Paper VI. A schematic of the process flow is shown in Fig. 3.1.

3.1.1 GATE LENGTH DEFINITION

The starting wafer consists of epitaxial layers of III-Vs on top of a Semi-Insulating (**S.I.**) indium phosphide (InP) substrate, see Fig. 3.1. In order to be able to electrostatically control the conductivity of the undoped indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) channel layer, the highly doped n+ InGaAs and InP above the channel need to be removed, or in other words, the gate length needs to be defined. The structure of certain polymers changes upon electronbeam exposure, which alters their solubility in certain solvents. This is utilized by spin-coating the sample with an electron-beam sensitive polymer and then writing the desired pattern in the polymer using an electron beam. This way of patterning is called lithography. The patterned polymer is then used as an etch mask for pattern transfer into the wafer, see Fig. 3.1. The width of the line defines the gate length.

3.1.2 MESA DEFINITION

During the mesa definition, the devices undergo electrical isolation from each other through wet etching down to the **S.I.** InP substrate. The etch mask is established using **UVL** with a Maskless Aligner (**MLA**) rather than **EBL** due to the lower resolution demands.

3.1.3 SOURCE-DRAIN METALLIZATION

To achieve low contact resistance, the metal should be deposited directly onto the n+ InGaAs, and any native oxide on the semiconductor needs to be removed in hydrochloric acid (HCl) just before deposition. Precise alignment of the source-drain contacts with respect to the highly doped n+ InGaAs is essential for minimizing the access resistance. The contacts should be placed as close to the n+ edge as possible, to minimize the distance of electron transport in the n+ layer. Therefore EBL is used to define the contacts. The metal is then deposited using e-beam evaporation. After evaporation, a process called lift-off is performed. The sample is put in acetone and the polymer used during EBL is dissolved, which makes the metal deposited on the polymer to be lifted off the sample, while the metal deposited in the polymer openings stays on the sample. In a subsequent lithography step, the measurement pads are defined. The measurement pads are designed to be large to accommodate wire bonding, and EBL is considerably more timeconsuming than UVL. Therefore the measurement pads are defined by UVL using a MLA, followed by evaporation and lift-off.

3.1.4 PASSIVATION AND GATE OXIDE DEPOSITION

One of the most important device characteristics of Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor (MOSFET)s for digital applications is the Subthreshold Swing (SS), which determines how fast the transistor can switch from on- to off-state. The quality of the high- κ /III-V interface is crucial for fast switching, and defects in the oxide and interface states will have detrimental effects, see Section 2.2. In order to get as pristine a surface as possible before the gate oxide is deposited, the sample is cleaned and oxidized in an ozone atmosphere. Subsequently, the sample is immersed in an ammonium sulfide solution ((NH₄)₂S:H₂O), wherein the oxide is eliminated, and the surface undergoes passivation with sulfur to prevent re-oxidation [60]. The sample is then put into the Atomic Laver Deposition (ALD) chamber, where pre-pulsing of Trimethylaluminum (TMAI) is performed in order to restore surface arsenic (As) atoms to bulklike bonding and reduce the interface-trap density $(D_{\rm IT})$ [61]. This is followed by the deposition of a bilayer of aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃) and hafnium dioxide (HfO₂), which gives a high-quality interface in combination with a low Equivalent Oxide Thickness (EOT).

3.1.5 GATE METALLIZATION

The gate electrode is defined by **UVL** followed by e-beam evaporation, and lift-off in acetone.

3.1.6 ANNEALING

To improve the device performance in terms of **SS** and carrier mobility, the sample is annealed in forming gas. Forming gas is a mixture of hydrogen (H₂) and nitrogen (N₂), in our case the composition is 95% N₂ and 5% H₂. During the annealing process, H₂ is passivating defects in the oxide and interface states [62, 63], leading to improved electrostatic control of the channel by the gate electrode and improved mobility due to decreased scattering rates. The purely thermal effects of annealing will contribute to minimizing the number of fixed charges [63].

3.2 LATERAL NANOWIRE DEVICES

The greatest difference between the lateral nanowire devices described here and the quantum well devices described in Section 3.1, is that these devices are 1-dimensional instead of 2-dimensional. These kinds of devices are more complex to fabricate, and the channel will be gated from three sides allowing for better electrostatic control of the channel. For certain exotic applications,



Figure 3.1: Schematic of the process flow of near-surface quantum well devices. First InGaAs n+ and InP is etched in the active region, followed by mesa etching down to the InP substrate (a). Next, source/drain electrodes are deposited followed by deposition of the thicker source/drain measurement pads (b). Passivation in $(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$ is performed just before deposition of high- κ (c). Finally, the gate pad is deposited, and high- κ is etched on top of source/drain measurement pads (d).

for instance realization of Majorana fermions, a 1-dimensional semiconductor is required [64].

In this thesis work, we fabricated a demultiplexer device in the form of a lateral nanowire network, see Paper V. Our device is a so-called 1-to-4 demultiplexer, which takes one input signal and delivers it to one of four outputs, using four control signals, see Fig 3.2. The device allows for on-chip routing of DC-currents and could be used for Quantum Bit (**qubit**) biasing. For each layer added to the demultiplexer, the number of outputs is doubled, while the number of control signals only is increased by two. Our device is a proof-of-concept device, but a larger network could potentially address the challenge posed by the escalating number of cables entering the cryostat, a challenge that intensifies with the growing number of **qubits**. A schematic of the process flow is shown in Fig. 3.3, in this case for a single lateral nanowire **MOSFET**, but the principle is the same as for a lateral nanowire network.

3.2.1 NANOWIRE GROWTH

The starting wafer is a **S.I.** InP substrate. On top of this substrate, we use Selective Area Epitaxy (**SAE**) to define our InGaAs nanowire, which acts as the channel of the device. **SAE** is an epitaxial method where a growth mask is used to define areas where the growth is blocked. In this way, arbitrary 2-dimensional growth geometries can be realized. However, care has to be taken regarding the resulting facets of the grown crystal. Compared to an etching scheme similar to what is described in 3.1.1 and 3.1.2, this method allows for smaller feature sizes, since the features are defined by the growth mask, and not broadened by isotropic etching.



Figure 3.2: A false-colored Scanning Electron Microscope (**SEM**) image of a 1to-4 demultiplexer is shown in (a), while a circuit representation is presented in (b). The device has one input (S), four gates (A₁, A₂, B₁, B₂), and four outputs (D₁₁, D₁₂, D₂₂, B₂₁). The gated parts of the InGaAs network are undoped, while the rest of the network is highly doped n+ InGaAs.

The growth mask needs to be electron-beam sensitive in order to facilitate the definition of small features using **EBL**, it also needs to withstand high temperature, since the temperature in the growth chamber is 600°C, and the nucleation of growth precursors on the resist needs to be much smaller than on the InP. Hydrogen Silsesquioxane (**HSQ**) is an excellent choice for this, and the one used in this thesis work. After spin-coating of **HSQ** and patterning using **EBL**, a pre-growth cleaning in hydrofluoric acid (HF) 1:1000 is performed, just before loading the sample into the growth chamber. The interface between the substrate and epitaxial layer is essential and needs to be as clean as possible to avoid donor-like defects at the interface, which counteracts the gate effect, see Paper I.

The growth is performed using Metal-Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition (**MOCVD**), and the dynamics of the **SAE** can be described as follows: when the growth precursor gases, in this case, trimethylgallium ($Ga(CH_3)_3$), trimethylindium ($In(CH_3)_3$) and arsine (AsH₃), are approaching the semiconductor surface, pyrolysis occurs. The subspecies will then diffuse from the growth mask into the openings, where surface reactions and epitaxial growth occur. The growth rate will be different in different crystal directions, where the growth rate perpendicular to the surface of the highest surface energy will be the fastest. This surface will thus be small or even disappear. The relative surface energy of the different surfaces will determine the facet structure of the nanowire. The growth is stopped when a desired thickness is reached, then the sample is unloaded and the growth mask removed.

3.2.2 CONTACT REGROWTH

In order to minimize contact resistance, the next step is to grow highly doped InGaAs where the source-drain contacts will be placed. To do this, we use a similar scheme as we did when defining the nanowire, see Section 3.2.1. **HSQ** is patterned using **EBL**, followed by **SAE** of highly doped InGaAs, and removal of the growth mask.

3.2.3 MESA DEFINITION

The device area is defined and the devices are electrically isolated, by the definition of a mesa. The mesa is defined using **HSQ** and **EBL**, followed by wet etching into the InP substrate. In this step, the **HSQ** mask acts as an etch mask instead of a growth mask.

3.2.4 SOURCE-DRAIN METALLIZATION

The source-drain electrodes need to be closely spaced and placed close to the n+ InGaAs edge, which requires high alignment accuracy. This is important in order to minimize access resistance. On the other hand, the measurement pads are large in order to facilitate wire bonding. **EBL** is much more time-consuming than **UVL** and not suitable for large area exposure. Therefore, this step is performed as two separate lithography steps. First, the small features are defined by **EBL**, evaporation and lift-off, and in a subsequent lithography step, the measurement pads are defined, by **UVL** using a **MLA**, followed by evaporation and lift-off. Just before evaporation, the native oxide on InGaAs is removed by HCl in order to avoid an oxide barrier at the semiconductor-metal interface.

3.2.5 PASSIVATION AND GATE OXIDE DEPOSITION

This step is performed in the same way as described for the devices under Section 3.1. The sample is cleaned and oxidized in an ozone atmosphere. Subsequently, the sample is immersed in $(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$, wherein the oxide is eliminated, and the surface undergoes passivation with sulfur to prevent re-oxidation [60]. The sample is then put into the **ALD** chamber, where prepulsing of **TMAI** is performed in order to restore surface As atoms to bulk-like bonding and reduce D_{IT} [61]. This is followed by the deposition of a bilayer of Al₂O₃ and HfO₂, which gives a high-quality interface in combination with a low **EOT**.

3.2.6 GATE METALLIZATION

The gate electrode metallization is performed in two separate steps. First, the gate arm is defined using **EBL** followed by evaporation and lift-off. In this step, the alignment is crucial in order to minimize the overlap between the gate and the source-drain contacts, and thus minimize parasitic capacitances. The gate pad is then defined by **UVL** using a **MLA**, followed by evaporation and lift-off.

3.2.7 ANNEALING

The annealing process is performed in the same way as for the near-surface quantum well devices, see Section 3.1.6. To improve the device performance in terms of **SS** and carrier mobility, the sample is annealed in forming gas (95% N₂/ 5% H₂). Throughout the annealing process, H₂ acts to passivate defects in the oxide and interface states [62, 63], resulting in improved electrostatic control of the channel by the gate electrode and enhanced mobility through reduced scattering rates. The purely thermal effects of annealing will contribute to minimizing the number of fixed charges [63].

3.3 VERTICAL NANOWIRE DEVICES USING TASE

The process outlined in this section is designed to facilitate a potentially straightforward heterogeneous 3D-integration of III-V devices in silicon (Si) Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor (**CMOS**) technology.

A major difference for these devices compared to the devices described in Section 3.1 and 3.2 is that we do not use III-V material as the substrate, instead we use standard Si wafers coated with silicon dioxide (SiO_2). In principle, we can use any substrate as long as it can be coated with tungsten (W). The nanowires are defined by Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy (TASE) using **MOCVD**. **TASE** is sort of a derivative from Aspect Ratio Trapping (ART). In **ART** high aspect ratio trenches are formed in a dielectric, which acts as a growth mask for **SAE**. The idea is that threading dislocations originating from the Si/III-V interface will terminate on the vertical sidewalls of the trenches leaving a defect-free top part of III-V material [65]. In TASE the trenches are replaced by tubular openings in which defect-free III-V nanowires can be grown. In our process, we are growing vertical indium arsenide (InAs) nanowires directly on W. The approach is to tune the growth parameters in order to only get one nucleation event per opening. If the openings are much smaller than the growth precursors' diffusion length, it means that once a nucleation event has occurred, all new material arriving to the opening will be able to reach the nucleation site and continue the growth, instead of initiating



Figure 3.3: Schematic of the process flow of lateral nanowire devices. **HSQ** is patterned using **EBL** (a). **HSQ** acts as a growth mask for the **MOCVD** of InGaAs (b). The patterned **HSQ** used for the definition of the nanowire growth is removed (c) followed by patterning of a new layer of **HSQ** acting as a growth mask for the growth of highly doped n+ InGaAs (d). **MOCVD** of n+ InGaAs is performed (e) followed by removal of the **HSQ** growth mask (f). Next, a new layer of **HSQ** is patterned (g), followed by a mesa etch into the InP substrate (h). The **HSQ** etch mask is removed followed by deposition of source/drain contacts (i). Passivation in $(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$ is then performed just before deposition of high- κ (j). Finally, the gate pad is deposited, and high- κ is etched on top of source/drain measurement pads (k).

a second nucleation event. On the other hand, if the openings are much larger than the diffusion length of the precursors, they will not be able to reach the first nucleation site before they nucleate somewhere else. In this way, there is a critical size of the openings, which determines if the growth will be single- or polycrystalline, when growing on polycrystalline substrates. The diffusion length depends on the probability for a precursor to nucleate on the W surface and can be altered by the growth conditions. Different diameters of the tubular openings will thus require different growth conditions in order to get single crystalline growth from the bottom of the openings. In addition, to ensure nucleation on the W and not on the silicon nitride (Si₃N₄) template, the probability of nucleation on W must be sufficiently higher than the probability of nucleation on the Si₃N₄. Another important aspect is that the crystal extends and fills out the tubular hole in the template, otherwise, the crystal shape will not be defined by the template. In order to facilitate easy integration of III-Vs in Si-CMOS technology, we performed TASE directly on W, see Paper VII. W is a commonly used metal at the interface between Front-End-Of-Line (FEOL) and Back-End-Of-Line (BEOL) in Si-CMOS stacks, and our approach is thus believed to enable easy integration of III-Vs in Si-CMOS technology. Furthermore, given that we are growing directly on W, our approach is highly flexible, allowing us, in principle, to utilize any substrate wafer. We are thus not relying on expensive III-V substrates. A schematic of the process flow is shown in Fig. 3.4.

3.3.1 LAYER STACK DEFINITION

On top of the starting Si/SiO_2 wafer, W is deposited by sputtering. The epitaxial growth of InAs will commence from this W-layer, which will also serve as the bottom contact of the device. Next, an etch-stop layer of Al_2O_3 is deposited using **ALD**, followed by deposition of the Si_3N_4 growth template using Plasma-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition (**PECVD**). The Al_2O_3 etch-stop layer is intended to protect the W during the etching of Si_3N_4 in a subsequent step, while the thickness of the Si_3N_4 layer defines the final length of the nanowires.

3.3.2 ETCH MASK DEFINITION

It is very challenging to form high-aspect ratio openings in Si_3N_4 , required for growth template formation. In order to create nanometer-sized tubular openings within the growth template of Si_3N_4 , which is several hundred nanometers thick, an anisotropic dry etch is required. Wet etches are usually isotropic, while dry etches under certain conditions can be anisotropic [66]. In this case, we use fluorine (F) based Inductively Coupled Plasma (**ICP**) Reactive Ion Etching (**RIE**) at low pressure to define the tubular openings in the Si_3N_4 template. However, one critical issue is that the polymer resist used to transfer the pattern defined by **EBL** into the Si_3N_4 template, also is etched in the dry etch. The polymer will be thinned down, and the openings widened, therefore a more robust etch mask is needed. The pattern transfer into the Si_3N_4 is therefore performed in two steps, using a chromium (Cr) mask as the final etch mask for the pattern transfer. The Cr-mask is deposited on top of Si_3N_4 by evaporation, and patterned using **EBL** followed by chlorine (Cl) based **ICP-RIE**.

3.3.3 GROWTH TEMPLATE DEFINITION

The patterned Cr-mask is used as an etch mask in a F-based **ICP-RIE** dry etch into the Si_3N_4 template. The etch rate of Al_2O_3 is very slow, therefore the etch

stops at the Al_2O_3 etch-stop layer. After the definition of the tubular openings in the Si_3N_4 , the Cr-mask is removed in a wet etch process.

3.3.4 NANOWIRE GROWTH

Just before growth, the etch stop is removed followed by the removal of the W-oxide. The growth is performed at a low **CMOS**-compatible temperature of 450°C. In order to get single crystalline growth and complete template filling, the growth is performed in two steps. In the nucleation step, we use a low precursor flow and low V/III ratio to avoid multiple nucleation events and polycrystalline nanowires. Then in the second growth step, the precursor flows and V/III ratio are increased in order to ensure complete filling of the tubular openings. A high V/III ratio will give similar growth rates in all crystal directions [67] and thus uniform nanowire lengths, even though the crystal orientation of the nanowires will vary.

3.3.5 VIA DEFINITION TO BOTTOM CONTACT

Since the nanowires are grown directly on the W-layer, we only need to contact this layer in order to get a bottom contact to the wires. **UVL** followed by F-based **ICP-RIE** of Si_3N_4 is used to form vias to the W-layer.

3.3.6 METALLIZATION

It is crucial that the top of the nanowires are properly connected, which could be challenging since the wires may not protrude much from the template. However, sputtering offers sufficiently good step coverage to solve this. Sputtering of nickel (Ni) and gold (Au) is followed by the definition of an etch mask using **UVL**. Next, wet etching of Au is followed by removal of the etch mask. Finally, Ni is etched using Au as an etch mask, and contacts to the top of the nanowires as well as the W-layer are created. Just before sputtering, the native oxide on the nanowires is removed in a wet etch in order to minimize $R_{\rm C}$.



Figure 3.4: Schematic of the process flow. After preparation of the layer stack, **EBL** followed by Cl-based **ICP-RIE** is used to pattern the Cr hard mask. F-based **ICP-RIE** is then used in order to form vertical tubular openings in the Si₃N₄ growth template, using the Cr layer as etch mask (a). After removal of the Cr mask and the etch stop layer, **MOCVD** of InGaAs is performed (b) and (c). Next, **UVL** is performed followed by F-based **ICP-RIE** to form vias to the bottom W electrode, and finally measurement pads are deposited (d).

4

Device Characterization

LECTRICAL characterization of the III-V devices fabricated during this thesis work has been concentrated to Direct Current (**DC**) measurements at room temperature and cryogenic temperatures. In Paper I and Paper II, the focus has been to optimize the device performance in terms of Subthreshold Swing (**SS**) and carrier mobility, by pre-growth cleaning and Post-Metal Annealing (**PMA**). In Paper II, Positive-Bias Temperature Instability (**PBTI**) measurements were performed to evaluate the defect density in the gate oxide (high- κ) and high- κ /III-V interface.

The performance at cryogenic temperatures has been extensively evaluated in Paper III, Paper IV, Paper V, and Paper VI in order to explore the potential of these devices in low-temperature stages in scaled quantum computers, or as superconducting gatemon Quantum Bit (**qubit**)s. In combination with simulations, these results have gained a deeper understanding of Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor (**MOSFET**) operation at cryogenic temperatures, specifically the electron transport and mobility behavior.

Different methods to extract the carrier mobility have been studied in order to facilitate easy and proper device evaluation. In Paper III, the Geometrical Magnetoresistance Effect (**gMR**) method was used for the first time on indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) **MOSFET**s, and it turns out to be a powerful tool for carrier mobility extraction in diffusive devices.

We have also characterized indium arsenide (InAs) nanowires grown on polycrystalline tungsten (W) to evaluate the potential of Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy (**TASE**) on W as a way to facilitate easy 3D-integration of III-V devices in silicon (Si) Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor (**CMOS**) technology, see Paper VII. These devices were evaluated in terms of resistivity and field-effect mobility.

4.1 CONTACT RESISTANCE

The standard way to extract the contact resistance, $R_{\rm C}$, is by measuring the resistance between two contacts as a function of the distance between the contacts. By applying a linear fit to the measured data, the resistance at zero distance between the contacts corresponds to $2R_{\rm C}$. This method is called the Transfer Length Method (**TLM**), and can be applied on transistors. From measurements of the transfer characteristics in the linear mode of operation, the on-resistance, $R_{\rm ON}$, can be extracted as $R_{\rm ON} = \frac{V_{\rm DS}}{I_{\rm DS}}$ at a certain overdrive voltage, $V_{\rm OV}$. If $R_{\rm ON}$ is extracted for devices of different gate lengths, $L_{\rm G}$, and a least squares linear fit of $R_{\rm ON}$ versus $L_{\rm G}$ is performed, the contact resistance can be extracted. The intercept at $L_{\rm G} = 0$ corresponds to $2R_{\rm C}$, see Fig. 4.1. The transfer length, $L_{\rm T}$, can also be extracted from the linear fit, corresponding to the intercept at $R_{\rm ON} = 0$. The transfer length is the distance under the contacts in which a voltage drop occurs. The inverse of the slope of the linear fit is proportional to the effective mobility, $\mu_{\rm EFF}$, see Section 4.2.1 for details.



Figure 4.1: Typical plot of R_{ON} versus L_G for a near-surface quantum well device fabricated during this thesis work. A least squares linear fit is used to extract R_C , L_T , and μ_{EFF} .

The contact resistance depends on the interface quality between the metal electrode and the underlying semiconductor. It is crucial to remove any native oxide on the semiconductor before metal deposition; otherwise, the oxide will act as an insulating barrier between the semiconductor and the metal. The contact resistance also depends weakly on the difference between the work function of the metal, ϕ_M , and the electron affinity of the semiconductor, χ . In a simplified picture the barrier height, ϕ_B , called the Schottky barrier is set by, $\phi_B = \phi_M - \chi$, see Fig. 4.2. In reality, the primary factor influencing the barrier height at the interface, however, is associated with charges present at the interface.



Figure 4.2: Schematic band diagram of the combination of a metal and an n-type semiconductor, neglecting the effect from charges at the interface. Before thermal equilibrium the work function of the metal, ϕ_{M} , and the electron affinity of the semiconductor, χ , are indicated (a). After thermal equilibrium has been established, a Schottky barrier, ϕ_{B} , is formed at the metal-semiconductor interface. The charge carriers have to overcome this energy barrier, and the transport is limited by thermionic emission. The width of the depletion region within the semiconductor is indicated by *W* (b).

For electrons to transfer between the metal contact and the semiconductor, they need to overcome the potential barrier at the interface. The current is thus limited by thermionic emission, and the net current density is given by

$$J_{Schottky} = A^* T^2 e^{\frac{-\phi_B}{k_B T}} \left(e^{\frac{qV}{k_B T}} - 1 \right), \tag{4.1}$$

where $A^* = 4\pi m^* q k_B^2 / h^3$ is the Richardson's constant, *T* is the temperature, k_B is Boltzmann's constant, *V* is the applied voltage, *q* is the elementary charge, m^* is the effective mass of the electrons, and *h* is Planck's constant [68]. The height of the Schottky barrier, ϕ_B , can thus be extracted from I-V measurements at different temperatures. The Schottky-barrier will give rise to a diode-like or rectifying behavior [69], but an Ohmic behavior can be obtained by increasing the concentration of dopants in the semiconductor. This will decrease the width of the barrier, which corresponds to the depletion region within the semiconductor. When the barrier width is sufficiently narrow, quantum mechanical tunneling can occur, see Fig. 4.3. The current density is then no longer limited by thermionic emission, but will instead depend on the tunneling probability.

Regardless of which metal is used, some semiconductors are more prone to form Ohmic contacts than others. This is related to charge accumulation at the metal-semiconductor interface. InAs, for instance, is known to form



Figure 4.3: Schematic band diagram of the combination of a metal and a heavily doped n-type semiconductor. The width of the depletion region, *W*, is small due to the high dopant concentration, allowing for the tunneling of charge carriers between the metal and the semiconductor. The current is no longer limited by thermionic emission, but rather by the tunneling probability.

an Ohmic contact with most metals, which is explained by the fact that on both arsenic (As) and indium (In) terminated InAs, donor-like intrinsic surface states are formed, giving rise to electron accumulation layers [70,71]. For InGaAs on the other hand, the Fermi level is usually pinned inside the band gap due to the formation of metal-induced gap states and interface states at the InGaAs surface [72]. The position at which the Fermi level is pinned depends however on the In-composition. For In-compositions above ~ 0.8 , the Fermi level is pinned above the surface conduction band minima, while a lower In-composition gives a Fermi level pinned inside the band gap [73]. In Appendix D, a summary of $R_{\rm C}$ extracted from **TLM**-measurements for different semiconductor/metal combinations is presented along with the effective mobility, $\mu_{\rm EFF}$, extracted from $R_{\rm ON}$ versus $L_{\rm G}$. For details about extraction and interpretation of $\mu_{\rm EFF}$, see Section 4.2.1.

4.2 CARRIER MOBILITY

The mobility of charge carriers in the semiconductor material is crucial for the device's performance. A higher mobility means lower R_{ON} and thus lower power consumption in the on-state. The high-frequency response is also set by the mobility of the charge carriers in the semiconductor channel, meaning that devices with higher carrier mobility can operate at higher frequencies. At low electric fields, the carrier velocity is proportional to the mobility, which means that the carriers travel faster through the device leading to a higher frequency response. Moreover, high-mobility materials exhibit

higher currents, facilitating quicker charging of capacitances. In more exotic applications, for instance, hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices for quantum computation, the mobility is closely related to the ability to induce superconductivity in the semiconductor material [74].

There are different ways to extract the carrier mobility, and these different mobilities are not equivalent. In the next few sections, different mobility extraction methods used in this thesis work will be discussed, and their differences in interpretation and measurement procedures will be highlighted.

4.2.1 EFFECTIVE MOBILITY

In Paper I, and Paper II, the effective mobility is extensively used as an evaluation of the device performance. The effective mobility is closely related to the average mobility of the charge carriers in the channel of the **MOSFET**, and in the linear mode of operation the effective mobility is usually defined as

$$\mu_{\rm EFF} = \frac{L_{\rm G} I_{\rm DS}}{W Q_{\rm CH} V_{\rm DS}},\tag{4.2}$$

where $L_{\rm G}$ is the gate length, *W* is the gate width, $I_{\rm DS}$ is the drain current, $V_{\rm DS}$ is the drain voltage, and $Q_{\rm CH}$ is the concentration of free charge carriers in the channel. It is important to note that Eq. (4.2) only is valid if compensated for series resistance. An accurate way to do this is by replacing $\frac{L_{\rm G}I_{\rm DS}}{V_{\rm DS}}$ with the inverse of the slope of a least squares linear fit to $R_{\rm ON}$ versus $L_{\rm G}$, see Fig. 4.1. In this way, the effect from series resistance is eliminated and Eq. (4.2) becomes

$$\mu_{\rm EFF} = \frac{1}{WQ_{\rm CH}k'} \tag{4.3}$$

where *k* is the slope of the linear fit to R_{ON} versus L_G . Usually, we extract R_{ON} from the transfer characteristics at the bias point, $V_{OV} = 0.3$ V and $V_{DS} = 50$ mV, to ensure that we are in the linear mode of operation. The charge, Q_{CH} , is related to the gate bias, and how effectively the channel is controlled by the gate electrode, or in other words the gate capacitance, C_G ,

$$Q_{\rm CH} = C_{\rm G} V_{\rm OV}, \tag{4.4}$$

where V_{OV} is the overdrive voltage. Eq. (4.3) can then be written as

$$\mu_{\rm EFF} = \frac{1}{WC_{\rm G}V_{\rm OV}k}.\tag{4.5}$$

The effective mobility can also be extracted when the **MOSFET** is in saturation. Then, the current is described as

$$I_{\rm DS} = \frac{W}{2L_{\rm G}} \mu_{\rm EFF} C_{\rm G} (V_{\rm GS} - V_1 - V_{\rm T})^2, \tag{4.6}$$

where V_1 is defined according to Fig. 4.4.



Figure 4.4: Circuit schematic of a n-**MOSFET**, showing the definition of *V*₁.

After noting that V_1 can be expressed in terms of I_{DS} and R_C , Eq. (4.6) can be rewritten as

$$I_{\rm DS} = \frac{W}{2L_{\rm G}} \mu_{\rm EFF} C_{\rm G} (V_{\rm GS} - R_{\rm C} I_{\rm DS} - V_{\rm T})^2, \tag{4.7}$$

and by solving this equation for I_{DS} we obtain

$$I_{\rm DS} = \frac{\mu_{\rm EFF} C_{\rm G} W (V_{\rm GS} - V_{\rm T})^2}{2L_{\rm G} (1 + \mu_{\rm EFF} C_{\rm G} \frac{W}{L_{\rm G}} R_{\rm C} (V_{\rm GS} - V_{\rm T}))}.$$
(4.8)

The effective mobility can then be extracted by fitting Eq. (4.8) to the measured transfer characteristics, using μ_{EFF} and R_{C} as fitting parameters.

4.2.2 FIELD-EFFECT MOBILITY

The field-effect mobility, μ_{FE} , is a lower estimation of the effective mobility, μ_{EFF} . Here the mobility is extracted from the transconductance, g_{m} , rather than from the drain conductance as in the case of μ_{EFF} . I_{DS} is related to V_{DS} according to

$$I_{\rm DS} = \frac{W}{L_{\rm G}} \mu_{\rm EFF} C_{\rm G} \left(V_{\rm GS} - V_{\rm T} \right) V_{\rm DS} = \frac{W}{L_{\rm G}} \mu_{\rm EFF} Q_{\rm CH} V_{\rm DS}, \tag{4.9}$$

which gives

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{\partial I_{\rm DS}}{\partial V_{\rm GS}} = \frac{W}{L_{\rm G}} \left(\frac{\partial \mu_{\rm EFF}}{\partial V_{\rm GS}} Q_{\rm CH} + \mu_{\rm EFF} \frac{\partial Q_{\rm CH}}{\partial V_{\rm GS}} \right) V_{\rm DS}.$$
 (4.10)

Usually, the approximation that the mobility does not depend on the gate bias is assumed, and (4.10) is simplified to

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{W}{L_{\rm G}} \left(\mu_{\rm FE} \frac{\partial Q_{\rm CH}}{\partial V_{\rm GS}} \right) V_{\rm DS} = \frac{W}{L_{\rm G}} \mu_{\rm FE} C_{\rm G} V_{\rm DS}, \tag{4.11}$$

and when solved for the mobility,

$$\mu_{\rm FE} = \frac{g_{\rm m} L_{\rm G}}{W C_{\rm G} V_{\rm DS}}.\tag{4.12}$$

Due to the approximation that the mobility does not depend on the gate bias, see Eq. (4.10) and Eq. (4.11), μ_{FE} will be smaller than μ_{EFF} . In Paper VII, we used this approach to get a rough estimation of the lower bound of the carrier mobility of the device.

4.2.3 HALL MOBILITY

The Hall effect was discovered in 1879 by Edwin Hall [75], and today Hall effect measurements have become one of the most common methods for accurate characterization of electron transport in semiconductor material. Hall effect measurements combined with van der Pauw resistivity measurements, are used to extract the carrier concentration and resistivity of the semiconductor material. Using the carrier concentration and resistivity, the carrier mobility can be calculated. To get an accurate extraction of these properties, a test structure of certain geometry is required. Through this thesis work, we have mainly used two different test structures, namely Hall bars and Greek crosses, see Fig. 4.5. In the next few paragraphs, the procedure to extract the carrier concentration, the resistivity, and the carrier mobility from simple electrical **DC**-measurements in combination with applied magnetic fields will be explained.

When a charged particle is moving in an electric field, \vec{E} , and a magnetic field, \vec{B} , it will experience the Lorentz force,

$$\vec{F} = q\vec{E} + q\vec{v} \times \vec{B},\tag{4.13}$$

where *q* is the charge of the carrier, and \vec{v} is its velocity. In Fig. 4.6, a schematic of the electron transport in a 2-dimensional material is shown, under the influence of electric and magnetic fields.

If no \vec{B} is applied, \vec{v} will be parallel to \vec{E} , but the last term in Eq. (4.13) gives rise to a force which is perpendicular to both \vec{v} and \vec{B} . Thus, if the electrons are traveling in the x-direction and a magnetic field is applied in the z-direction, the electrons traveling direction will bend towards the negative y-direction. If the device is long compared to its width, this will give rise to



Figure 4.5: Optical images of a Hall bar (a) and a Greek cross (b). Important dimensions used when extracting the Hall mobility are indicated. All contacts are labeled by numbers except the gate which is labeled G.

accumulation of electrons on one side and depletion of electrons on the other side, and thus build up a so-called Hall voltage, V_{HALL} . When the steady state has been established the force on the electron due to V_{HALL} will be equal but opposite to the force from the magnetic field,

$$\frac{qV_{\text{HALL}}}{W} = qv_x B_z, \tag{4.14}$$

where W is the width of the semiconductor, see Fig. 4.6.

The surface carrier concentration, n_s , can then be solved by using the fact that the charge carrier velocity, $v_x = \frac{I}{qn_sWt}$, where *I* is the current and *t* is the thickness of the semiconductor, see Fig. 4.6. This, combined with Eq. (4.14), gives

$$n_s = \frac{IB_z}{qV_{\text{HALL}}t}.$$
(4.15)

Hall bars and Greek crosses are commonly used test structures for accurate determination of the carrier concentration. To get as accurate values as possible, the magnetic field is applied in both positive and negative directions, and the current is usually also sourced in both directions to eliminate the effect of thermoelectric voltages. Eq. (4.16) to Eq. (4.19) describe the set of measurements on the Hall bar in Fig. 4.5 (a), required to determine V_{HALL} ,

$$V_{56,21}^{B+} = \frac{V_{21}^{B+}(I_{56}^+) - V_{21}^{B+}(I_{56}^-)}{2},$$
(4.16)



Figure 4.6: Schematic of an electron traveling in a 2-Dimensional Electron Gas (**2DEG**) under influence of electric and magnetic fields. The electric and magnetic forces are perpendicular, which gives rise to a centripetal force on the electron. Accumulation of electrons on one side of the **2DEG**, and depletion of electrons on the other side of the **2DEG**, gives rise to a Hall voltage, *V*_{HALL}.

$$V_{56,21}^{B-} = \frac{V_{21}^{B-}(I_{56}^+) - V_{21}^{B-}(I_{56}^-)}{2},$$
(4.17)

$$V_{\text{HALL},1} = \frac{V_{56,21}^{B+} - V_{56,21}^{B-}}{2}.$$
(4.18)

 $V_{\text{HALL},2}$ is determined by performing the same set of measurements, but by measuring the voltage between 3 and 4 instead of between 2 and 1, see Fig. 4.5 (a). Ideally, $V_{\text{HALL},1}$ and $V_{\text{HALL},2}$ should be equal, and by calculating the average of these two Hall voltages, the impact of geometrical errors is reduced,

$$V_{\text{HALL}} = \frac{V_{\text{HALL},1} + V_{\text{HALL},2}}{2}.$$
(4.19)

 V_{HALL} is then used to calculate the carrier concentration according to Eq. (4.15). The same methodology as described in Eq. (4.16) to Eq. (4.19) applies to the Greek cross, see Fig. 4.5 (b), but $V_{\text{HALL},2}$ is not required.

The resistivity can easily be extracted from a Hall bar using standard 4terminal measurements. A current is sourced between 5 and 6, while the voltage is measured between 1 and 4, or 2 and 3, see Fig. 4.5 (a). The resistivity is calculated according to (4.20) and (4.21),

$$\rho_a = \frac{V_{14}(I_{56}^+) - V_{14}(I_{56}^-)}{I_{56}^+ - I_{56}^-} \frac{W}{a},$$
(4.20)

$$\rho_b = \frac{V_{23}(I_{56}^+) - V_{23}(I_{56}^-)}{I_{56}^+ - I_{56}^-} \frac{W}{b},$$
(4.21)

where a, b, and W are defined in Fig. 4.5 (a). Note, that the current is measured in both directions to eliminate thermoelectric voltages. The resistivity in (4.20) and (4.21) should ideally be equal, but an average will reduce errors caused by geometric deviations,

$$\rho_{avg} = \frac{\rho_a + \rho_b}{2}.\tag{4.22}$$

One problem with this approach is that 1-dimensional transport is assumed. In fact, this is a 2-dimensional geometry, and Poisson's equation needs to be solved to determine the electrical potential throughout the sample and convert the resistance measurements to resistivity. But in 1958 van der Pauw described a method to extract the resistivity from a square sample with point contacts on the four corners of the sample. However, the van der Pauw method can be applied on Greek crosses, see Fig. 4.5 (b), giving an error less than 1% if $\frac{a}{c} > 1.5$ [76]. The method is as follows: first a current is sourced from 1 to 2, and the voltage between 4 and 3 is measured, this is performed in both directions to eliminate thermoelectric voltages. Then the reciprocal of this measurement is performed, namely, the current is sourced from 4 to 3 and the voltage between 1 and 2 is measured. These measurements give rise to two resistances which ideally should be equal,

$$R_{12,43} = \frac{V_{43}(I_{12}^+) - V_{43}(I_{12}^-)}{I_{12}^+ - I_{12}^-},$$
(4.23)

$$R_{43,12} = \frac{V_{12}(I_{43}^+) - V_{12}(I_{43}^-)}{I_{43}^+ - I_{43}^-}.$$
(4.24)

The average of these two resistances gives a more accurate value of the resistance, reducing the influence of geometric deviations,

$$R_1 = \frac{R_{12,43} + R_{43,12}}{2}.$$
(4.25)

Next, the same set of measurements is performed between 1, 4 and 2, 3,

$$R_{14,23} = \frac{V_{23}(I_{14}^+) - V_{23}(I_{14}^-)}{I_{14}^+ - I_{14}^-},$$
(4.26)

$$R_{23,14} = \frac{V_{14}(I_{23}^+) - V_{14}(I_{23}^-)}{I_{23}^+ - I_{23}^-},$$
(4.27)

$$R_2 = \frac{R_{14,23} + R_{23,14}}{2}.$$
(4.28)

The sheet resistance, R_{SH} , is obtained by numerically solving the van der Pauw equation,

$$1 = e^{\frac{-\pi R_1}{R_{\rm SH}}} + e^{\frac{-\pi R_2}{R_{\rm SH}}},$$
 (4.29)

from which the sample resistivity is obtained $\rho = R_{SH}t$, where *t* is the thickness of the conducting layer.

Now the Hall mobility, μ_{HALL} , can finally be calculated using the extracted surface carrier concentration from Hall effect measurements, and the extracted resistivity from van der Pauw measurements,

$$\mu_{\text{HALL}} = \frac{1}{\rho n_s q}.$$
(4.30)

The advantage of Hall bars compared to Greek crosses is that the resistivity measurements are quicker. For Hall bars only four measurements are required, see Eq. (4.20) and (4.21), compared to Greek crosses where eight measurements are required, see Eq. (4.23), (4.24), (4.26), and (4.27). The extracted resistivity may, however, be more accurate when extracted from Greek crosses, since the van der Pauw method is applied. In addition, the Hall effect measurements are quicker for Greek crosses, where $V_{HALL,2}$ is not required and only four measurements are performed, compared to eight measurements for Hall bars, see Eq. (4.16), (4.17), and (4.18). Another benefit of Greek crosses is that they are possible to make smaller and only four contacts are needed for non-gated measurements, facilitating more devices per area and in addition simplifying the wire bonding of the devices.

4.2.4 gMR MOBILITY

For Hall effect measurements the device geometry should be long compared to its width, otherwise V_{HALL} will be shorted by the long contacts. **MOSFETs** usually have $L_{\text{G}} << W$ making them bad devices for Hall effect measurements. On the other hand, even though V_{HALL} will be negligible, the Lorentz force, see Eq. (4.13), will make the charge carriers deviate from a straight traveling direction, increasing the traveling distance and effectively increasing the resistance between source and drain, see Fig. 4.6. This effect is called the Geometrical Magnetoresistance Effect (**gMR**). In general, also the resistivity of a semiconductor is increased when placed in a magnetic field, which is related to anisotropic conduction, or energy-dependent scattering [77]. This effect is
called the Physical Magnetoresistance Effect (**pMR**). The ratio between the resistance with and without applied magnetic field becomes

$$\frac{R_B}{R_0} = \frac{\rho_B}{\rho_0} \left[1 + \left(\mu_{gMR} B \right)^2 \left(1 - 0.54 \frac{L_G}{W} \right) \right], \tag{4.31}$$

where ρ_B is the resistivity in a magnetic field of magnitude *B* [78,79]. For a **MOSFET** the $\frac{L_G}{W}$ ratio is generally small, and the **pMR** effect is usually much smaller than the **gMR** effect, making the assumption $\frac{\rho_B}{\rho_0} \approx 1$ valid [77]. Eq. (4.31) can then be rewritten as

$$\frac{R_B}{R_0} \approx 1 + (\mu_{gMR}B)^2.$$
 (4.32)

The μ_{gMR} can easily be obtained, by measuring transfer characteristics at different applied magnetic fields, calculating R_B and R_0 , and fitting to Eq. (4.32), using μ_{gMR} as fitting parameter. An example of measured transfer characteristics and fitting of Eq. (4.32) to the extracted resistance, is shown in Fig. 4.7.



Figure 4.7: Transfer characteristics for different applied magnetic fields at $V_{\rm DS} = 50$ mV. The current decreases with increased magnetic field, and opposite field directions give the same current (a). The extracted resistance at $V_{\rm GS} = -0.25$ V as a function of the applied magnetic field, together with fits using Eq. (4.32). The importance of accurately extracted series resistance is clearly visible (b).

As seen in Fig. 4.7, the extracted μ_{gMR} is very sensitive to the effect of series resistance, and an accurate way to extract the series resistance of the devices is required to get reliable **gMR** mobilities. Another drawback of the **gMR** method, which we showed in Paper III, is that the **gMR** technique only works

for diffusive devices. Measurements on quasi-ballistic devices will give rise to considerably lower mobilities than the diffusive mobility of interest, which is related to the fact that the relaxation approximation used to obtain Eq. (4.32), only is valid for diffusive transport. There are however great advantages of the **gMR** method over the commonly used Hall method. For instance, the **gMR** method can be performed directly on **MOSFETs**, as long as they are diffusive and have $L_G << W$. Therefore, no extra test structures are required, giving more space on the chip, and only three contacts are needed, simplifying the wire bonding. The **gMR** measurements are in addition very quick, since only transfer characteristics are required, and the gate dependence of the mobility is directly obtained. In comparison μ_{FE} assumes no gate dependence, and Hall measurements need to be performed at all gate voltages of interest, in order to obtain the gate dependence. It has also been shown that the **gMR** approach works well even at low carrier densities [80], where the Hall approach becomes problematic.

4.2.5 SUMMARY OF MOBILITY EXTRACTION METHODS

The effective mobility, μ_{EFF} , can be extracted directly from the **MOSFET**s of interest, and is closely related to the average mobility of the charge carriers. However, if the extraction is performed in the linear region, several devices of different gate lengths are required. In saturation, it is possible to extract μ_{EFF} from single devices, and comparing this mobility to the one extracted in the linear region is a good sanity check, but keep in mind that the mobility depends on the carrier concentration and μ_{EFF} extracted in saturation should be higher than μ_{EFF} extracted in the linear region. In addition, the effective mobility is the mobility used in all theoretical models of MOSFETs, which makes μ_{EFF} interesting for device characterization. If several devices with different gate lengths are not available, the field-effect mobility, μ_{FE} , is a good estimation of the lower bound of $\mu_{\rm EFF}$. Hall mobility measurements require special test structures, and can not be performed on the MOSFETs. The Hall mobility, μ_{HALL} , is however a well-established technique, and the availability of Hall mobilities from different material systems, makes μ_{HALL} a good tool for performance comparisons. The **gMR** method is on the other hand a very sparsely used mobility extraction method. However, it has several strengths compared to other methods. It is quick and can be performed directly on the **MOSFET**s of interest, as long as they are diffusive and have $L_G << W$. In addition, the **gMR** method works well even at low carrier concentrations and inherently gives the gate dependence of the mobility. The main drawback is however that $R_{\rm C}$ influences the extracted mobility a lot, and an accurate method to extract $R_{\rm C}$ is thus required.

4.3 POSITIVE-BIAS TEMPERATURE INSTABILITY MEASUREMENTS

In today's **MOSFET** technology, the gate oxide is usually deposited by Atomic Layer Deposition (**ALD**). **ALD** enables scaling of the gate oxide and the possibility to deposit oxides with high relative permittivity (high- κ), improving the capacitive coupling of the gate electrode to the semiconductor channel. In Si technology, a so-called *reliability anneal* is usually performed to improve the quality of the dielectric layer. The annealing is often performed at as high a temperature as 900°C and decreases the number of defects in the oxide [81]. Annealing at this high temperature can however not be performed for III-V devices due to their lower thermodynamic stability. In Paper II, we investigated Atomic Hydrogen Annealing (**AHA**) as a low-temperature annealing process to mitigate this problem. In the paper, we performed **PBTI** measurements to characterize the defect concentration and defect distribution in the gate oxide.

When a positive gate bias is applied to the gate electrode, electrons from the semiconductor channel will move towards the gate, and may be trapped at defect sites inside the gate oxide, or at the high- κ /III-V interface. When the gate bias then is set to zero again, these trapped electrons will act as a negative bias on the gate electrode. This means that in order to turn the device on, a more positive bias is required compared to before any electrons were trapped. In other words, the trapped electrons will give rise to a positive $V_{\rm T}$ -shift.

To investigate this effect, **PBTI** measurements could be performed as follows: first one transfer curve is measured on a device in order to extract $V_{\rm T}$. Then a certain $V_{\rm OV}$ is held for a certain time, after which the gate bias is set to zero and the drain current is measured. The measured drain current at zero gate bias is then compared to the original transfer curve, in order to extract the $V_{\rm T}$ -shift, see Fig. 4.8 (a). Next, the same procedure is performed on a second device, but for a different $V_{\rm OV}$. If this procedure is performed on several devices at different $V_{\rm OV}$, the defect density and defect distribution can be characterized. In Fig. 4.8 (b), a power law expression is fitted to the measured $V_{\rm T}$ -shift as a function of $V_{\rm OV}$. The coefficient is proportional to the defect density, while the exponent is related to the defect distribution.



Figure 4.8: Transfer characteristics at $V_{\text{DS}} = 50 \text{ mV}$, and measurement of I_{DS} at $V_{\text{GS}} = 0$ after holding $V_{\text{OV}} = 1.5 \text{ V}$ for 300 s. A positive V_{T} -shift of 0.55 V is observed (a). The V_{T} -shift after holding V_{OV} for 300 s is plotted versus V_{OV} , together with a power law fit to the measured data (b).

5

Conclusion and Outlook

HIS thesis has explored the potential of III-V devices in emerging electronic applications. III-Vs have properties that make them outperform silicon (Si) in certain applications, but they will probably never replace Si in digital electronics, due to their many drawbacks. III-Vs are a combination of two elements, which makes them more complex and difficult to work with compared to Si. In addition, they are not abundant in nature, which may be their greatest drawback. In order to utilize their outstanding mobility and direct band gap, but not be limited by their cost and rareness, they need to be integrated with Si-based technology.

The main contributions from this thesis work to the research community, are enhanced insights into III-V processing, increased knowledge about electron transport at cryogenic temperatures, and a demonstration of a possible way to facilitate easy 3D-integration of III-V devices in Si-Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor (CMOS) technology, without reliance on expensive III-V substrates.

In the first part of this chapter, a summary of our contributions to the research field, paper by paper, will be presented. The chapter's second part will discuss a completely new way to fabricate vertical nanowire Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor (**MOSFET**)s using a semiconductor-last approach based on Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy (**TASE**). The chapter ends with an outlook toward an intriguing fusion of the semiconductor-last approach and superconducting electrodes, offering the potential realization of highly transparent interfaces between superconductors and semiconductors.

5.1 SUMMARY OF PAPERS

• Paper I "Optimization of Near-Surface Quantum Well Processing", doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000720.

Emerging applications in cryogenic electronics require devices with extremely low power consumption and power dissipation in order to sustain low temperatures while accommodating an increasing number of devices. Furthermore, superconducting quantum computing based on hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices, such as Majoranabased topological Quantum Bit (**qubit**)s and gatemon **qubit**s, rely on a gate-tunable semiconductor weak link with high mobility. In this paper, we optimized the process flow of near-surface indium gallium arsenide (InGaAs) **MOSFET**s and improved the device performance in terms of Subthreshold Swing (**SS**) and carrier mobility.

• Paper II "Low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing of InGaAs MOSFETs", doi: 10.1088/1361-6641/acc08c.

III-V semiconductors are temperature sensitive, which makes it impossible to do a so-called *reliability anneal* at 900°C, usually performed in Si technology. Due to the inability to perform a high-temperature anneal, a high-quality gate dielectric and high-quality III-V/high- κ interface can not be realized. III-V devices therefore suffer from bad reliability and device variability. In this paper, we investigated the potential of Atomic Hydrogen Annealing (AHA) as a low-temperature annealing process for InGaAs **MOSFETs**. We conclude that the device performance in terms of **SS**, mobility, and reliability is improved by **AHA**, and comparable to improvements from Rapid Thermal Process (**RTP**) annealing in forming gas. **AHA** allows for a lower temperature compared to **RTP** annealing but instead a longer annealing time is required, and the thermal budget is thus not decreased. **AHA** seems to be comparable to annealing in forming gas, but not a superior annealing alternative.

• Paper III "Geometrical Magnetoresistance as a Tool for Carrier Mobility Extraction in InGaAs MOSFETs", doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3318556.

The carrier mobility is one of the most important properties of the semiconductor material used in **MOSFETs** and hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices. In this paper, we explored the potential of

the Geometrical Magnetoresistance Effect (**gMR**) as a tool for mobility extraction in InGaAs **MOSFETs**. The **gMR** method shows excellent agreement with the mobility obtained from the well-established Hall effect method. In addition, the **gMR** method inherently gives the gate dependence and allows for measurements directly on the **MOSFET** of interest. However, we also showed the limitations of this method when it comes to ballistic or quasi-ballistic devices, where the extracted μ_{gMR} underestimates the diffusive mobility.

• Paper IV "Cryogenic Characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET", doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3238382.

Cryogenic electronics become more and more interesting as the interest in superconducting **qubits** is increasing. To enable scaling of the number of **qubits**, the control electronics must be integrated with the **qubits** inside the cryostat. This will decrease the number of cables into the cryostat as well as the thermal noise. In this paper, we studied the current characteristics of near-surface InGaAs **MOSFETs** at cryogenic temperatures, in order to increase the understanding of electron transport in this regime. We developed a model, which takes into account band tail states, electron concentration dependent mobility, and density of interface traps. Our model accurately describes the device behavior down to cryogenic temperatures, and is important for understanding **MOSFET** operation in this temperature regime.

• Paper V "Low-Temperature Characteristics of Nanowire Network Demultiplexer for Qubit Biasing", doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c04971.

To enable scaling of the number of **qubit**s, the number of cables from room temperature into the cryostat needs to be decreased. In this paper, we investigated the potential of on-chip routing of currents used for **qubit**-biasing, by fabrication of a demultiplexer based on an InGaAs nanowire network grown by Selective Area Epitaxy (**SAE**). Our 1-to-4 demultiplexer device worked as intended, and is a proof-of-concept device. However, in order to decrease the number of cables into the cryostat a larger network is required. For our device, four inputs are needed for the four outputs. Each new layer in the network will however double the number of outputs, while the number of inputs only is increased by two, or in other words a 1-to-2^{*n*} demultiplexer requires 2*n* inputs and has 2^{*n*} outputs.

• Paper VI "Gate-controlled near-surface Josephson junctions", doi: 10.1063/5.0182485.

Hybrid superconductor-semiconductor Josephson Junction (II)s are an interesting platform for studying the superconducting proximity effect since they provide the possibility to tune the junction properties by a gate voltage. The Josephson Field-Effect Transistor (JoFET) is the central part in the realization of gate-controlled superconducting qubits. In literature, there are several works on implementations of compact models for IIs [82–84], but there are very few works that investigate the gate-tunable superconductor-semiconductor-superconductor junction. In this paper, we developed a model that can be used for actual non-ideal JoFETs. Our compact model considers the gate tunability of the semiconductor, the carrier density dependent mobility, nonideal interfaces, and nonlinear excess resistances, allowing for circuit modeling with more realistic JoFETs. Our model enables system-level investigation of circuits containing JoFETs, which is essential for the development of gate-tunable qubits. The validity of our model was confirmed by the successful reproduction of our measured data by circuit simulations.

• Paper VII "Three-Dimensional Integration of InAs Nanowires by Template- Assisted Selective Epitaxy on Tungsten", doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04908.

Today's digital electronics rely on Si-CMOS technology, while III-Vs are dominating high-frequency analog electronics, as well as optoelectronic applications. The possibility to integrate III-V devices in Si-CMOS technology is thus very interesting and considered essential for emerging 6G wireless networks [26]. In this paper, we developed a process for Metal-Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition (MOCVD) growth of vertical single crystalline indium arsenide (InAs) nanowires directly on tungsten (W), which is a commonly used metal between the Front-End-Of-Line (FEOL) and Back-End-Of-Line (BEOL) in the Si-CMOS stack. Our process is based on TASE performed at a CMOS compatible temperature of 450°C, showing potential for easy 3Dintegration of III-V devices in Si-CMOS technology.

5.2 SEMICONDUCTOR-LAST APPROACH BASED ON TASE

The process scheme presented here is a further development of the process developed in Paper VII. The major difference is that the gate metal is formed inside the growth template, and the gate dielectric is deposited before the growth of the III-V nanowires. A schematic of the process is shown in Fig. 5.1.



Figure 5.1: First the nanowire pattern is transferred into the chromium (Cr) hard mask using Electron-Beam Lithography (EBL) followed by chlorine (Cl) based Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) Reactive Ion Etching (RIE). The Crmask is subsequently used as an etch mask for anisotropic fluorine (F) based ICP-RIE down to the aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃) etch stop layer (a). Next, a high- κ oxide is deposited by Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD) (b). Anisotropic F-based ICP-RIE is then performed to remove high- κ from all planar surfaces (c). After removal of Al₂O₃ in Buffered Oxide Etchant (BOE), MOCVD of InAs is performed (c) and (d). Next, vias to the gate and bottom contact are formed by Ultraviolet Lithography (UVL) using a Maskless Aligner (MLA), followed by F-based ICP-RIE. Finally, the measurement pads are defined by sputtering, UVL, and wet etching (e).

This process scheme allows for high-temperature annealing of the gate dielectric before the growth of the temperature-sensitive III-V material, and will potentially also lead to a completely native oxide-free III-V/high- κ interface. There is thus potential to achieve very high quality of the III-V/high- κ interface, which could greatly improve the reliability of the III-V **MOSFETs**. The process also facilitates easy scaling of the gate length, which is defined only by the thickness of the intermediate W-layer, as well as vertical stacking of multiple devices by deposition of a second growth template on top of the first one. Since the nanowires are grown directly on W, this process could facilitate easy 3D-integration of III-V devices in Si-CMOS technology, but then high-temperature annealing can not be performed since it is not compatible with the Si-CMOS BEOL. However, another benefit of this process scheme is that we do not rely on expensive III-V substrates, but can deposit W and grow the nanowires on, in principle, any substrate.

5.3 HYBRID SUPERCONDUCTOR-SEMICONDUCTOR DEVICES USING TASE

One of the key challenges when fabricating hybrid superconductorsemiconductor devices is to get a high-quality superconductor-semiconductor interface and transparent contacts. It has been shown that a nearly perfect interface can be formed if the superconductor is grown in-situ on the semiconductor [64]. By growing the superconductor in-situ no native oxide is formed on the semiconductor. In the process described in Paper VII, we use a similar but somewhat inverted approach, where we grow the semiconductor on top of the metal. Even in this approach, the formation of native oxide on the semiconductor should be inhibited. It would thus be very interesting to replace our W bottom contact, see Fig. 5.1, with for instance a molybdenum rhenium alloy (MoRe), which is an exciting superconductor for hybrid device applications [85].

Bibliography

- "The [1] J. Bardeen and W. H. Brattain, Transistor, А Semi-Triode," Conductor Phys. Rev., vol. 74, pp. 230-231, Iul 10.1103/PhysRev.74.230. [Online]. Available: 1948. doi: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.74.230
- [2] W. Shockley and G. L. Pearson, "Modulation of conductance of thin films of semi-conductors by surface charges," *Phys. Rev.*, vol. 74, pp. 232–233, Jul 1948. doi: 10.1103/PhysRev.74.232. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRev.74.232
- G. E. Moore, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits, Reprinted from Electronics, volume 38, number 8, April 19, 1965, pp.114 ff." *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Society Newsletter*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 33–35, 2006. doi: 10.1109/N-SSC.2006.4785860
- [4] J. S. C. Kilby, "Turning Potential into Realities: The Invention of the Integrated Circuit (Nobel Lecture)," *ChemPhysChem*, vol. 2, no. 8-9, pp. 482–489, 2001. doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/1439-7641(20010917)2:8/9<482::AID-CPHC482>3.0.CO;2-Y. [Online]. Available: https://chemistry-europe.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/1439-7641%2820010917%292%3A8/9%3C482%3A% 3AAID-CPHC482%3E3.0.CO%3B2-Y
- [5] D.Kahng and M. M. Atalla, "Silicon-silicon dioxide field induced surface devices," in *IRE-AIEE Solid-State Device Research Conference*, 1960.
- [6] S. Mokkapati and C. Jagadish, "III-V compound SC for optoelectronic devices," *Materials Today*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 22–32, 2009. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-7021(09)70110-5. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1369702109701105

- [7] A. Leuther, S. Koch, A. Tessmann, I. Kallfass, T. Merkle, H. Massler, R. Loesch, M. Schlechtweg, S. Saito, and O. Ambacher, "20 NM metamorphic HEMT WITH 660 GHZ FT," in *IPRM 2011 - 23rd International Conference on Indium Phosphide and Related Materials*, 2011, pp. 1–4.
- [8] S. Mauthe, H. Schmid, B. Mayer, S. Wirths, C. Convertino, Y. Baumgartner, L. Czornomaz, M. Sousa, P. Staudinger, H. Riel *et al.*, "Monolithic Integration of III -V on silicon for photonic and electronic applications," in 2018 76th Device Research Conference (DRC), 2018. doi: 10.1109/DRC.2018.8442241 pp. 1–2.
- [9] J. Jeong, S. K. Kim, J. Kim, D.-M. Geum, D. Kim, E. Jo, H. Jeong, J. Park, J.-H. Jang, S. Choi *et al.*, "Heterogeneous and Monolithic 3D Integration of III–V-Based Radio Frequency Devices on Si CMOS Circuits," ACS Nano, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 9031–9040, 2022. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.2c00334 PMID: 35437991. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1021/acsnano.2c00334
- [10] E. Fitzgerald, M. T. Bulsara, Y. Bai, C. Cheng, W. K. Liu, D. Lubyshev, J. Fastenau, Y. Wu, M. Urtega, W. Ha *et al.*, "Monolithic III-V/Si Integration," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 19, no. 5, p. 345, may 2009. doi: 10.1149/1.3119557. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1149/1.3119557
- [11] J. Chung, J. Lee, E. Piner, and T. Palacios, "Seamless on-wafer integration of GaN HEMTs and Si(100) MOSFETs," in 2009 Device Research Conference, 2009. doi: 10.1109/DRC.2009.5354963 pp. 155–156.
- [12] W. E. Spicer, P. W. Chye, P. R. Skeath, C. Y. Su, and I. Lindau, "New and unified model for Schottky barrier and III–V insulator interface states formation," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology*, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 1422–1433, 09 1979. doi: 10.1116/1.570215. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1116/1.570215
- [13] P. Ye, G. Wilk, J. Kwo, B. Yang, H.-J. Gossmann, M. Frei, S. Chu, J. Mannaerts, M. Sergent, M. Hong *et al.*, "GaAs MOSFET with oxide gate dielectric grown by atomic layer deposition," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 209–211, 2003. doi: 10.1109/LED.2003.812144
- [14] D. Hisamoto, W.-C. Lee, J. Kedzierski, H. Takeuchi, K. Asano, C. Kuo, E. Anderson, T.-J. King, J. Bokor, and C. Hu, "FinFET-a self-aligned double-gate MOSFET scalable to 20 nm," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 47, no. 12, pp. 2320–2325, 2000. doi: 10.1109/16.887014

- [15] D. Wang, X. Sun, T. Liu, K. Chen, J. Yang, C. Wu, M. Xu, and W. D. Zhang, "Investigation of Source/Drain Recess Engineering and Its Impacts on FinFET and GAA Nanosheet FET at 5 nm Node," *Electronics*, vol. 12, no. 3, 2023. doi: 10.3390/electronics12030770. [Online]. Available: https://www.mdpi.com/2079-9292/12/3/770
- [16] Samsung, "Samsung Begins Chip Production Using 3nm Process Technology With GAA Architecture," 2022, accessed November 6, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://news.samsung.com/global/ samsung-begins-chip-production-using-3nm-process-technology-withgaa-architecture
- [17] D. Caimi, H. Schmid, T. Morf, P. Mueller, M. Sousa, K. Moselund, and C. Zota, "III-V-on-Si transistor technologies: Performance boosters and integration," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 185, p. 108077, 2021. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sse.2021.108077. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038110121001222
- [18] C. Convertino, C. B. Zota, D. Caimi, M. Sousa, K. E. Moselund, and L. Czornomaz, "High-performance InGaAs FinFETs with raised source/drain extensions," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 58, no. 8, p. 080901, jul 2019. doi: 10.7567/1347-4065/ab2c97. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.7567/1347-4065/ab2c97
- [19] E. Cha, N. Wadefalk, P.- Nilsson, J. Schleeh, G. Moschetti, A. Pourkabirian, S. Tuzi, and J. Grahn, "0.3–14 and 16–28 GHz Wide-Bandwidth Cryogenic MMIC Low-Noise Amplifiers," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 4860–4869, 2018. doi: 10.1109/TMTT.2018.2872566
- [20] F. Arute, K. Arya, R. Babbush, D. Bacon, J. C. Bardin, R. Barends, R. Biswas, S. Boixo, F. G. S. L. Brandao, D. A. Buell *et al.*, "Quantum supremacy using a programmable superconducting processor," *Nature*, vol. 574, pp. 505–510, October 2019. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1666-5. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1666-5
- [21] Y. Kim, A. Eddins, S. Anand, K. X. Wei, van den, E. Berg, S. Rosenblatt, H. Nayfeh, Y. Wu, M. Zaletel *et al.*, "Evidence for the utility of quantum computing before fault tolerance," *Nature*, vol. 618, pp. 500–505, June 2023. doi: 10.1038/s41586-023-06096-3. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-023-06096-3
- [22] J. Kelly, R. Barends, A. G. Fowler, A. Megrant, E. Jeffrey, T. C. White, D. Sank, J. Y. Mutus, B. Campbell, Y. Chen *et al.*, "State preservation by repetitive error detection in a superconducting quantum circuit," *Nature*, vol. 519, pp. 66–69, March 2015. doi: 10.1038/nature14270. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14270

- [23] L. Casparis, M. R. Connolly, M. Kjaergaard, N. J. Pearson, A. Kringhøj, T. W. Larsen, F. Kuemmeth, T. Wang, C. Thomas, S. Gronin et al., "Superconducting gatemon qubit based on a proximitized two-dimensional electron gas," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 13, pp. 915– 919, October 2018. doi: 10.1038/s41565-018-0207-y. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-018-0207-y
- [24] S. J. Weber, "Gatemons get serious," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 13, pp. 877–878, October 2018. doi: 10.1038/s41565-018-0218-8. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-018-0218-8
- [25] W. Mayer, J. Yuan, K. S. Wickramasinghe, T. Nguyen, M. C. Dartiailh, and J. Shabani, "Superconducting proximity effect in epitaxial Al-InAs heterostructures," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 114, no. 10, p. 103104, 03 2019. doi: 10.1063/1.5067363. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5067363
- [26] F. Sheikh, R. Nagisetty, T. Karnik, and D. Kehlet, "2.5D and 3D Heterogeneous Integration: Emerging applications," *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Magazine*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 77–87, 2021. doi: 10.1109/MSSC.2021.3111386
- [27] C.-Y. Huang, X. Bao, Z. Ye, S. Lee, H. Chiang, H. Li, V. Chobpattana, B. Thibeault, W. Mitchell, S. Stemmer *et al.*, "Ultrathin InAschannel MOSFETs on Si substrates," in 2015 International Symposium on VLSI Technology, Systems and Applications, 2015. doi: 10.1109/VLSI-TSA.2015.7117566 pp. 1–2.
- [28] D. Pribat, B. Gerard, M. Dupuy, and P. Legagneux, "High quality GaAs on Si by conformal growth," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 60, no. 17, pp. 2144–2146, 04 1992. doi: 10.1063/1.107064. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.107064
- [29] N. Waldron, G. Wang, N. D. Nguyen, T. Orzali, C. Merckling, G. Brammertz, P. Ong, G. Winderickx, G. Hellings, G. Eneman *et al.*, "Integration of InGaAs Channel n-MOS Devices on 200mm Si Wafers Using the Aspect-Ratio-Trapping Technique," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 45, no. 4, p. 115, apr 2012. doi: 10.1149/1.3700460. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1149/1.3700460
- [30] M. Borg, H. Schmid, K. E. Moselund, D. Cutaia, and H. Riel, "Mechanisms of template-assisted selective epitaxy of InAs nanowires on Si," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 117, no. 14, 04 2015. doi: 10.1063/1.4916984 144303. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/ 1.4916984

- [31] V. Deshpande, H. Hahn, E. O'Connor, Y. Baumgartner, M. Sousa, D. Caimi, H. Boutry, J. Widiez, L. Brévard, C. Le Royer *et al.*, "First demonstration of 3D SRAM through 3D monolithic integration of In-GaAs n-FinFETs on FDSOI Si CMOS with inter-layer contacts," in 2017 *Symposium on VLSI Technology*, 2017. doi: 10.23919/VLSIT.2017.7998205 pp. T74–T75.
- [32] D. Caimi, P. Tiwari, M. Sousa, K. E. Moselund, and C. B. Zota, "Heterogeneous Integration of III–V Materials by Direct Wafer Bonding for High-Performance Electronics and Optoelectronics," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 68, no. 7, pp. 3149–3156, 2021. doi: 10.1109/TED.2021.3067273
- [33] S. Bao, Y. Wang, K. Lina, L. Zhang, B. Wang, W. A. Sasangka, K. E. K. Lee, S. J. Chua, J. Michel, E. Fitzgerald *et al.*, "A review of silicon-based wafer bonding processes, an approach to realize the monolithic integration of Si-CMOS and III–V-on-Si wafers," *Journal of Semiconductors*, vol. 42, no. 2, p. 023106, feb 2021. doi: 10.1088/1674-4926/42/2/023106. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1674-4926/42/2/023106
- [34] C. Jeong, D. A. Antoniadis, and M. S. Lundstrom, "On Backscattering and Mobility in Nanoscale Silicon MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 56, no. 11, pp. 2762–2769, 2009. doi: 10.1109/TED.2009.2030844
- [35] J. A. del Alamo, "Nanometre-scale electronics with III–V compound semiconductors," *Nature*, vol. 479, no. 7373, pp. 317–323, 2011. doi: 10.1038/nature10677
- [36] D. K. Singh, A. Dasgupta, and Y. S. Chauhan, "Accurate modeling of centroid shift in III-V FETs including non-linear potential profile and wave-function penetration," in 2016 3rd International Conference on Emerging Electronics (ICEE), 2016. doi: 10.1109/ICEmElec.2016.8074581 pp. 1–4.
- [37] W. Amir, D.-H. Kim, and T.-W. Kim, "Comprehensive Analysis of Quantum Mechanical Effects of Interface Trap and Border Trap Densities of High-k Al2O3/In0.53Ga0.47As on a 300-mm Si Substrate," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 211 464–211 473, 2020. doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3038856
- [38] M. S. Lundstrom and J. Guo, Nanoscale Transistors. Device Physics, Modeling and Simulation. Springer New York, NY, 2006. ISBN 0-387-28003-3
- [39] J. Knoch, W. Riess, and J. Appenzeller, "Outperforming the Conventional Scaling Rules in the Quantum-Capacitance Limit," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 372–374, 2008. doi: 10.1109/LED.2008.917816

- [40] W. Wang, C. Hinkle, E. Vogel, K. Cho, and R. Wallace, "Is interfacial chemistry correlated to gap states for high-k/III–V interfaces?" *Microelectronic Engineering*, vol. 88, no. 7, pp. 1061–1065, 2011. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mee.2011.03.053 Proceedings of the 17th Biennial International Insulating Films on Semiconductor Conference. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0167931711003121
- [41] W. Kao, A. Ali, E. Hwang, S. Mookerjea, and S. Datta, "Effect of interface states on sub-threshold response of III–V MOSFETs, MOS HEMTs and tunnel FETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 54, no. 12, pp. 1665–1668, 2010. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sse.2010.07.018. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038110110003047
- [42] S. M. Sze and M. K. Lee, Semiconductor Devices: Physics and Technology, 3rd ed. John Wiley and Sons Inc, 2012. ISBN 978-0470-53794-7
- [43] G. Baum and H. Beneking, "Drift velocity saturation in MOS transistors," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 481–482, 1970. doi: 10.1109/T-ED.1970.17014
- [44] C. B. Zota, L.-E. Wernersson, and E. Lind, "Conductance quantization in quasi-ballistic InGaAs nanowire MOSFETs," in 2015 73rd Annual Device Research Conference (DRC), 2015. doi: 10.1109/DRC.2015.7175667 pp. 257– 258.
- [45] F. Assad, Z. Ren, S. Datta, M. Lundstrom, and P. Bendix, "Performance limits of silicon MOSFET's," in *International Electron Devices Meeting* 1999. *Technical Digest (Cat. No.99CH36318)*, 1999. doi: 10.1109/IEDM.1999.824213 pp. 547–550.
- [46] A. Svizhenko and M. Anantram, "Role of scattering in nanotransistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 1459–1466, 2003. doi: 10.1109/TED.2003.813503
- [47] G. Sai-Halasz, M. Wordeman, D. Kern, E. Ganin, S. Rishton, D. Zicherman, H. Schmid, M. Polcari, H. Ng, P. Restle *et al.*, "Design and experimental technology for 0.1-µm gate-length low-temperature operation FET's," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 8, no. 10, pp. 463–466, 1987. doi: 10.1109/EDL.1987.26695
- [48] K. Natori, "Ballistic MOSFET reproduces current-voltage characteristics of an experimental device," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 655–657, 2002. doi: 10.1109/LED.2002.803765

- [49] Kenji Natori, "Nonideality of drain electrode and ballistic performance of MOSFET," Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 54, no. 4, p. 044102, mar 2015. doi: 10.7567/JJAP.54.044102. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.7567/JJAP.54.044102
- [50] M. S. Lundstrom and D. A. Antoniadis, "Compact Models and the Physics of Nanoscale FETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 225–233, 2014. doi: 10.1109/TED.2013.2283253
- [51] M. Lundstrom and Z. Ren, "Essential physics of carrier transport in nanoscale MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 133–141, 2002. doi: 10.1109/16.974760
- [52] J. F. Wager, "Real- and reciprocal-space attributes of band tail states," *AIP Advances*, vol. 7, no. 12, p. 125321, 12 2017. doi: 10.1063/1.5008521.
 [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5008521
- [53] R. G. Zaynobidinov, S. Ikramov and R. M. Jalalov, "Urbach energy and the tails of the density of states in amorphous semiconductors," *Journal of Applied Spectroscopy*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 223–227, May 2011. doi: 10.1007/s10812-011-9450-9. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10812-011-9450-9
- [54] A. Kamgar, "Subthreshold behavior of silicon MOSFETs at 4.2 K," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 537–539, 1982. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(82)90052-1. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0038110182900521
- [55] I. M. Hafez, G. Ghibaudo, and F. Balestra, "Assessment of interface state density in silicon metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors at room, liquidnitrogen, and liquid-helium temperatures," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 1950–1952, 02 1990.
- [56] F. Balestra and G. Ghibaudo, "Physics and performance of nanoscale semiconductor devices at cryogenic temperatures," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 32, no. 2, p. 023002, jan 2017. doi: 10.1088/1361-6641/32/2/023002. [Online]. Available: https: //dx.doi.org/10.1088/1361-6641/32/2/023002
- [57] H. Homulle, L. Song, E. Charbon, and F. Sebastiano, "The Cryogenic Temperature Behavior of Bipolar, MOS, and DTMOS Transistors in Standard CMOS," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 6, pp. 263– 270, 2018. doi: 10.1109/JEDS.2018.2798281
- [58] P. Van Mieghem, "Theory of band tails in heavily doped semiconductors," Rev. Mod. Phys., vol. 64, pp. 755-793, Jul 1992. doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.64.755. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/RevModPhys.64.755

- [59] S. Cristoloveanu and G. Ghibaudo, "Breaking the subthreshold slope limit in MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 198, p. 108465, 2022. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sse.2022.108465. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0038110122002362
- [60] D. B. Suyatin, C. Thelander, M. T. Björk, I. Maximov, and L. Samuelson, "Sulfur passivation for ohmic contact formation to InAs nanowires," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 18, no. 10, p. 105307, feb 2007. doi: 10.1088/0957-4484/18/10/105307. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1088/0957-4484/18/10/105307
- [61] J. Ahn, T. Kent, E. Chagarov, K. Tang, A. C. Kummel, and P. C. McIntyre, "Arsenic decapping and pre-atomic layer deposition trimethylaluminum passivation of Al2O3/InGaAs(100) interfaces," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 103, no. 7, p. 071602, 08 2013. doi: 10.1063/1.4818330. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4818330
- [62] E. J. Kim, L. Wang, P. M. Asbeck, K. C. Saraswat, and P. C. McIntyre, "Border traps in Al2O3/In0.53Ga0.47As (100) gate stacks and their passivation by hydrogen anneals," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 1, p. 012906, 01 2010. doi: 10.1063/1.3281027. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3281027
- [63] J. Hu and H.-S. Philip Wong, "Effect of annealing ambient and temperature on the electrical characteristics of atomic layer deposition Al2O3/In0.53Ga0.47As metal-oxide-semiconductor capacitors and MOSFETs," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 111, no. 4, p. 044105, 02 2012. doi: 10.1063/1.3686628. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3686628
- [64] J. Shabani, M. Kjaergaard, H. J. Suominen, Y. Kim, F. Nichele, K. T. Stankevic, R. M. Lutchyn, Pakrouski, P. Krogstrup, R. Feidenhans'l et al., "Two-dimensional epitaxial superconductorplatform for semiconductor heterostructures: А topological superconducting networks," Phys. Rev. B, vol. 93, p. 155402, Apr 2016. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.93.155402. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.93.155402
- [65] J. G. Fiorenza, J.-S. Park, J. Hydrick, J. Li, J. Li, M. Curtin, M. Carroll, and A. Lochtefeld, "Aspect Ratio Trapping: A Unique Technology for Integrating Ge and III-Vs with Silicon CMOS," *ECS Transactions*, vol. 33, no. 6, p. 963, oct 2010. doi: 10.1149/1.3487628. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10.1149/1.3487628

- [66] J. Sun, Z. Chen, S. Zhou, Y. Sun, Z. Liu, C. Chen, Y. Liu, Y. Sun, M. Wang, S. Xie *et al.*, "Vertical sidewall of silicon nitride mask and smooth surface of etched-silicon simultaneously obtained using CHF3/O2 inductively coupled plasma," *Vacuum*, vol. 207, p. 111650, 2023. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vacuum.2022.111650. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0042207X22007722
- [67] M. Borg, L. Gignac, J. Bruley, A. Malmgren, S. Sant, C. Convertino, M. D. Rossell, M. Sousa, C. Breslin, H. Riel *et al.*, "Facetselective group-iii incorporation in ingaas template assisted selective epitaxy," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 30, no. 8, p. 084004, dec 2018. doi: 10.1088/1361-6528/aaf547. [Online]. Available: https://dx.doi.org/10. 1088/1361-6528/aaf547
- [68] C. Crowell, "The Richardson constant for thermionic emission in Schottky barrier diodes," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 395–399, 1965. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(65)90116-4.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/0038110165901164
- [69] B. Feng, S. Huang, J. Wang, D. Pan, J. Zhao, and H. Q. Xu, "Schottky barrier heights at the interfaces between pure-phase InAs nanowires and metal contacts," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 119, no. 5, p. 054304, 02 2016. doi: 10.1063/1.4941391. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.4941391
- M. Noguchi, K. Hirakawa, and T. Ikoma, "Intrinsic electron accumulation layers on reconstructed clean InAs(100) surfaces," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 66, pp. 2243–2246, Apr 1991. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.66.2243. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.66.2243
- [71] L. O. Olsson, C. B. M. Andersson, M. C. Håkansson, J. Kanski, L. Ilver, and U. O. Karlsson, "Charge Accumulation at InAs Surfaces," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 76, pp. 3626–3629, May 1996. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.76.3626. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/ doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.76.3626
- [72] S.-H. Kim, G.-S. Kim, S.-W. Kim, and H.-Y. Yu, "Effective Schottky barrier height lowering technique for InGaAs contact scheme: DMIGS and Dit reduction and interfacial dipole formation," *Applied Surface Science*, vol. 453, pp. 48–55, 2018. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsusc.2018.05.070.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169433218313643

- [73] M. Speckbacher, J. Treu, T. J. Whittles, W. M. Linhart, X. Xu, K. Saller, V. R. Dhanak, G. Abstreiter, J. J. Finley, T. D. Veal *et al.*, "Direct Measurements of Fermi Level Pinning at the Surface of Intrinsically n-Type InGaAs Nanowires," *Nano Letters*, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 5135–5142, 2016. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b02061. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b02061
- [74] A. Marsh, D. A. Williams, and H. Ahmed, "Supercurrent transport through a high-mobility two-dimensional electron gas," *Phys. Rev. B*, vol. 50, pp. 8118–8121, Sep 1994. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.50.8118.
 [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevB.50.8118
- [75] E. H. Hall, "On a New Action of the Magnet on Electric Currents," American Journal of Mathematics, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 287–292, 1879. [Online]. Available: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2369245
- [76] L. Van der Pauw, "A method of measuring specific resistivity and Hall effect of discs of arbitrary shape," *Philips Research Reports*, vol. 13, pp. 1–9, Feb 1958.
- [77] D. Schroder, Semiconductor Material and Device, 3rd ed. Wiley-IEEE Press, 2006.
- [78] H. Lippmann and F. Kuhrt, "The Geometrical Influence on the Transverse Magnetoresistance Effect for Rectangular Semiconductor Plates, (in German)," Z. Naturforsch, vol. 13a, pp. 462–474, 1958.
- [79] T. Jervis and E. Johnson, "Geometrical magnetoresistance and hall mobility in gunn effect devices," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 181–189, 1970. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-1101(70)90049-3.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0038110170900493
- [80] L. Thevenod, M. Cassé, W. Desrat, M. Mouis, G. Reimbold, D. K. Maude, and F. Boulanger, "Magnetoresistance mobility extraction on TiN/HfO2/SiO2 metal-oxide-semiconductor field effect transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 90, no. 15, p. 152111, 04 2007. doi: 10.1063/1.2721363. [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1063/1.2721363
- [81] J. Franco, J.-F. de Marneffe, A. Vandooren, Y. Kimura, L. Nyns, Z. Wu, A.-M. El-Sayed, M. Jech, D. Waldhoer, D. Claes *et al.*, "Atomic Hydrogen Exposure to Enable High-Quality Low-Temperature SiO2 with Excellent pMOS NBTI Reliability Compatible with 3D Sequential Tier Stacking," in 2020 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2020. doi: 10.1109/IEDM13553.2020.9372054 pp. 31.2.1–31.2.4.

- [82] S. Alam, M. A. Jahangir, and A. Aziz, "A Compact Model for Superconductor- Insulator-Superconductor (SIS) Josephson Junctions," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 41, no. 8, pp. 1249–1252, 2020. doi: 10.1109/LED.2020.3002448
- [83] S. Whiteley, "Josephson junctions in SPICE3," IEEE Transactions on Magnetics, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 2902–2905, 1991. doi: 10.1109/20.133816
- [84] J. A. Delport, K. Jackman, P. l. Roux, and C. J. Fourie, "JoSIM—Superconductor SPICE Simulator," *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 1–5, 2019. doi: 10.1109/TASC.2019.2897312
- [85] B. Kousar, D. J. Carrad, L. Stampfer, P. Krogstrup, J. Nygård, and T. S. Jespersen, "InAs/MoRe Hybrid Semiconductor/Superconductor Nanowire Devices," *Nano Letters*, vol. 22, no. 22, pp. 8845–8851, 2022. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c02532
- [86] V. Arun, N. Agrawal, G. Lavallee, M. Cantoro, S.-S. Kim, D.-W. Kim, and S. Datta, "Investigation of InxGa1xAs FinFET architecture with varying indium (x) concentration and quantum confinement," in 2014 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI-Technology): Digest of Technical Papers, 2014. doi: 10.1109/VLSIT.2014.6894372 pp. 1–2.

APPENDICES

A

Fabrication of Near-Surface Quantum Well Devices

N this appendix, a detailed step-by-step process flow for fabrication of near-surface quantum well devices is presented. The intention is to provide researchers with the details required to reproduce the devices investigated in this thesis, but also facilitate the transfer of knowledge to future Ph.D. students in order to avoid the "reinvention of the wheel".

STARTING WAFER

A wafer with layer stack according to Table A.1 is used. The wafers are ordered from *Intelligent Epitaxy Technology, Inc.*, and the layers are grown by Molecular-Beam Epitaxy (**MBE**). The wafer stack is designed to maximize the carrier concentration in the high In part of the composite channel, resulting in high electron carrier mobility [86]. The purpose of the highly doped n+InGaAs is to reduce the contact resistance.

GATE LENGTH DEFINITION

1. Organic cleaning

- 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
- 3 min in Isopropanol (IPA) using ultra-sonic bath

2. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 200°C for 5 min
- Spin coat adhesion promoter SurPass 4000 at 3000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 30 s
- Rinse in H₂O for 1 min

Layer	Material	x	Thickness (Å)	Dopant	Level (cm^{-3})	Туре
10	In _x Ga _{1-x} As	0.63	250	Si	$4.0 imes10^{19}$	n+
9	In _x Ga _{1-x} As	0.53	200	Si	$4.0 imes10^{19}$	n+
8	InP		60	Si	$1.0 imes10^{19}$	n+
7	InP		10			i
6	$In_xGa_{1-x}As$	0.53	30			i
5	$In_xGa_{1-x}As$	0.80	50			i
4	$In_xGa_{1-x}As$	0.53	40			i
3	$In_{x}Al_{1-x}As \\$	0.52	30			i
2	$In_{x}Al_{1-x}As$	0.52	30	Si	$1.0 imes10^{19}$	n+
1	$In_xAl_{1-x}As$	0.52	1900			i
Substrate	S.I. InP					

Table A.1: Layer stack of starting wafer.

- Prebake on a hot plate at 180°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist PMMA 950 A4 at 4500 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 180°C for 2 min and 15 s

3. Electron-Beam Lithography (EBL) exposure

- Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
- Aperture: 30 µm
- Writefield size: 500 µm
- Area step size: 5 nm
- Area base dose: 720 μC/cm²
- Line step size: 2 nm
- Line base dose: 1200 pC/cm

4. Resist development

- 90 s in Methyl Isobutyl Ketone (MIBK):IPA (1:3)
- 30 s in **IPA**

5. Oxygen plasma ashing and post baking

- 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- Postbake on a hot plate at 115°C for 10 min
- 6. Recess etch
 - 45 s in H₃PO₄:H₂O₂:H₂O (1:1:25)

- 1 min in H₂O
- 7 s in HCl:H₂O (1:1)
- 1 min in H_2O
- 7. Strip etch mask
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 1 min in **IPA**
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

MESA DEFINITION

- 1. Resist application
 - Prebake on a hot plate at 115°C for 5 min
 - Spin coat S1813 at 5000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
 - Postbake on a hot plate at 115°C for 90 s

2. Maskless Aligner (MLA) exposure

- Dose: 200 mJ/cm²
- Defocus: 0
- Laser wavelength: 405 nm

3. Resist development and post baking

- 50 s in MF319
- 1 min in H₂O
- Postbake on a hot plate at 120°C for 15 min

4. Oxygen plasma ashing

- 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Mesa etching
 - 45 s in H₃PO₄:H₂O₂:H₂O (1:1:25)
 - 1 min in H₂O
 - 7 s in HCl:H₂O (1:1)
 - 1 min in H₂O
 - 200 s in H₃PO₄:H₂O₂:H₂O (1:1:25)
 - 1 min in H_2O

6. Strip etch mask

- 30 min in Remover 1165 on a hot plate at 90°C
- 2 min in H_2O
- 1 min in **IPA**
- 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF SOURCE AND DRAIN CONTACTS

1. **Resist application**

- Prebake on a hot plate at 180°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist PMMA 950 A4 at 4500 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 180°C for 2 min and 15 s

2. EBL exposure

- Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
- Aperture: 30 µm
- Writefield size: 300 µm
- Area step size: 5 nm
- Area base dose: $720 \ \mu C/cm^2$

3. Resist development

- 90 s in MIBK:IPA (1:3)
- 30 s in **IPA**

4. Oxygen plasma ashing

• 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

5. Removal of native oxide

- 20 s in HCl:H₂O (1:20)
- 30 s in H₂O
- 6. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/40 nm)
- 7. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60° C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in **IPA** using ultra-sonic bath

8. Oxygen plasma ashing

• 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF SOURCE AND DRAIN MEASUREMENT PADS

1. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 110°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist ma-N 440 at 6000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 45 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 95°C for 3 min

2. MLA exposure

- Dose: 2000 mJ/cm²
- Defocus: 0
- Laser wavelength: 375 nm

- 3. Development
 - 105 s in developer ma-D 532/s
 - 1 min in H₂O
- 4. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Removal of native oxide
 - 20 s in HCl:H₂O (1:20)
 - $30 \text{ s in } H_2O$
- 6. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/300 nm)
- 7. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in IPA using ultra-sonic bath
- 8. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

GATE OXIDE DEPOSITION

- 1. Organic cleaning
 - 2 min in acetone
 - 2 min in **IPA**
- 2. Ozone cleaning
 - 8 min ozone cleaning at 500 sccm O₂ flow
- 3. Sulfur passivation
 - 20 min in (NH₄)₂S:H₂O (1:1)
 - 7 s in H₂O
- 4. Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD)
 - 5 cycles of Trimethylaluminum (TMAI) at 300°C
 - 7 cycles of Al₂O₃ at 300°C
 - 100 cycles of HfO₂ at 120°C

DEFINITION OF GATE MEASUREMENT PAD

- 1. Resist application
 - Prebake on a hot plate at 110°C for 5 min
 - Spin coat resist ma-N 440 at 6000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 45 s
 - Postbake on a hot plate at 95°C for 3 min

2. MLA exposure

- Dose: 2000 mJ/cm²
- Defocus: 0
- Laser wavelength: 375 nm

3. Development

- 105 s in developer ma-D 532/s
- 1 min in H₂O
- 4. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/300 nm)
- 6. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in IPA using ultra-sonic bath
- 7. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF HIGH- κ ETCH MASK

- 1. Resist application
 - Prebake on a hot plate at 115°C for 5 min
 - Spin coat resist S1813 at 5000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
 - Postbake on a hot plate at 115°C for 90 s
- 2. MLA exposure
 - Dose: 200 mJ/cm²
 - Defocus: 0
 - Laser wavelength: 405 nm

3. Development and post baking

- 50 s in developer MF319
- 1 min in H₂O
- Postbake on a hot plate at 120°C for 15 min

4. Oxygen plasma ashing

- 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. High- κ etch
 - 8 min in Buffered Oxide Etchant (BOE) 10:1
 - 1 min in H₂O
- 6. Strip etch mask

- 30 min in Remover 1165 on a hot plate at $90^{\circ}C$
- 2 min in H_2O
- 1 min in **IPA**
- 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

ANNEALING

- 1. Rapid Thermal Process (RTP) annealing
 - 5 min in forming gas (N $_2/H_2$, 95/5%) at 350°C

B

Fabrication of Lateral Nanowire Devices

N this appendix, a detailed step-by-step process flow for fabrication of lateral nanowire devices is presented. The intention is to provide researchers with the details required to reproduce the devices investigated in this thesis, but also facilitate the transfer of knowledge to future Ph.D. students in order to avoid the "reinvention of the wheel".

STARTING WAFER

The wafer used for the fabrication of lateral nanowire device, is a (100) InP:Fe wafer ordered from *InPACT*. The epitaxial growth is performed in-house, using an Aixtron 200/4 MOCVD system.

NANOWIRE DEFINITION

- 1. Organic cleaning
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in Isopropanol (IPA) using ultra-sonic bath

2. Ozone cleaning

- 10 min ozone cleaning at 500 sccm O₂ flow
- 3. Resist application
 - Prebake on a hot plate at 200°C for 5 min
 - Spin coat resist 2% Hydrogen Silsesquioxane (**HSQ**) at 6000 rpm (2000 rpm/s) for 60 s
 - Postbake on a hot plate at 200°C for 2 min
- 4. Electron-Beam Lithography (EBL) exposure

- Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
- Aperture: 30 µm
- Writefield size: 300 µm
- Area step size: 2 nm
- Area base dose: 1500 $\mu C/cm^2$

5. Resist development

- 90 s in Tetramethylammonium Hydroxide (TMAH) (25%) on hot plate at $40^\circ C$
- 1 min in H_2O
- 30 s in **IPA**

6. Baking and surface cleaning

- 60 min in O₂ at 350°C
- 20 s in HF:H₂O (1:1000)
- 30 s in H₂O

7. Nanowire growth

- Selective Area Epitaxy (SAE) of 4 nm InP at 600°C
- **SAE** of 13 nm InGaAs at 600°C

8. Strip HSQ and contrast enhancement

- 4 min in Buffered Oxide Etchant (BOE) 10:1
- 1 min in H₂O
- 1 min in **IPA**
- 4 s in HCl:H₂O (1:1)
- 1 min in H₂O
- 1 min in **IPA**

DEFINITION OF RAISED n+ CONTACTS

1. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 200°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist 2% HSQ at 6000 rpm (2000 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 200°C for 2 min

2. EBL exposure

- Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
- Aperture: 30 µm
- Writefield size: 300 µm
- Area step size: 8 nm
- Area base dose: 1500 μ C/cm²
- 3. Resist development

- 90 s in **TMAH** (25%) on hot plate at 40° C
- 1 min in H₂O
- 30 s in **IPA**
- 4. Contact regrowth
 - SAE of 25 nm Sn-doped InGaAs n+ at 600°C
- 5. Strip HSQ
 - 4 min in **BOE** 10:1
 - 1 min in H₂O
 - 1 min in **IPA**

DEFINITION OF MESA

1. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 200°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist FOx-15 at 6000 rpm (2000 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 200°C for 2 min
- 2. EBL exposure
 - Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
 - Aperture: 40 µm
 - Writefield size: 300 µm
 - Area step size: 8 nm
 - Area base dose: 1500 μ C/cm²

3. Resist development and post baking

- 2 min in TMAH (25%) at room temperature
- 1 min in H₂O
- 30 s in **IPA**
- Postbake on a hot plate at 200°C for 5 min

4. Mesa etch

- 35 s in H₃PO₄:H₂O₂:H₂O (1:1:25)
- 1 min in H₂O
- 4 s in HCl:H₂O (1:1)
- 1 min in H_2O
- 30 s in **IPA**

5. Deposition of Si₃N₄

- Plasma-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition (PECVD) of 14 nm $\rm Si_3N_4$ at 200°C
- 6. Strip HSQ and "lift-off" of Si_3N_4
 - 100 s in **BOE** 10:1
- 1 min in H₂O
- 30 s in **IPA**

7. Digital etch

- 8 min ozone cleaning at 500 sccm O₂ flow
- 15 s in HCl:H₂O (1:10)
- 30 s in H₂O
- 30 s in **IPA**

DEFINITION OF SOURCE AND DRAIN CONTACTS

1. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 180°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist PMMA 950 A4 at 4500 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 180° C for 2 min and 15 s

2. EBL exposure

- Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
- Aperture: 30 µm
- Writefield size: 300 µm
- Area step size: 5 nm
- Area base dose: 720 $\mu C/cm^2$

3. Resist development

- 90 s in Methyl Isobutyl Ketone (MIBK):IPA (1:3)
- 30 s in **IPA**
- 4. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

5. Removal of native oxide

- 20 s in HCl:H₂O (1:20)
- 30 s in H₂O
- 6. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/40 nm)
- 7. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in **IPA** using ultra-sonic bath

8. Oxygen plasma ashing

• 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF SOURCE AND DRAIN MEASUREMENT PADS

- 1. Resist application
 - Prebake on a hot plate at 110°C for 5 min
 - Spin coat resist ma-N 440 at 6000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 45 s
 - Postbake on a hot plate at 95°C for 3 min

2. Maskless Aligner (MLA) exposure

- Dose: 2000 mJ/cm²
- Defocus: 0
- Laser wavelength: 375 nm
- 3. Development
 - 105 s in developer ma-D 532/s
 - 1 min in H₂O
- 4. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Removal of native oxide
 - 20 s in HCl:H₂O (1:20)
 - 30 s in H₂O
- 6. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/300 nm)
- 7. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in **IPA** using ultra-sonic bath
- 8. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

GATE OXIDE DEPOSITION

- 1. Organic cleaning
 - 2 min in acetone
 - 2 min in IPA
- 2. Ozone cleaning
 - 8 min ozone cleaning at 500 sccm O₂ flow
- 3. Sulfur passivation
 - 20 min in (NH₄)₂S:H₂O (1:1)
 - 7 s in H₂O
- 4. Atomic Layer Deposition (ALD)
 - 5 cycles of Trimethylaluminum (TMAI) at 300°C

- 7 cycles of Al₂O₃ at 300°C
- 100 cycles of HfO₂ at 120°C

DEFINITION OF GATE CONTACT

1. **Resist application**

- Prebake on a hot plate at 180°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist PMMA 950 A4 at 4500 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 180°C for 2 min and 15 s

2. EBL exposure

- Acceleration voltage: 50 kV
- Aperture: 30 µm
- Writefield size: 300 µm
- Area step size: 5 nm
- Area base dose: 720 μ C/cm²
- 3. Resist development
 - 90 s in **MIBK**:**IPA** (1:3)
 - 30 s in **IPA**

4. Oxygen plasma ashing

- 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/40 nm)
- 6. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in **IPA** using ultra-sonic bath
- 7. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF GATE MEASUREMENT PADS

1. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 110°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist ma-N 440 at 6000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 45 s $\,$
- Postbake on a hot plate at 95°C for 3 min
- 2. MLA exposure
 - Dose: 2000 mJ/cm²
 - Defocus: 0

- Laser wavelength: 375 nm
- 3. Development
 - 105 s in developer ma-D 532/s
 - 1 min in H_2O
- 4. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Evaporation
 - Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/300 nm)
- 6. Lift-off
 - 15 min in acetone on a hot plate at 60°C
 - 3 min in acetone using ultra-sonic bath
 - 3 min in **IPA** using ultra-sonic bath
- 7. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF HIGH-\kappa ETCH MASK

- 1. Resist application
 - Prebake on a hot plate at 115°C for 5 min
 - Spin coat resist S1813 at 5000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
 - Postbake on a hot plate at 115°C for 90 s
- 2. MLA exposure
 - Dose: 200 mJ/cm²
 - Defocus: 0
 - Laser wavelength: 405 nm

3. Development and post baking

- 50 s in developer MF319
- 1 min in H_2O
- Postbake on hot plate 120°C for 15 min
- 4. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. High- κ etch
 - 8 min in **BOE** 10:1
 - 1 min in H₂O
- 6. Strip etch mask
 - 30 min in Remover 1165 on a hot plate at 90°C
 - 2 min in H₂O
 - 1 min in **IPA**

• 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

ANNEALING

- 1. Rapid Thermal Process (RTP) annealing
 - 5 min in forming gas (N $_2$ /H $_2$, 95/5%) at 350°C

С

Fabrication of Vertical Nanowire Devices using TASE

N this appendix, a detailed step-by-step process flow for fabrication of vertical nanowire devices using TASE is presented. The intention is to provide researchers with the details required to reproduce the devices investigated in this thesis, but also facilitate the transfer of knowledge to future Ph.D. students in order to avoid the "reinvention of the wheel".

STARTING WAFER

In this process, we are flexible with the starting wafer, and in principle, any substrate can be used. Usually, we start with a standard SiO_2 coated Si wafer. The epitaxial growth is performed in-house, using an Aixtron CCS MOCVD system.

LAYER STACK DEFINITION

- 1. Deposition of bottom contact
 - Sputter 50 nm W at 100 W DC-power and 16 sccm Ar flow
- 2. Deposition of etch stop
 - 60 cycles Al₂O₃ at 250°C
- 3. Deposition of Si₃N₄
 - Plasma-Enhanced Chemical Vapor Deposition (PECVD) of 400 nm Si_3N_4 at 200°C
- 4. Deposition of Cr hard mask
 - Evaporation of 12 nm Cr

DEFINITION OF GROWTH TEMPLATE

- 1. Resist application and Electron-Beam Lithography (EBL) exposure
 - Spin coat with 230 nm AR-P resist (Performed at Chalmers)
 - EBL exposure and resist development (Performed at Chalmers)
- 2. Oxygen plasma ashing
 - 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 3. Pattern transfer into Cr mask
 - Inductively Coupled Plasma (ICP) Reactive Ion Etching (RIE) of Cr
 - Flows: Cl₂/O₂ (20/2 sccm)
 - **ICP** power: 800 W
 - Radio-Frequency (RF) power: 10 W
 - Pressure: 10 mTorr
- 4. Strip resist
 - 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, without cage
 - 5 min in Remover AR600-71
 - 1 min in H₂O
 - 30 s in Isopropanol (IPA)
 - 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, without cage

5. Pattern transfer into Si₃N₄

- ICP-RIE of Si₃N₄
- Flows: SF₆/N₂ (25/25 sccm)
- **ICP** power: 400 W
- **RF** power: 25 W
- Pressure: 5 mTorr

6. Remove Cr hard mask

- 15 min O₂ plasma in TEPLA using 800 W power
- 3 min in Cr etchant
- 3 min in H₂O
- 7. Remove etch stop
 - 30 s in Buffered Oxide Etchant (BOE) 10:1
 - 1 min in H₂O
- 8. Remove W oxide
 - 30 s in NH₄OH:H₂O (1:5) at 80° C

NANOWIRE GROWTH

1. Nucleation step

• Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy (**TASE**) at 450°C using a low precursor flow and V/III ratio

2. Template filling

• TASE at 450°C using a high precursor flow and V/III ratio

VIA FORMATION TO BOTTOM CONTACT

1. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 115°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist S1813 at 5000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 115°C for 90 s

2. Maskless Aligner (MLA) exposure

- Dose: 200 mJ/cm²
- Defocus: 0
- Laser wavelength: 405 nm

3. Development and post baking

- 50 s in developer MF319
- 1 min in H₂O
- Postbake on hot plate 120°C for 15 min

4. Oxygen plasma ashing

- 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 5. Si₃N₄ etch
 - ICP-RIE of Si₃N₄
 - Flows: SF₆/N₂ (25/25 sccm)
 - ICP power: 400 W
 - **RF** power: 25 W
 - Pressure: 5 mTorr

6. Remove etch stop

- 30 s in **BOE** 10:1
- 1 min in H_2O

7. Strip resist

- 30 min in Remover 1165 on a hot plate at 90°C
- 2 min in H₂O
- 1 min in **IPA**
- 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

DEFINITION OF CONTACTS

1. Removal of native oxide

- 20 s in HCl:H₂O (1:20)
- 30 s in H₂O
- 2. Deposition of metal
 - Sputter 10/150 nm Ni/Au at 100 W DC-power and 9 sccm Ar flow

3. Resist application

- Prebake on a hot plate at 115°C for 5 min
- Spin coat resist S1813 at 5000 rpm (1500 rpm/s) for 60 s
- Postbake on a hot plate at 115°C for 90 s

4. MLA exposure

- Dose: 200 mJ/cm²
- Defocus: 0
- Laser wavelength: 405 nm

5. Development and post baking

- 50 s in developer MF319
- 1 min in H₂O
- Postbake on hot plate 120°C for 15 min

6. Oxygen plasma ashing

- 1 min O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage
- 7. Etch Au
 - 30 s in Au etchant
 - 1 min in H₂O

8. Strip resist

- 30 min in Remover 1165 on a hot plate at 90°C
- 2 min in H₂O
- 1 min in **IPA**
- 30 s O₂ plasma at 5 mbar, with cage

9. Etch Ni using Au as etch mask

- 100 s in H₂O:H₂SO₄:HNO₃:CH₃COOH (15:1:2.5:2.5)
- 1 min in H_2O

D

Summary of Extracted R_{C} and μ_{EFF}

N this appendix, a summary of the extracted contact resistance (R_C) for different semiconductor/metal combinations is presented, along with extracted values of the effective mobility (μ_{EFF}), see Table D.1. For the samples in this summary, the semiconductor stack is grown in-house, using an Aixtron 200/4 MOCVD system. The growth is performed at 600°C, and the substrate used is a (100) InP:Fe wafer from *InPACT*. The intention is to provide a transfer of knowledge to future Ph.D. students.

8		-		
Semiconductor	Metal stack	Precleaning	$R_C(\Omega \mu m)$	$\mu_{\rm EFF}({\rm cm^2/Vs})$
Undoped InGaAs	Ti/Pd/Au	HCl:H ₂ O (1:20)	800	2100
Undoped InGaAs	Ti/Al/Ti/Pd/Au	HCl:H ₂ O (1:20)	15000	1700
Undoped InGaAs	Ti/Al/Ti/Pd/Au	$(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$ (1:1)	9000	1900
n+ InGaAs	Ti/Pd/Au	HCl:H ₂ O (1:20)	20	
n+ InGaAs	Ti/Al/Ti/Pd/Au	$(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$ (1:1)	5	
n+ InGaAs	Мо	HCl:H ₂ O (1:20)	200	

Table D.1: Summary of $R_{\rm C}$ extracted from Transfer Length Method (**TLM**) measurements, together with $\mu_{\rm EFF}$ extracted from $R_{\rm ON}$ versus $L_{\rm G}$.

PAPERS

Paper I

Paper I

<u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, L. SÖDERGREN, M. BORG, AND E. LIND, "Optimization of Near-Surface Quantum Well Processing," *Physica Status Solidi* (A) Applications and Materials Science, vol. 218, no. 7, pp. 2000720, January 2021, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000720.



Optimization of Near-Surface Quantum Well Processing

Patrik Olausson, Lasse Södergren, Mattias Borg, and Erik Lind*

Herein, an optimized process flow of near-surface quantum well metal–oxide– semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs) based on planar layers of metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy (MOVPE) grown $\ln_x Ga_{1-x}As$ is presented. It is found that by an optimized pre-growth cleaning and post-metal anneal, the quality of the MOS structure can be greatly enhanced. This optimization is a first step toward realization of a scalable platform for topological qubits based on a well-defined network of lateral $\ln_x Ga_{1-x}As$ nanowires grown by selective area growth.

1. Introduction

The processing of near-surface quantum wells is of great interest for high-frequency III–V field-effect transistors (FETs), where near-surface quantum well metal–oxide–semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs) have potential to replace high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs). For short-channel FETs, the cutoff frequency is inversely proportional to the gate capacitance, C_g , which consists of the sum of an intrinsic gate–source capacitance.^[1]

$$C_{\rm g} = C_{\rm g,intrinsic} + C_{\rm g,parasitic} \approx \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm barrier} L_{\rm g}}{t_{\rm barrier}} + C_{\rm g,parasitic} \tag{1}$$

Here, e_{barrier} is the dielectric constant of the barrier between channel and gate contact, L_{G} is the gate length, and t_{barrier} is the thickness of the barrier. A large $e_{\text{barrier}}/t_{\text{barrier}}$ ratio is, therefore, preferred to reduce the influence of parasitic capacitances. The inherent structure of a MOSFET, where the channel is separated

DOI: 10.1002/pssa.202000720

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (1 of 7)

from the gate only by a thin gate oxide, is, thus, beneficial compared with a buried channel in HEMTs.

Another interesting application of nearsurface quantum wells is in topological quantum devices. An exciting solid-state approach using near-surface quantum wells is Majorana-based qubits in which the quantum information is encoded in delocalized fermionic states. This way of encoding the qubits has a great advantage compared with other suggested platforms, which often suffer from short coherence times. As the

quantum information is encoded in delocalized states, it will be protected against local perturbations and, thus, has a potential of very long coherence times.^[2] However, even though the state is protected against local perturbations, it is possible to manipulate the state by physical exchange (braiding) of Majoranas, which is due to their non-abelian statistics.^[3] It has been shown theoretically that Majorana quasiparticles will arise if a Josephson junction consisting of a 1D semiconductor sandwiched between two superorbit interaction.^[4,5] One requirement for reaching the topological phase is the closing and reopening of the superconducting gap. The superconducting gap is closed by the magnetic field, which breaks the Cooper pairs by aligning the electron spins, and the reopening then requires strong spin–orbit interaction to prevent the alignment of electron spins.^[6]

Processing of near-surface quantum wells based on semiconductors with high mobility and strong spin-orbit coupling, such as InGaAs or pure InAs, is, thus, very interesting for highfrequency applications and Majorana-based quantum devices.

A well-defined network of lateral InGaAs nanowires has potential as an easily scalable system for topological qubits. One method of forming a branched nanowire network is through selective area growth, where a hard mask is used to pattern the growth.^[7] This requires epitaxial growth utilizing only an ultrathin buffer layer. Residual oxides and impurity atoms at the substrate surface can then lead to poor material quality, as well as strong unintentional doping at the interface.

Optimization of near-surface quantum well processing compatible to selective area growth of lateral $\ln_x Ga_{1-x}As$ nanowires is, therefore, a prerequisite to investigate the potential of this system as a platform for topological qubits. Here, the quality of near-surface $\ln_x Ga_{1-x}As$ quantum wells grown on InP substrates is investigated, by varying the pre-growth treatment and post-metal anneal. The samples are evaluated by electrical characterization of MOSFET devices and evaluated in terms of subthreshold slope (SS) and mobility. The interface defect density on the top surface is particularly important to control, for minimal scattering and excellent electrostatic control of the quantum well potential.

@ 2021 The Authors. physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH

P. Olausson, L. Södergren, Prof. M. Borg, Prof. E. Lind Department of Electrical and Information Technology Lund University Box 118, Lund SE-221 00, Sweden E-mail: erik.lind@eit.lth.se P. Olausson, L. Södergren, Prof. M. Borg, Prof. E. Lind NanoLund Lund University Box 118, Lund SE-221 00, Sweden

The ORCID identification number(s) for the author(s) of this article can be found under https://doi.org/10.1002/pssa.202000720.

^{© 2021} The Authors, physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made.



www.advancedsciencenews.com

2. Results

Figure 1 shows the minimum SS for different pre-growth cleaning procedures prior to post-metal annealing (PMA). The samples are named by indium content (InXX) and InGaAs thickness (t = YY nm). The mean value and 95% confidence interval are shown for each sample. It is clear that cleaning before growth will give rise to a decreased SS as compared to performing no cleaning at all. An insufficient clean of the InP prior to growth can lead to a high background electron concentration resulting in poor SS due to the induced second channel at the InP/InGaAs interface. A defect-rich InP surface can also give poor growth quality, leading to a large amount of interface defects (Dit) at the upper quantum well surface. In general, all the etchants improve the performance of the devices, resulting in a lower average SS and smaller device-to-device variation. Sulphur passivation ((NH₄)₂S:H₂O (1:1) for 20 min) is the cleaning procedure, which stands out here, with the lowest mean SS = 135 mVdecade⁻¹. This cleaning procedure, however, leads to a very low $I_{\rm on} \approx 5 imes 10^{-7} \, {\rm A} \, {\rm \mu m^{-1}}$, approximately a factor of 10 lower than the other samples, possibly indicating a defect-rich material. From atomic force microscopy (AFM) investigation, see Figure 2, step-flow growth is confirmed regardless if no cleaning, diluted hydrofluoric acid (HF 1:100), or (NH₄)₂S: H₂O (1:1) are used prior growth. The root mean squared (RMS) roughness is 126, 118, and 136 pm, respectively, for these three cases. However, if the substrate is cleaned using (NH₄)₂S: H₂O (1:1), evenly distributed dots appear on the surface; see



Figure 1. SS for different pre-growth cleaning procedures. The mean SS and 95% confidence interval are shown for each sample. For all samples, five to ten devices were measured, except for the In0.63, t= 13 nm sample with lowest SS cleaned using HF 1:1000 for which 96 devices were measured. It is clear that cleaning before growth improves SS, which could indicate a reduction of donor-like defects at the substratebuffer layer interface.

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (2 of 7)



Figure 2d. The source of these dots is not further investigated in this study, but it could be related to a precipitation process, in which solid material is formed in the solution $((NH_4)_2S)$: H_2O (1:1)) and then transferred to the sample surface. Due to these effects, this cleaning procedure was rejected. Another important aspect is that the cleaning procedure should not significantly etch hydrogen silsesquioxane (HSQ) resist, which has been successfully used as growth mask for selective area growth of lateral nanowires.^[8] A significant drawback of HCl cleaning is that it etches InP (etch rate for HCl 1:1 is $\approx 4 \text{ nm s}^{-1}$), which could compromise the adhesion of HSQ. The etch rate, however, quickly decreases with decreasing HCl concentration.^[9] HF etching before growth seems to give a better slope than if NH4OH is used. In addition, it has been shown that the diluted HF can improve HSQ processing by removing residues caused by proximity effect and improve the contrast on the edges of HSO lines.^[10] Therefore, cleaning the substrate using HF gives the added benefit of removing HSQ residues caused by proximity effect and possibly also decreases the line edge roughness of HSQ patterns. Thus, HF etching (HF 1:1000) is chosen as the most promising cleaning procedure of the ones investigated here.

In Figure 3a, the effect of PMA temperature on SS is shown for four different samples, which all had pre-growth clean using HF 1:1000. Evidently, the PMA process improves SS dramatically. Several studies have shown that annealing of InGaAs/ HfO2, InGaAs/Al2O3, or InGaAs/(Al2O3/ HfO2) stacks in gas mixtures containing hydrogen leads to a significant reduction of $D_{\rm th}^{[11-15]}$ which is explained by hydrogen passivation of defects in the oxide and interface states.^[12] Increasing the annealing temperature tends to further improve SS. In addition, the spread between devices on the same sample also decreases, at least up to 350 °C annealing temperature. However, as shown in Figure 3b, above 350 °C some devices degrade, which could be related to diffusion at the semiconductor-high-k interface and crystallization of the relatively thick HfO2 layer. At this high annealing temperature, the number of fixed charges close to the InGaAs channel could be increased due to the formation of Ga-O and decomposition of As-O and In-O, leading to more Coulomb scattering and lower mobility.^[16] As the PMA is performed at the end of the device processing, the contacts are also annealed. At the annealing temperatures above \approx 400 °C, degradation of the contacts is observed, probably due to Ti diffusion into the semiconductor leading to the formation of TiAs, whereas As and In are diffusing out from the bulk semiconductor leading to the formation of Ga-rich $In_xGa_{1-x}As$ and metallic In.^[17] The optimal PMA temperature if Pd is included in the metal stack seems to be somewhere between 350 °C and 400 °C.

The concentration of interface defects (D_{it}) can be estimated from

$$SS = \frac{kT}{q} \ln(10) (C_{\rm ox} + qD_{\rm it}) / C_{\rm ox}$$
⁽²⁾

using the minimum SS. Using Equation (2). In0.76, t = 17 nm (see Figure 3), sample with $SS_{\rm min} \approx 76 \,\mathrm{mV}\,\mathrm{decade}^{-1}$, $D_{\rm it} \approx 3 \times 10^{12} {\rm eV}^{-1} {\rm cm}^{-2}$, gives which is consistent with Dit obtained from C-V $(2 \times 10^{12} \text{ to } 4 \times 10^{12} \text{ eV}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-2})$. According to the literature,^[18]

© 2021 The Authors. physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH



Figure 2. AFM images taken after growth of 4 nm InP followed by 13 nm InGaAs at 600 °C. a) No cleaning was performed before growth. b,c) Cleaning was performed using HF 1:100 and (NH₄)₂S:H₂O (1:1), respectively. In all three cases, step-flow growth occurs, and the degree of step bunching is similar in all cases. The main difference is the occurrence of evenly distributed dots on sample (c), which is clearly visible in (d). These dots could be the reason to the poor electrical performance of this sample.

the concentration of interface defects at the InGaAs–Al₂O₃ interface varies between $4\times10^{11}eV^{-1}cm^{-2}$ and $3\times10^{13}eV^{-1}cm^{-2}$, which also is in line with the value obtained in this work.

Figure 3c,d displays the extracted field-effect mobility and contact resistance obtained by fitting Equation (3) (see the Experimental Section) to the transfer characteristics. The mean value and 95% confidence interval are shown for each sample, and the mobility obtained from Hall measurements is indicated by a red star for the sample with 13 nm thick In0.71Ga0.29 As annealed at 350 °C. Both thickness and In content were determined by X-ray diffraction assuming a fully strained InGaAs layer. The Hall factor is defined as the ratio between Hall mobility and field-effect mobility and is between 1.2 and 1.25 for InGaAs at room temperature.^[19] Using the highest and lowest field-effect mobility in the confidence interval (sample In0.71, t = 13 nm, see Figure 3c), we get a Hall factor between 0.91 and 3.24. The quite large spread of the Hall factor indicates some uncertainty in obtaining the field-effect mobility. The main factors influencing the field-effect mobility when extracting it from Equation (3) are Dit and contact resistance. Dit is accounted for in Cit, and the contact resistance is the second fitting parameter when extracting the field-effect mobility. The Hall mobility obtained here is consistent with previous works.^[20] It is, however, interesting to note that the mobility is higher for samples with higher In content, which is in line with the fact that InAs has higher electron mobility than GaAs. In Figure 3d, the mean value of the fitted contact resistance, which is positive for all samples, is plotted together with a 95% confidence interval. Due to the uncertainty in extracting the resistance, some error bars reach negative values.

Further analysis of mobility and PMA temperature dependence is performed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). The ANOVA analysis shows for all samples a 95% significant improvement of the mobility after PMA at 400 °C. For sample In0.76, t = 17 nm, a 95% significant improvement is achieved already at 300 $^\circ\text{C}$ PMA, whereas 400 $^\circ\text{C}$ is needed for the other samples. A comparison of the mean value of the field-effect mobility before and after PMA at 400 °C is shown in Figure 4 for samples of varying In content and InGaAs thickness. As already evident in Figure 3c, a higher In content gives a higher mobility. Samples with equal In content (In0.76, t = 17 nm and In0.76, t = 13 nm) have almost the same mobility before PMA, but the sample with thinner In0,76Ga0.24As shows a greater enhancement. This is not surprising, because a thinner Ino 76Gao 24As layer means more electron transport close to the surface, and therefore, the improved surface quality achieved by the PMA process will have a greater impact on the mobility.

Figure 5 shows the transfer characteristics of a sample, which was cleaned before growth using HF 1:1000 and has a 13 nm thick $In_{0.71}Ga_{0.29}As$ layer. After annealing at 350 °C, the gate modulation is greatly improved, with a mean SS improving from

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (3 of 7)

© 2021 The Authors. physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH



Figure 3. a) SS as a function of annealing temperature. Annealing leads to lower SS, and higher annealing temperature tends to further improve SS. b) One of the samples (In0.71, t = 13 nm) is plotted in linear scale indicating a minimum SS at 350 °C. c, d) The extracted mobility and contact resistance are shown as a function of PMA temperature. The mean value and 95% confidence interval are shown for each sample, and the mobility obtained from Hall measurements is included by a red star in (c) for the sample with 13 nm thick In_{0.71}Ga_{0.29} As layer annealed at 350 °C. For all samples, five devices were measured to get the mean value.



Figure 4. Comparison of mobility for samples with different In contents and channel thicknesses before and after PMA at 400 °C. The height of the bars corresponds to the mean value of the mobility. For all samples, five devices were measured to get the mean value. Higher In content gives rise to a higher mobility both before and after PMA. The annealing process has a greater impact on samples with thinner InGaAs layers, which is because more of the electron transport is close to the surface, and the improvement of the surface quality, thus, has a larger impact.

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (4 of 7)

227 mV decade⁻¹ to 84 mV decade⁻¹. A V_T shift also occurs, shifting the mean V_T from -0.23 to 0.17 V, and the V_T spread is decreased. Before annealing, a 95% confidence interval of V_T is between -0.28 and -0.18 V, and after annealing, this interval is between 0.15 and 0.19 V, reducing the spread by a factor of 2.5. Both improved gate modulation and increased V_T are consistent with the effect of PMA on buried InGaAs channels.^[21] The minimum off-state current decreases with device width indicating that surface leakage in the surrounding InP can be limiting for $W = 6 \ \mu m$. In **Figure 6**, transfer characteristics at 13 K are shown. The slope naturally becomes steeper compared with at room temperature because of the lower thermal energy of the electrons, and $SS = 17 \ mV$ decade⁻¹ as the best. The off-state leakage current is at the measurement noise floor, which indicates a suppressed surface leakage in the InP.

3. Conclusion

We have optimized the processing of near-surface quantum well devices as well as characterized the material quality of metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy (MOVPE) grown $\ln_x Ga_{1-x}As$ on $\ln P$ (100). Pre-growth cleaning is vital avoiding donor defects at the interface between substrate and epitaxial layers and, thus, counteracts the gate effect. Pre-growth cleaning also reduces the number of defects at the $\ln GaAs/Al_2O_3$ interface and, therefore, improves the gate modulation and SS. HF 1:1000 is a

© 2021 The Authors. physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH



Figure 5. Transfer characteristics (normalized by L_{c} /W) before and after annealing (5 min in forming gas N₂/H₂, 95/5%) at 350 °C. The different curves correspond to devices with different gate lengths (L_{c}), ranging from L_{c} =6 to 30 µm. The gate width is a) 6 µm and b) 70 µm.



Figure 6. Transfer characteristics at T = 13 K (normalized by L_G/W) after annealing (5 min in forming gas N₂/H₂, 95/5%) at 350 °C. The different curves correspond to devices with different gate lengths (L_G), ranging from $L_G = 6$ to 30 µm. The gate width is a) 6 µm and b) 70 µm.

suitable choice for the pre-growth cleaning, because it is compatible with HSQ to be used as mask for selective growth and may even improve the quality of the HSQ patterns. In all cases, it is important to perform PMA to improve both SS and mobility further. PMA may reduce the number of defects in the gate oxide, but too high (>400 °C) annealing temperature will lead to worse SS possibly related to interdiffusion across the InGaAs/Al₂O₃ interface. In the current device process, PMA will also degrade the contacts if performed at temperatures above \approx 400 °C, due to interdiffusion between metal and semiconductor.

This optimization is a first step toward realization of a scalable platform for topological qubits based on a well-defined network of lateral $In_xGa_{1-x}As$ nanowires grown by selective area growth.

4. Experimental Section

InGaAs quantum wells were formed on InP:Fe (100) substrates by MOVPE. Prior to growth, the substrates were cleaned by ozone for 10 min at room temperature after which various pre-growth etching procedures, as tabulated in **Table 1**, were explored to obtain as clean and pristine surface as possible. Both HCI- and HF-based etchants have been shown to effectively remove epi-ready oxide on InP:Fe (100) substrates.^[22] The wet etches are performed ex situ, and the samples are then transferred to an Aixtron 200/4 MOVPE within 2 min. The in situ HCI etchants are

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (5 of 7)

 $\ensuremath{\textbf{Table 1.}}\xspace$ Pre-growth etch procedures used to reduce the effect of impurities at the substrate.

Etchants	Etch time
HCI 1:10	1 min
HCI 1:100	1 min
In situ HCl 450 °C	30 s
In situ HCl 500 °C	30 s
HF 1:100	3 min
HF 1:1000	20 s
(NH ₄) ₂ S	20 min
NH₄OH	1 min

performed inside the MOVPE by flowing 2 sccm HCl at 100 mbar for 30 s. After the pre-growth etch step, a thin (4 nm) InP buffer layer is grown by MOVPE followed by growth of an In_xGa_{1-x}As layer, where in different samples, the In content and thickness are varied between x = 0.63 and x = 0.76 and the thicknesses between 13 and 17 nm. The growth of both InP and InGaAs is performed at 600 °C and 100 mbar using trimethylgallium (Ga(CH₃)₃), trimethylindium (In(CH₃)₃), arsine (AsH₃), and phosphine (PH₃) as precursors, with H₂ as carrier gas. A schematic of the sample structure after growth is shown in **Figure 7**a. After growth, devices

© 2021 The Authors. physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH



Figure 7. Schematics showing the sample structure after a) growth and b,c) processing, a) Material stack after growth. b) Cross section of finished device. c) Finished device, where source (S), drain (D), and gate contacts are labeled.

are fabricated into MOSFETs, with the gate lengths varying between 6 and 30 µm and the gate widths of 6–70 µm. Devices are electrically isolated by forming a mesa by UV lithography and wet etching (H3PO4:H2O2:H2O (1:1:25) followed by HCI:H2O (1:1)). Source and drain electrodes are defined by UV lithography, electron beam evaporation (Ti/Pd/Au or Ti/Au), and liftoff in acetone. For simplicity, the first devices were fabricated using Ti/Au contacts, but due to degradation of the contacts during annealing, Pd was later added to the metal stack acting as a diffusion barrier. The total contact resistance of source and drain can be estimated to pprox10 k Ω μ m before annealing but is reduced after annealing; see Figure 3d. The large contact resistance originates from that the contacts are formed directly on the undoped thin quantum well. Cleaning and passivation of the InGaAs surface are performed by 8 min ozone cleaning at room temperature followed by immersion in (NH₄)₂S:H₂O (1:1) for 20 min just prior deposition of the gate oxide, consisting of Al2O3/HfO2 (1/10 nm) deposited by thermal ALD at 300 and 100 °C, respectively. The thin interfacial layer of $\mathsf{Al}_2\mathsf{O}_3$ provides a high-quality interface to the semiconductor and reduced D_{it} , which also should improve SS.^[23] A bilayer of Al₂O₃ and a high-k dielectric such as HfO_2 will, thus, provide low D_{it} in combination with a low equivalent oxide thickness (EOT).^[24] The deposited oxide gives an oxide capacitance of $C_{\rm ox} \approx 1.45 \,\mu{\rm F}\,{\rm cm}^{-2}$, which were determined by C– V measurements. A metal gate (Ti/Pd/Au or Ti/Au) is then fabricated by UV lithography and electron beam evaporation, and PMA is finally performed in forming gas (N₂/H₂, 95/5%) for 5 min. A schematic of a finished device is shown in Figure 7b,c.

As a first metric, the devices are evaluated on terms of their SS. Further characterization of selected samples is performed by AFM and low-temperature electrical characterization at 13 K. Field-effect mobility and contact resistance are also extracted by fitting the drain current of a long channel FET with source resistance, as given in the following equation

$$I_{d} = \frac{\mu_{n}C_{g}W(V_{gs} - V_{T})^{2}}{2L_{G}(1 + \mu_{n}C_{g}\frac{W}{L_{c}}R_{S}(V_{gs} - V_{T}))}$$
(3)

to the transfer characteristics. Here, μ_n is the electron mobility, C_g is the gate capacitance (calculated using $C_{\alpha x}$ obtained from C-V measurements and considering the channel quantum capacitance (C_q), the centroid capacitance (C_q), and the capacitance due to interface states (C_{rd}), W is the gate width, V_{gs} is the gate–source voltage, V_T is the threshold voltage, L_C is the gate length, and R_S is the contact resistance. Equation (3) assumes a constant mobility, so it is an estimate of the field effect. A comparison with the more accurate measurement of Hall mobility is also made for one sample.

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (6 of 7)

Acknowledgements

This work was supported in part by the Swedish Research Council, in part by NanoLund, and in part by the European Union H2020 program SEQUENCE (Grant No. 871764).

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Data Availability Statement

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

Keywords

InGaAs, metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors, metalorganic vapor-phase epitaxy, mobility, quantum wells

Received: November 16, 2020 Revised: December 21, 2020 Published online: February 1, 2021

- F. Schwierz, in 2008 9th Int. Conf. on Solid-State and Integrated-Circuit Technology, IEEE, Piscataway, NJ 2008, pp. 1433–1436.
- [2] C. Nayak, S. H. Simon, A. Stern, M. Freedman, S. Das Sarma, *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2008, *80*, 1083.
- [3] M. Leijnse, K. Flensberg, Semicond. Sci. Technol. 2012, 27, 124003.
 [4] R. M. Lutchyn, J. D. Sau, S. Das Sarma, Phys. Rev. Lett. 2010, 105,
- 077001. [5] Y. Oreg, G. Refael, F. von Oppen, Phys. Rev. Lett. 2010, 105, 177002.
- [6] R. Aguado, L. P. Kouwenhoven, *Phys. Today* **2020**, *73*, 44.
- [7] R. L. M. Op het Veld, D. Xu, V. Schaller, M. A. Verheijen, S. M. E. Peters,
- J. Jung, C. Tong, Q. Wang, M.WA. de Moor, B. Hesselmann, K. Vermeulen, J. D. S. Bommer, J. S. Lee, A. Sarikov, M. Pendharkar, A. Marzegalli, S. Koelling, L. P. Kouwenhoven, L. Miglio, C. J. Palmstrøm, H. Zhang, E. P. A. M. Bakkers, *Commun. Phys.* **2020**, **3**, 59.

© 2021 The Authors. physica status solidi (a) applications and materials science published by Wiley-VCH GmbH



- www.advancedsciencenews.com
- [8] C. B. Zota, G. Roll, L. Wernersson, E. Lind, in *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, Vol. 61, IEEE, Piscataway, NJ 2014, pp. 4078-4083.
- [9] S. das Neves, M.-A. De Paoli, J. Electrochem. Soc. 1993, 140, 2599.
- [10] B. Chang, Doctoral thesis, Technical University of Denmark, 2018.
- É. O'Connor, S. Monaghan, R. D. Long, A. O'Mahony, I. M. Povey, K. Cherkaoui, M. E. Pemble, G. Brammertz, M. Heyns, S. B. Newcomb, V. V. Afanas'ev, P. K. Hurley, *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2009**, 94, 102902.
- [12] E. J. Kim, L. Wang, P. M. Asbeck, K. C. Saraswat, P. C. McIntyre, Appl. Phys. Lett. 2010, 96, 012906.
- [13] B. Shin, J. R. Weber, R. D. Long, P. K. Hurley, C. G. Van de Walle, P. C. McIntyre, Appl. Phys. Lett. 2010. 96, 152908.
- [14] C. B. Zota, C. Convertino, D. Caimi, M. Sousa, L. Czornomaz, in 2019 Joint Int. EUROSOI Workshop and Int. Conf. on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (EUROSOI-ULIS), IEEE, Piscataway, NJ 2019, pp. 1-4.
- [15] Y. Hwang, R. Engel-Herbert, N. G. Rudawski, S. Stemmer, J. Appl. Phys. 2010, 108, 034111.
- [16] J. Huang, N. Goel, P. Lysaght, D. Veksler, P. Nagaiah, S. Oktyabrsky, J. Price, H. Zhao, Y. T. Chen, J. C. Lee, J. C. Woicik, P. Majhi, P. D. Kirsch,

R. Jammy, in Proc. of 2011 Int. Symp. on VLSI Technology, Systems and Applications, IEEE, Piscataway, NJ 2011, pp. 1-2.

- [17] D. G. Ivey, P. Jian, R. Bruce, G. Knight, J. Mater. Sci.: Mater. Electron. 1995, 6, 219.
- [18] D. Veksler, P. Nagaiah, T. Chidambaram, R. Cammarere, V. Tokranov, M. Yakimov, Y.-T. Chen, J. Huang, N. Goel, G. Bersuker, C. Hobbs, P. D. Kirsch, S. Oktyabrsky, J. Appl. Phys. 2012, 112, 054504.
- [19] K. Bhattacharyya, J. O. Orwa, S. M. Goodnick, J. Appl. Phys. 1993, 73, 4396.
- [20] L. Södergren, N. Sri Garigapati, M. Borg, E. Lind, Appl. Phys. Lett. 2020. 117, 013102.
- [21] Q. Li, X. Zhou, C. W. Tang, K. M. Lau, in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, Vol. 60, IEEE, Piscataway, NJ 2013, pp. 4112-4118.
- [22] O. Pluchery, Y. J. Chabal, R. L. Opila, J. Appl. Phys. 2003, 94, 2707.
- [23] H. C. Chiu, L. T. Tung, Y. H. Chang, Y. J. Lee, C. C. Chang, J. Kwo, M. Hong, Appl. Phys. Lett. 2008, 93, 202903.
- [24] R. Suzuki, N. Taoka, M. Yokoyama, S. Lee, S. H. Kim, T. Hoshii, T. Yasuda, W. Jevasuwan, T. Maeda, O. Ichikawa, N. Fukuhara, M. Hata, M. Takenaka, S. Takagi, *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2012**, *100*, 132906.

Phys. Status Solidi A 2021, 218, 2000720

2000720 (7 of 7)

Paper II

Paper II

<u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, R. YADAV, R. TIMM, AND E. LIND, "Low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing of InGaAs MOSFETs," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 055001, March 2023, doi: 10.1088/1361-6641/acc08c.

Semicond. Sci. Technol. 38 (2023) 055001 (8pp)

Low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing of InGaAs MOSFETs

Patrik Olausson^{1,2,*}⁽⁰⁾, Rohit Yadav^{2,3}, Rainer Timm^{2,3} and Erik Lind^{1,2}⁽⁰⁾

¹ Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, Box 118, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

² NanoLund, Box 118, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

³ Division of Synchrotron Radiation Research, Lund University, Box 118, 22100 Lund, Sweden

E-mail: patrik.olausson@eit.lth.se

Received 16 October 2022, revised 1 February 2023 Accepted for publication 2 March 2023 Published 15 March 2023



Abstract

Recent work showing a strong quality improvement of the Si/SiO₂ material system by low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing (AHA), and the fact that III–V semiconductors outperform Si in many applications makes the investigation of AHA on III–V/high-k interfaces to a very interesting topic. In this work, the potential of AHA as a low temperature annealing treatment of InGaAs metal–oxide–semiconductor field-effect transistors is presented and compared to conventional annealing in a rapid thermal process (RTP) system using forming gas. It is found that post metal annealing in atomic hydrogen greatly enhances the quality of the metal–oxide–semiconductor structure in terms of effective mobility, minimum subthreshold swing, and reliability. The device performance is comparable to RTP annealing but can be performed at a lower temperature, which opens up for integration of more temperature-sensitive materials in the device stack.

Keywords: InGaAs, MOSFETs, atomic hydrogen annealing, subthreshold swing, effective mobility, reliability

(Some figures may appear in colour only in the online journal)

1. Introduction

Today's digitalized society relies on the advancement of silicon complementary metal oxide semiconductor (CMOS) technology, but the limitations of down-scaling in combination with the rapidly increasing demand for added functionality not easily achieved in Si has pushed efforts to development of III–V semiconductor technology. The direct bandgap and higher carrier mobility of III–Vs would enable for high performance optoelectronic and high frequency applications

* Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

Original content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI. [1, 2]. Further, the ability to form highly-transparent interfaces to superconducting electrodes, as well as large spin–orbit interaction, make narrow bandgap III–Vs interesting for emerging quantum technologies [3, 4].

In III–V metal–oxide–semiconductor field-effect transistor (MOSFET) technology, the gate oxide is usually deposited using atomic layer deposition (ALD). ALD provides the possibility to deposit a gate oxide with high dielectric constant and thus a low equivalent oxide thickness (EOT). A bilayer of Al₂O₃/HfO₂ provides a high-quality interface to the semiconductor combined with a low EOT [5]. However, one of the key issues with III–V/high-k interfaces is to reduce the amount of interface traps, oxide traps and charged defects leading to degraded device performance. This is in general more difficult as compared with Si technology, due to complex oxides formed by the presence of several atomic species, as well as lower thermodynamic stability of III–Vs as compared with Si.

1

The density of interface traps (D_{it}) is one limiting factor of the device performance in terms of the subthreshold swing (SS), see equation (1)

$$SS = \frac{kT}{q} \ln \left(10 \right) \left(C_{\text{ox}} + qD_{\text{it}} \right) / C_{\text{ox}} \tag{1}$$

where, k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, q is the elementary charge, C_{ox} is the oxide capacitance and D_{it} is the density of traps which mainly originates from traps at the interface, as well as border traps. Also, a charged interface and border defects act as scattering centers, leading to increased channel scattering and reduced mobilities [6]. Reducing the effects of such defects are of importance to obtain high quality device operation, with high mobility and low subthreshold swings.

However, several studies have shown that annealing of InGaAs/HfO2, InGaAs/Al2O3 or InGaAs/(Al2O3/HfO2) stacks in gas mixtures containing hydrogen leads to a significant reduction of D_{it} [7–12] and increased mobility which can be explained by hydrogen passivating electrically-active border- and interface traps that inhibit Fermi level movement [8]. It has also been shown that hydrogen can passivate both O and Al dangling bonds, thus neutralizing fixed charges [9]. Even though annealing in gas mixtures containing hydrogen generally improves the device performance, III-Vs still suffer in device variability. This is due to the inability to realize high quality high-k and high-k/III-V interface at low annealing temperatures. In Si technology a high temperature reliability anneal at 900 °C is performed to yield high quality oxide and reliability. This can unfortunately not be performed in III-V technology due to their temperature sensitivity. It has however been shown that atomic hydrogen annealing (AHA), i.e. annealing a sample in a low pressure flow of hydrogen radicals, can greatly improve the oxide quality and reliability in Si/SiO2 material systems [13, 14]. AHA at as low temperature as 100 °C gives even higher oxide quality than annealing at 900 °C in molecular hydrogen [14]. AHA has also shown great impact on Ge/GeO2 interfaces [15]. So far the investigation of AHA in combination with III-Vs is lacking. Here, we investigate the potential of AHA as a low-temperature annealing process that possibly could give improved device performance and less device variability of III-V MOSFETs.

One application of III–V technology is as an add-on to silicon CMOS in the back-end-of-line (BEOL) for 3D heterogeneous integration. The BEOL technology has stringent demands on the temperature budget, which could fit well with the lower temperature used for III–V technologies. Thus, also a lowtemperature annealing process is required. The investigation in this paper is focused on the InGaAs material system but should be applicable to other III–Vs, for instance GaN, which is very interesting for high-power applications.

Here, we postulate and systematically investigate the use of AHA to lower the temperature needed during the annealing process of InGaAs MOSFETs. This is performed by fabrication and annealing of InGaAs MOSFETs. The device performance is evaluated in terms of SS and effective mobility, μ_n . The mobility is related to the conductivity, σ , according to (2), where n and p corresponds to the electron and hole carrier concentrations, and μ_n and μ_p corresponds to the mobility of electrons and holes respectively. Since our device is unipolar, (2), can be rewritten as (3), which shows that the conductivity is directly proportional to the extracted mobility:

C

$$\sigma = q \left(n\mu_n + p\mu_p \right) \tag{2}$$

$$\sigma = qn\mu_n.$$
 (3)

Investigation of threshold voltage ($V_{\rm T}$) shifts and reliability measurements have also been performed as well as the gate current dependence on annealing temperature. The device performance is greatly enhanced with a peak performance when AHA is performed at 250 °C for 30 min. The effective mobility and SS are comparable to if rapid thermal process (RTP) annealing in forming gas is performed at 350 °C. The lower annealing temperature makes it possible for integration of more temperature-sensitive materials in the device stack.

2. Method

The devices used for this study are junction-less InGaAs MOS-FETs fabricated on InP substrates. A schematic of the process flow is shown in figure 1.

Prior epitaxial growth, the substrate, InP:Fe (100), was cleaned using an optimized pre-growth cleaning procedure [16]. The substrates were cleaned by oxidation in ozone for 10 min followed by removal of the formed oxide by HF 1:1000 in order to get an as clean and pristine surface as possible. The epitaxial layers were then grown by metal organic vapor-phase epitaxy (MOVPE) in an Aixtron 200/4 reactor. After the pre-growth etch step, a thin (4 nm) InP buffer layer was grown followed by growth of an In_{0.71}Ga_{0.29}As layer (13 nm). The growth was performed at 600 °C and 100 mbar using trimethylgallium (Ga(CH₃)₃), trimethylindium (In(CH₃)₃), arsine (AsH₃) and phosphine (PH₃) as precursors, with H2 as carrier gas. MOSFETs were then fabricated, with varying gate lengths between 6 and 30 μ m and gate widths of 6 and 70 μ m. The devices were electrically isolated from each other by a mesa etch defined by UV lithography and wet etching (H3PO4:H2O2:H2O (1:1:25) followed by HCl:H₂O (1:1)). Source and drain electrodes were defined by UV-lithography, electron beam evaporation (Ti/Pd/Au) and lift-off in acetone. Before deposition of the gate oxide the samples were cleaned and the InGaAs surface passivated by 8 min ozone cleaning at room temperature followed by immersion in (NH₄)₂S:H₂O (1:1) for 20 min. The deposited gate oxide consisted of a bilayer of Al2O3/HfO2 (1/10 nm) deposited by thermal ALD at 300 °C and 120 °C, respectively. Then the gate metal was defined by UV lithography, electron beam evaporation (Ti/Pd/Au) and lift-off in acetone.



Figure 1. Schematic of the process flow of junction-less InGaAs MOSFETs. First a thin MOVPE grown layer of InP was grown on top of the InP substrate, followed by growth of the InGaAs channel. Next, a mesa etch was performed to electrically isolate the devices from each other (a). Then source and drain contacts were deposited by e-beam evaporation and lift-off (b). After passivation in $(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$ (1:1) the gate oxide was deposited by thermal ALD (c). Finally the gate contact was deposited followed by etching of high-k on top of source and drain contacts (d). Annealing was either performed after this step or before deposition of the gate oxide.



Figure 2. False colored SEM-images showing a finished device. The three terminals as well as the InGaAs channel and semi-insulating (SI) InP are indicated in the figures. The scale bar is 50 μ m in (a) and 5 μ m in (b).

For post deposition annealing (PDA) samples, AHA was performed before deposition of the gate electrode and for post metallization annealing (PMA) samples, AHA was performed after deposition of the gate electrode. A false colored SEM image of a finished device is shown in figure 2.

Fabricated devices were indium glued on a stainlesssteel sample plate and then transferred into a UHV chamber $(p < 10^{-9} \text{ mbar})$ for AHA. A beam of hydrogen radicals (H·) was created using a commercial thermal cracker (from MBE Komponenten GmbH), operating at a cracking temperature of 1700 °C–1730 °C with a H₂ base pressure of 2×10^{-6} mbar and mounted 15–20 cm above the sample. Devices were annealed at temperatures between 100 °C and 350 °C for time intervals between 20 and 60 min. Sample temperatures above

250 °C were measured directly using a pyrometer and temperatures below the pyrometer limit (T < 250 °C) were measured using a thermocouple connected to the sample plate, which was calibrated using the pyrometer at higher temperatures. For comparison, devices were also annealed in H₂ (without thermal cracker) and Ar gas environment.

The devices were electrically evaluated by extraction of SS and effective mobility. The effective mobility is obtained from the slope of a least squares linear fit to the on-resistance (R_{on}) versus gate length (L_g), fitted for devices with L_g between 6 and 30 μ m, see equation (4)

$$R_{\rm on} = \frac{C_{\rm g}\mu_n}{L_{\rm g}V_{\rm ov}} \tag{4}$$

where, $C_{\rm g} \sim 0.6 \ \mu {\rm F} {\rm cm}^{-2}$ is the gate capacitance and $V_{\rm ov}$ is the overdrive voltage (0.3 V). The devices were further investigated by reliability measurements, where the devices were stressed at a specific $V_{\rm ov}$ for 300 s and then the threshold voltage, $V_{\rm T}$, shift was measured. A fresh device was used for each stress voltage.

3. Results and discussion

The electrical characterization showed a great improvement of the device performance by AHA, with a peak $\mu_n \sim 4500 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ Vs}^{-1}$ and $SS \sim 100 \text{ to} \sim 110 \text{ mV/decade for}$ AHA performed at 250 °C for 30 min. This is 100 °C lower temperature than RTP annealing but gives comparable device performance. The thermionic limit of SS at room temperature is 60 mV/decade, and the higher extracted value here can be explained by the relatively thick gate oxide of ~ 10 nm. However, similar devices fabricated previously have measured SS below 80 mV/decade [16]. Please, note that in all figures (except figure 10) data from devices fabricated during different process runs are included. The devices are fabricated according to the same process scheme and should be very similar. The only parameter extracted that clearly depends on the specific process run is $V_{\rm T}$, which is very sensitive to the conditions in the ALD chamber during deposition of the high-k, which may vary slightly from run to run. The spread between devices from the same process run is however small. In figures 7 and figure 9 the different process runs are indicated to make this clear. Figure 3 shows the minimum SS (a) and effective mobility (b) for samples annealed in atomic hydrogen for 30 min at different temperatures. Both SS and μ_n are compared to samples annealed in a RTP system at 350 °C for 5 min in forming gas. A comparison between PMA and PDA is also included. Before annealing a 95% confidence interval gives SS from ~190 to ~200 mV/decade and μ_n from ~1200 to \sim 2300 cm² Vs⁻¹. It is clear that PMA gives better result than PDA both in terms of SS and effective mobility. The highest performance for PMA samples is at an annealing temperature of 250 °C, showing a strong improvement in mobility to $\mu_n \sim 4500 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ as well as a reduction in SS down to ~ 100 to ~ 110 mV/decade. The performance then decreases with higher temperature, which could be related to diffusion at the semiconductor/high-k interface and/or crystallization

of the relatively thick HfO₂. Especially for the PDA anneals both the mobility and SS degrades quickly for higher temperatures, and above 250 °C the PDA data shows very scattered R_{on} versus L_g which makes it impossible to reliably extract an effective mobility. At 250 °C the PMA AHA sample has comparable SS to the RTP annealed sample but even higher effective mobility. In the case of the mobility we only have one data point and no strong conclusion can be drawn, but this indicates that AHA could be a feasible route for passivation of interface defects at reduced temperatures.

To explore lower temperature budgets, in figure 4 even lower temperatures are investigated and the annealing time is kept constant at 20 min. The effective mobility and SS are shown as a function of annealing temperature. The device performance of the AHA samples are increasing with increasing annealing temperature up to 250 °C, giving SS down to ~100 mV/decade and $\mu_n \sim 2900 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$. But even at much lower temperature, $T = 150 \,^{\circ}$ C, there is a great improvement compared to before annealing which reduces SS ~120 to \sim 125 mV/decade and μ_n to \sim 2600 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹. The best values for SS at T = 250 °C is comparable to the RTP annealed samples while the maximum effective mobility is lower, but as we can see in figure 5 the maximum effective mobility for the AHA samples is after 30 min annealing. In figure 5 SS and effective mobility is plotted against annealing time for samples annealed at 250 °C. For AHA samples the performance improves until 30 min annealing and then starts to degrade, which again could be explained by diffusion at the semiconductor/high-k interface. After 30 min the performance is comparable to the RTP annealed sample but with higher effective mobility.

Figure 6 shows annealing in different atmospheres. Blue data points correspond to annealing at 250 °C for 20 min, while red data points correspond to RTP annealing for 5 min in forming gas, and black data points are measured before any annealing. It is clear that the performance is not improved as much if the annealing is performed in Ar compared to H₂ or H. This can be explained by the lack of hydrogen passivation of defects in the oxide and interface, and thus giving a smaller improvement of Dit, most likely originating from reduction of disorder in the oxide. Annealing in H2 or H. gives comparable SS but the effective mobility is slightly higher if the annealing is performed in H₂. The hydrogen radicals are extremely reactive and are expected to react with the first atom they hit. Even though there is a directed flux of H- towards the sample surface most of the H- will probably not reach the contact area as H. but rather as H2, which could explain the similar device performance. On the other hand the gate metal may act as a catalyst for splitting of H₂ molecules into H· [12, 17]. Therefore regardless if it is H. or H2 reaching the contact area H. will be formed and effectively passivate defects close to the semiconductor/high-k interface. This explanation is in line with the worse performance of the PDA samples, where the lack of a gate metal leads to less H. at the semiconductor/highk interface.

In figure 7 V_T for samples annealed in atomic hydrogen for 30 min at different temperatures is plotted and compared to samples annealed in RTP at 350 °C for 5 min in forming



Figure 3. Minimum *SS* (a) and effective mobility (b) for samples annealed in atomic hydrogen for 30 min. A comparison to samples annealed in RTP for 5 min in forming gas as well as a comparison between PMA and PDA is also included. It is clear that PMA gives better results than PDA both in terms of *SS* and effective mobility. Above 250 °C R_{on} versus L_g is just scattered data for PDA samples which makes it impossible to extract any effective mobility. PMA for 30 min at 250 °C in atomic hydrogen gives comparable performance to RTP annealing in forming gas at 350 °C for 5 min. Above 250 °C the performance decreases with increasing annealing temperature, which could be related to diffusion at the semiconductor/high-k interface and/or crystallization of the relatively thick HfO₂.



Figure 4. *SS* (circles) and effective mobility (stars) versus annealing temperature. The device performance of the AHA samples are increasing with increasing annealing temperature, and at 250 °C *SS* is comparable to *SS* of the RTP annealed samples. The effective mobility is however lower, but is comparable (even higher) if the annealing time is increased to 30 min, see figure 5.

gas. Note that the RTP samples correspond to three separate process runs clearly showing different $V_{\rm T}$, where the encircled data corresponds to the same process run as the AHA samples. A comparison between PMA and PDA is also included. For PMA samples annealed in H·, $V_{\rm T}$ seems to decrease with decreasing annealing temperature, and in figure 8 even lower temperatures are investigated, showing a further decrease in $V_{\rm T}$ until ~100 °C for AHA devices. Before annealing there is



Figure 5. SS (circles) and effective mobility (stars) versus annealing time for samples annealed at 250 °C. For AHA samples the performance improves until 30 min annealing and then starts to degrade, which could be explained by diffusion at the semiconductor/high-k interface. After 30 min AHA the performance is comparable to RTP annealing but with even higher effective mobility.

a big spread between devices which is reduced after annealing in H. From figure 7 it is also evident that V_T does not increase as much for the RTP samples which could be because of the short annealing time and insufficient time for diffusion, which is in line with our investigation of different annealing times, see figure 9. Also in figure 9 the RTP samples correspond to



Figure 6. SS (circles) and effective mobility (stars) for different annealing atmospheres. It is clear that the performance is not improved as much if the annealing is performed in Ar compared to H_2 or H. Which is because Ar is inert and will not passivate defects in the oxide and semiconductor/high-k interface. Annealing in H_2 or H. gives comparable SS but the effective mobility is higher if the annealing is performed in H_2 .



Figure 7. $V_{\rm T}$ for samples annealed in atomic hydrogen for 30 min at different temperatures is plotted and compared to samples annealed in RTP at 350 °C for 5 min in forming gas. For PMA samples annealed in H-, $V_{\rm T}$ seems to decrease with decreasing annealing temperature, which is in line with figure 8. $V_{\rm T}$ does not increase as much for the RTP samples which could be because of the short annealing time and insufficient time for diffusion. The RTP samples corresponds to the same run as the AHA samples.

three different process runs, where the encircled data is from the same process run as the AHA samples annealed for 30 and 60 min.

In figure 10 the reliability as obtained from positive bias temperature instability measurements before and after annealing is compared. The obtained V_T shifts can be well fitted with a standard power law expression. The reliability



P Olausson et a

Figure 8. $V_{\rm T}$ versus temperatures is investigated, showing a decrease in $V_{\rm T}$ for decreasing annealing temperature until ~100 °C. Before annealing there is a big spread between devices which is reduced after annealing.



Figure 9. $V_{\rm T}$ versus annealing time for PMA samples, showing an increased $V_{\rm T}$ with increasing annealing time. The RTP data corresponds to samples from three separate process runs, where the encircled data is from the same process run as the AHA samples annealed for 30 and 60 min.

measurement is performed by holding a specific V_{ov} for 300 s and then measure the V_T shift. From the power law fits, we obtain a reduction in traps by a factor 2 after AHA at 250 °C for 20 min. Both RTP and H₂ annealing gives worse reliability, whereas the exponent is close to 2 for all anneals, indicating no major change in the defect distribution. The slightly higher exponent for the AHA sample can indicate a more peaked defect distribution.

Another indication of the quality of the oxide is the gate current, which is plotted as a function of annealing temperature in figure 11. Here the gate current is plotted as a function of annealing temperature. As long as the AHA



Figure 10. Reliability before and after annealing. The solid lines correspond to power law fits to the data points. The V_T shift is measured after stressing at a specific V_{vv} for 300 s. The smaller V_T shift of the AHA annealed sample indicates a 50% reduction in the defect density at the oxide and semiconductor/high-k interface. The other two annealing procedures gives slightly higher V_T shifts after annealing.



Figure 11. Gate current versus annealing temperature. The gate current is low for AHA samples annealed at 250 °C but then increases, which could be due to crystallization of the gate oxide. However, the RTP annealed samples do not show any increased gate current, which could be due to the short annealing time and the oxide will thus not have time to crystalize.

temperature is below 250 °C the gate current overlaps with the gate current measured before annealing, but above 250 °C the gate current starts to increase. This can be explained by crystallization of the gate oxide and current leakage between the crystals. The RTP annealed samples on the other hand do not show any increased gate current even though the annealing temperature is 350 °C, which could be due to the short annealing time and the oxide will thus not have time to crystalize.

4. Conclusion

We have investigated the potential of AHA as a low temperature annealing process for InGaAs MOSFETs. The device performance is greatly improved by AHA and comparable to the performance obtained after RTP annealing in forming gas. We have also confirmed that the reliability is improved and the gate current is kept low if the AHA is performed at 250 °C for 20-30 min. The performance is highest when AHA is performed at 250 °C for 30 min. If the annealing time is shortened or the annealing temperature lowered there is not sufficient time and energy for fully hydrogen passivation of defects in the oxide and semiconductor/high-k interface leading to less improvement of effective mobility and SS. If the temperature is above 250 °C or annealing time longer than 30 min it instead leads to a degraded interface, probably originating from diffusion at the semiconductor/high-k interface and/or crystallization of the HfO2 leading to degraded device performance. The peak performance is obtained after AHA at 250 °C, which is 100 °C lower than if RTP annealing is performed. Thus, the use of AHA indeed results in a significant reduction of the annealing temperature while maintaining comparable device performance. This in addition to the improved reliability makes AHA an interesting treatment for future III-V integration in Si CMOS BEOL.

Data availability statement

The data that support the findings of this study are openly available at the following URL/DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7590357 [18].

Acknowledgments

This work was performed within the NanoLund Center for Nanoscience and was further supported by the Swedish Research Council (VR, projects 2016-6186, 2016-00891 and 2017-4108) and by the European Commission under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie Grant agreement No 945378 (Generation-Nano).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

ORCID iDs

Patrik Olausson () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1044-8947 Erik Lind () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5432-3479

References

 Mokkapati S and Jagadish C 2009 Mater. Today 12 22–32
 Leuther A, Koch S, Tessmann A, Kallfass I, Merkle T, Massler H, Loesch R, Schlechtweg M, Saito S and Ambacher O 2011 Int. Conf. on Indium Phosphide and Related Materials pp 20–23

- [3] Alicea J 2012. New directions in the pursuit of Majorana fermions in solid state systems (arXiv:1202.1293 [cond-mat.supr-con])
- [4] Mayer W, Yuan J, Wickramasinghe K S, Nguyen T, Dartiailh M C and Shabani J 2019 Appl. Phys. Lett. 114 103104
- [5] Suzuki R et al 2012 Appl. Phys. Lett. 100 132906
- [6] Nagaiah P, Tokranov V, Yakimov M, Koveshnikov S, Oktyabrsky S, Veksler D, Tsai W and Bersuker G 2010 J. Vac. Sci. Technol. B 28 3
- [7] O'Connor É *et al* 2009 *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **94** 102902
 [8] Kim E J, Wang L, Asbeck P M, Saraswat K C and
- [8] KIM E J, wang L, Asbeck P M, Saraswat K C and McIntyre P C 2010 Appl. Phys. Lett. 96 012906
- [9] Shin B, Weber J R, Long R D, Hurley P K, van de Walle C G and McIntyre P C 2010 Appl. Phys. Lett. 96 152908
- [10] Zota C B, Convertino C, Caimi D, Sousa M and Czornomaz L Effects of post metallization annealing on InGaAs-on-insulator MOSFETs on Si 2019 Joint Int. EUROSOI Workshop and Int. Conf. on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (EUROSOI-ULIS) (Grenoble, France) pp 1–4

- [11] Hwang Y, Engel-Herbert R, Rudawski N G and Stemmer S 2010 J. Appl. Phys. 108 034111
- [12] Hurley P K et al 2013 IEEE Trans. Device Mater. Reliab. 13 429–43
- [13] Cartier E, Stathis J H and Buchanan D A 1993 Appl. Phys. Lett. 63 1510
- [14] Franco J et al 2020 Atomic hydrogen exposure to enable high-quality low-temperature SiO₂ with excellent pMOS NBTI reliability compatible with 3D sequential tier stacking 2020 IEEE Int. Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM) (San Francisco, CA, USA) pp 31.2.1–4
- [15] Matsubara H, Sasada T, Takenaka M and Takagi S 2008 Appl. Phys. Lett. 93 032104
- [16] Olausson P, Södergren L, Borg M and Lind E 2021 Phys. Status Solidi a 218 2000720
- [17] Kim S K, Geum D-M, Lim H-R, Kim H, Han J-H, Hwang D K, Song J D, Kim H-J and Kim S 2019 Appl. Phys. Lett. 115 143502
- [18] Olausson P, Yadav R, Timm R and Lind E 2023 Low temperature atomic hydrogen annealing [Data set] Zenodo (https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.7590357)

Paper III

Paper III

Reproduced, with permission, from: IEEE

<u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Geometrical Magnetoresistance as a Tool for Carrier Mobility Extraction in InGaAs MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 5614-5618, November 2023, doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3318556.

© 2023 IEEE. Personal use is permitted, but republication/redistribution requires IEEE permission.



Geometrical Magnetoresistance as a Tool for Carrier Mobility Extraction in InGaAs MOSFETs

Patrik Olausson[®] and Erik Lind[®], *Member, IEEE*

Abstract-In this work, we for the first time show that the geometrical magnetoresistance (gMR) effect is a powerful tool for extracting the carrier mobility in diffusive InGaAs near-surface quantum well MOSFETs. The technique shows excellent agreement to Hall effect measurements, confirming its validity. In addition, the gMR approach is less time-consuming, is suitable for measurements directly on the FETs of interest, and works well even at low carrier concentrations. We investigate the temperature and gate dependence of the carrier mobility, from room temperature down to cryogenic temperatures. The peak gMR mobility for long-channel diffusive devices increases from ~4700 cm²/Vs at room temperature up to \sim 7300 cm²/Vs at 9.4 K. On the other hand, shortchannel quasi-ballistic devices show a low gMR mobility of ~2700 and ~3900 cm²/Vs at room temperature and 9.4 K, respectively. By comparing the extracted mobility from devices with different gate lengths and using quantum transport simulations, we address this drop in extracted gMR mobility to an increased degree of ballistic transport and display the limitations of the gMR method for quasiballistic transport.

Index Terms— Ballistic, carrier concentration, cryogenic, diffusive, Hall effect, InGaAs, magnetoresistance effect, mobility, MOSFET, quantum well, threshold voltage.

I. INTRODUCTION

THE carrier mobility is one of the most important properties of semiconductor material in field-effect transistors (FETs). Device performances, such as the high-frequency response and ON-resistance, are set by the mobility. The mobility is also important in more exotic applications, such as Majorana Fermion-based hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices for quantum computation [1], [2].

In this article, we are investigating the geometrical magnetoresistance (gMR) effect as a tool for carrier mobility

Manuscript received 29 June 2023; revised 21 August 2023; accepted 19 September 2023. Date of publication 4 October 2023, date of current version 24 October 2023. This work was supported in part by the NanoLund, in part by the Swedish Research Council under Grant 2016-00891, and in part by the European Union H2020 Program Sequence under Grant 871764. The review of this article was arranged by Editor A. J. Scholten. (*Corresponding author: Patrik Olausson.*)

The authors are with the Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, 221 00 Lund, Sweden, and also with the NanoLund, Lund University, 221 00 Lund, Sweden (e-mail: patrik.olausson@eil.lth.se).

Data is available on-line at URL/DOI: https://doi.org/10.5281/ zenodo.8093259.

Color versions of one or more figures in this article are available at https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2023.3318556.

Digital Object Identifier 10.1109/TED.2023.3318556

extraction. This technique has mainly been used for silicon on insulator (SOI)-MOSFETs [3], [4], [5], [6], [7], but also Si MOSFETs [8], InGaAs high-electron-mobility transistors (HEMTs) [9], graphene-based HEMTs [10], and GaN/AlGaN MOSFETs [7]. Here, we apply the gMR method for the first time on InGaAs MOSFETs.

The gMR approach has several advantages over the commonly used Hall effect measurements. For instance, it can be performed directly on the real FETs of interest, and in addition, the gMR measurements are very quick, since only one transfer measurement (I_d versus V_g) at each magnetic field is required. Another benefit of the gMR approach is that it gives reliable mobilities even at low carrier densities [3]. However, one drawback of the gMR technique is that the contact resistance is very important since it adds to the measured resistance, as well as that the standard analysis is assumed for purely diffusive transport.

II. DIFFUSIVE gMR

When a semiconductor is placed in a magnetic field, \vec{B} , the resistance is increased, due to the fact that the charge carriers experience the Lorentz force. The carriers will thus deviate from a straight traveling direction, giving a longer traveling distance and thus higher resistance. This effect is called the gMR effect. Due to scattering of the charge carriers, a third term within the relaxation approximation is added to the Lorentz force, which becomes

$$\vec{F} = q\vec{E} + q\vec{v} \times \vec{B} + \frac{m\vec{v}}{\tau} \tag{1}$$

where q is the charge of the charge carrier, \vec{E} is the electric field, \vec{v} is the velocity, m is the effective mass, and τ is the scattering time. If the device is long, a Hall voltage will build up between the edges along the traveling direction, due to the accumulation of charge carriers, but if the device is short compared to its width, the Hall voltage will be small and the ratio between the resistance without, R_0 , and with, R_B , applied magnetic field becomes in the following equation [11], [12]:

$$\frac{R_B}{R_0} = \frac{\rho_B}{\rho_0} \Big[1 + (\mu_{\rm gMR} B)^2 (1 - 0.54L/W) \Big]$$
(2)

where ρ_0 is the resistivity at zero magnetic field, ρ_B is the resistivity at magnetic field with magnitude B, μ_{gMR} is the gMR mobility, L is the length of the device, and W is the width of the device. MOSFETs have a small L/W ratio, and since the physical magnetoresistance (pMR) effect is typically

0018-9383 © 2023 IEEE. Personal use is permitted, but republication/redistribution requires IEEE permission. See https://www.ieee.org/publications/rights/index.html for more information.


Fig. 1. Schematic of the process flow. (a) First InGaAs n+ and InP is etched in the active region, followed by mesa etching down to the InP substrate. (b) Next, source/drain electrodes are deposited followed by the deposition of the thicker source/drain measurement pads. (c) Passivation in (NH₄)₂S:H₂O is then performed before deposition of high-*k*. (d) Finally, the gate pad is deposited, and high-*k* is etched on top of source/drain measurement pads.

small [13], the assumption $\rho_B/\rho_0 \approx 1$ is valid. Equation (2) can then be rewritten as

$$\frac{R_B}{R_0} \approx 1 + \left(\mu_{\rm gMR}B\right)^2 \tag{3}$$

from which μ_{gMR} is easily obtained by extracting the resistance from transfer characteristics at different applied magnetic fields, and fitting to (3), after removal of possible access and contact resistance.

For high mobility and short gate length devices, the near equilibrium electron transport is better described as ballistic or quasi-ballistic. In a transversal magnetic field, the cyclotron motions of the electrons will add to the formation of magnetic subbands, which will lead to a reduction in the amount of conducting modes M(B), increasing the effective device resistance. For devices suitable for diffusive gMR ($W \gg L$), the complex interplay between the cyclotron radius and the source/drain reservoirs makes it complicated to derive approximative M(B).

III. METHOD

InGaAs MOSFETs with raised n+ source and drain were fabricated. The channel consists of a composite InGaAs quantum well 3/5/4-nm-thick layers with an In composition 0.53/0.80/0.53. From eight band strain-dependent k-p modeling, the effective electron mass for the first and second subbands is $m_1^* = 0.0288m_e$ and $m_2^* = 0.0506m_e$, where m_e is the electron rest mass, and the energy separation between the first two subbands is $E_2 - E_1 = 0.1783$ eV. The nonparabolicity factor for the first subband is $\alpha = 2.2$ eV⁻¹ [14].

First, the gated area was created by electron beam lithography (EBL), followed by wet etching of InGaAs n+ and InP. Then, a mesa etch to the substrate, followed by the deposition of source/drain electrodes, was performed. Next, passivation in $(NH_4)_2S:H_2O$ followed by gate oxide Al_2O_3/HfO_2 (1/10 nm, 300 °C/120 °C) deposition by atomic layer deposition (ALD) was performed. The gate electrode was then deposited, followed by annealing $(H_2/N_2, 5\%/95\%)$ at 350 °C for 5 min. A schematic of the process steps is shown in Fig. 1.

Devices with gate lengths, $L_{\rm g}$, from 177 nm to 5.8 μ m, and device width, $W = 63 \mu$ m, were fabricated and characterized. The devices show good electrostatic control, with a minimum SS of 123 mV/decade at room temperature and 23 mV/decade at 14 K.

Electrical characterization of the devices was performed in a closed cycle helium refrigerator. Transfer characteristics at drain voltage, $V_{ds} = 50$ mV, were measured at temperatures from 9.4 to 293 K, and magnetic fields from -1 to 1 T, applied perpendicular to the sample surface [see Fig. 2(a)]. For short-channel devices, the contact resistance, R_c , was estimated from the resistance between source and drain at high overdrive voltage, when the channel resistance, R_{ch} , is negligible. On the other hand, for long-channel devices where the channel resistance is larger, R_c was estimated from a linear fit to ON-resistance versus gate length, at an overdrive voltage, $V_{ov} = 0.3$ V [see Fig. 2(b)]. The intercept at $L_g = 0$ corresponds to $2R_c + R_{Ballistic}$

$$R_{\text{Ballistic}} = \frac{12\,900}{W\sqrt{2\frac{n_s}{\pi}}} \tag{4}$$

where the numerator corresponds to the resistance per mode and the denominator corresponds to the number of modes as a function of carrier concentration, n_s . Fig. 2(c) shows the fitting of (3) to measured data for a device with $L_g = 2.31 \ \mu m$ at 9.4 K. The effect of removing $2R_c - R_{\text{Ballistic}}$ from the total resistance is clearly shown. For the long-channel device ($L_g = 2.31$) at 9.4 K and room temperature, a total resistance of 440 and 620 $\Omega\mu m$ was removed from the measured resistance, respectively. The increased contact resistance at higher temperature can be explained by a decreased mobility and hence an increased sheet resistance under the ohmic metal.

For short L_{g} devices, we have modeled ballistic and quasi-ballistic magnetotransport using the quantum transport tight-binding-based Kwant package at T = 0 K [15]. Twodimensional devices with widths of $W = 2 \ \mu m$ and 10 nm $< L_g < 200$ nm have been modeled, with magnetic fields perpendicular to the channel between 0 and 1 T. In order to model quasi-ballistic transport, random potential fluctuations have been introduced using randomly placed charges modeled by a screened Yukagawa potential along the area of the device. After calculating the increase in resistance with an applied magnetic field, we use (3) as a definition of a ballistic, $\mu_{gMR,b}$, and quasi-ballistic, $\mu_{gMR,ab}$, gMR mobility. The extracted gMR mobility will depend on the applied magnetic field at which the mobility is extracted. For 200-nm-long devices, $(d\mu/dB) = -1900 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs/T}$ and -800 cm²/Vs/T, for ballistic and quasi-ballistic devices, respectively. We calculate the modeled ballistic and quasiballistic gMR mobility at an applied field of 1 T using (3).



Fig. 2. (a) Transfer characteristics at $V_{ds} = 50$ mV, and applied magnetic fields from B = -1 T to B = 1 T. (b) Linear fits used to extract contact resistance for long-channel devices. Here only shown for temperatures T = 14 K and room temperature. (c) Fitting of (3) for a device with $L_a = 2.31 \text{ µm at } V_a = -0.25$ V. The effect of removing the contact resistance is clearly shown.



Fig. 3. Extracted μ_{gMR} as a function of n_s at different temperatures. The fit used to extract the mobility exponent, α_{μ} , is shown for T = 9.4 K. (a)–(c) correspond to $L_g = 2.31 \ \mu$ m, $L_g = 408 \ nm$, and $L_g = 177 \ nm$, respectively.

IV. RESULT

Fig. 3 shows measured $\mu_{\rm gMR}$ for three different gate lengths ($L_{\rm g} = 2.31 \ \mu {\rm m}$, $L_{\rm g} = 408 \ {\rm nm}$, and $L_{\rm g} = 177 \ {\rm nm}$) all with $W = 63 \ \mu {\rm m}$, as a function of surface carrier concentration, n_s , where n_s is extracted from $\mu_{\rm gMR}$ using

$$n_s = \frac{L_g}{Wq(R_0 - R_c)\mu_{\rm gMR}} \tag{5}$$

where q is the elementary charge, and R_c is the contact resistance estimated from transfer characteristics, taking corrections from the ballistic resistance, $R_{\text{Ballistic}}$, into account.

 $\mu_{\rm gMR}$ follows the expected trend, increases with gate voltage at low carrier concentration, then reaches a maximum, and starts to decrease at even higher carrier concentration. This shape can be explained by the fact that the low-field mobility is primarily limited by scattering from remote impurities at low carrier concentrations [16]. This scattering mechanism will decrease when the carrier concentration increases due to screening and hence an increase in mobility, but at even higher carrier concentration, the charge carriers will come closer to the high-k/III-V interface, increasing the scattering rates. Further surface scattering and additional subband and intervalley scattering will further limit the mobility at high carrier concentration.

The peak $\mu_{gMR} \approx 4700 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ at T = 293 K for the long-channel device [see Fig. 3(a)] and increases to $\mu_{gMR} \approx 7300 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ at 9.4 K due to reduced phonon scattering. This

is similar effect as for Si MOSFETs but shows a smaller increase due to the stronger scattering from charged impurities at the high-*k*/III-V interface. For low *T*, a strong decrease with carrier concentration is observed for the mobility. This effect is smaller for *T* = 293 K, due to the nondegenerate carrier statistics and phonon scattering. The nature of the dominant scattering process can be obtained from the mobility exponent, α_{μ} (see Fig. 3). The extracted $\alpha_{\mu} \approx 0.35$ to $\alpha_{\mu} \approx 0.33$ at 9.4 K, which indicates that Coulomb scattering from impurities close to the high-*k*/III-V interface is dominating for all three devices [17].

The cryogenic mobility is an order of magnitude lower as compared with InGaAs HEMT results [9], [18], [19], indicating the effect of the remote Coulomb scattering for the III–V MOSFETs.

In order to verify the long-channel gMR results, Hall measurements were performed in order to obtain the Hall mobility, μ_{Hall} . There is an excellent agreement between μ_{gMR} and μ_{Hall} (see Fig. 4) obtained at T = 293 K, especially at degenerate conditions, which is in line with theory [4], [20]. The discrepancy at nondegenerate conditions is expected [20] but could also be explained by the fact that gMR has the added advantage of being easily performed at low carrier densities, where Hall measurements typically become problematic. Since gMR mobility is very sensitive to the effect of contact resistance [see Fig. 2(c)], the agreement in Fig. 4 further indicates that the removal of the extrinsic contact resistance is accurate.



Fig. 4. Extracted mobility from gMR and Hall, showing an excellent agreement at degenerate conditions. V_{ov}^{e} is the overdrive from the intercept of the tangent from n_{s} with the gate voltage axis.



Fig. 5. Simulated $\mu_{gMR,b}$ and $\mu_{gMR,qb}$ as a function of L_g . The measured μ_{gMR} agrees well with the simulated $\mu_{gMR,qb}$. The dashed line corresponds to the combination of simulated $\mu_{diff}=9500~cm^2/Vs$ and $\mu_{gMR,b}$ using Matthiessen's rule.

For short L_g devices, we observe a drop in the gMR mobility as obtained from (3) (see Fig. 3). The extracted peak mobility seems to decrease with decreasing L_{g} . The gMR method assumes diffusive transport, and the relaxation approximation used to obtain (3) is not entirely correct for quasi-ballistic transport. Quasi-ballistic transport may thus explain the discrepancy from the Hall mobility for the short-channel devices. In order to show this, we performed quantum transport simulations (see Fig. 5). Here, we have reproduced the measured data for the short-channel (L_g = 177 nm) device by introducing random potential fluctuations along the area of the device. By comparing the simulated quasi-ballistic magnetoresistance mobility, $\mu_{\text{gMR},qb}$, to the measured peak μ_{gMR} as obtained from (3) at T = 9.4 K for the short-channel device (indicated by a triangle in Fig. 5), an excellent agreement is obtained. This indicates that the measured μ_{gMR} is underestimating μ_{diff} due to a crossover from diffusive to quasi-ballistic transport. The simulated ballistic magnetoresistance mobility, $\mu_{gMR,b}$, and



Fig. 6. Positive V_T shift occurs when the temperature is decreased. At T = 293 K, the intercept of the linear fit from the carrier concentration, V_T , almost coincides with, V_T , extracted using the linear extrapolation method, as expected for devices with constant mobility. The discrepancy at T = 9.4 K could be explained by a rapid mobility reduction at small V_G , and hence a larger extracted V_T from the linear extrapolation method. We find that the electrostatic V_T due to the Fermi level shift and trap occupancy increases 0.083 V, and the mobility effects further increases the effective V_T by another 0.16 V.

the simulated, $\mu_{\rm gMR,qb}$, is plotted versus $L_{\rm g}$, for a Fermi level, $E_f=0.2$ eV corresponding to a carrier concentration $n_s\approx2.5\cdot10^{12}~{\rm cm}^{-2}$, close to the long-channel peak mobility. The simulated quasi-ballistic device has a mean free path of ~360 nm (as obtained from the transmission), corresponding to a long-channel diffusive mobility $\mu_{\rm diff}=9500~{\rm cm}^2/{\rm Vs}$, which is in the same range as the measured $\mu_{\rm gMR}=7300~{\rm cm}^2/{\rm Vs}$ for the $L_{\rm g}=2.31\text{-}\mu\text{m}$ device. This further indicates that the measured gMR mobility for the short-channel devices underestimates $\mu_{\rm diff}$ due to the quasi-ballistic transport of these devices. The deviation between $\mu_{\rm diff}$ from the simulation and the measured mobility for the long-channel device can be explained by an uncertainty in the position of E_f and the fact that the simulated $\mu_{\rm gMR,qb}$ beyond on the applied magnetic field at which $\mu_{\rm gMR,qb}$ is extracted.

One should also note that similar reduction in μ_{gMR} has been observed for short L_g Si MOSFETs [21] and is attributed to an increased effect from scattering from neutral defects. Both effects might also be present here, but the quasi-ballistic effects might be more pronounces for the high mobility channel materials. The gMR approach thus has to be used with care for quasi-ballistic transport, where the gMR method is not valid, but is a powerful tool for mobility extraction in diffusive devices. Interestingly, we empirically find that the simulated, $\mu_{gMR,qb}$, can be reproduced using Matthiessen's rule, combining the simulated $\mu_{gMR,b}$ with μ_{diff} .

As seen in Fig. 6, a positive threshold voltage, V_T , shift, as extrapolated from the sheet carrier concentration, of around 0.083 V occurs when the temperature is decreased from T = 293 K to T = 9.4 K. This could be explained by a shift of the temperature-dependent Fermi level. An interesting feature of the remote Coulomb scattering limited mobility is that it will lead to a discrepancy between the electrostatically defined threshold voltage, V_T , obtained from the intercept of the linear fit from the carrier concentration, and the apparent threshold voltage, V_T^* , obtained from conductance measurements using the linear extrapolation method. This is shown in Fig. 6 for the device measured in Fig. 3(a). At room temperature, V_T^* obtained from conductance measurements using the linear extrapolation method is almost the same as V_T obtained from the intercept of the linear fit from the carrier concentration, as expected for constant mobility devices. It only differs 0.0036 V. On the other hand, at T = 9.4 K, V_T^* is 0.16 V larger than V_T . This difference is induced by the reduced mobility with decreasing carrier concentration, which is much more prominent at low temperatures (see Fig. 3). The lower mobility at small gate bias and low temperature will in turn give a reduced current and an apparent larger threshold voltage, V_T^* .

From the slope of the linear fit to the carrier concentration, the extracted gate capacitance, $C_{\rm gg}$, is $C_{\rm gg}=0.61~\mu$ F/cm² and $C_{\rm gg}=0.72~\mu$ F/cm² for 293 and 9.4 K, respectively. These values agree well with a calculated room temperature $C_{gg} =$ 0.66 μ F/cm² obtained from reference C-V measurements [22], including the effect from channel quantum capacitance (using the effective mass obtained from $k \cdot p$ modeling [14]) and the centroid capacitance.

V. CONCLUSION

In this article, we for the first time show that the gMR effect is a powerful tool for extracting the carrier mobility in diffusive InGaAs MOSFETs. We extract the gMR mobility from a diffusive device at several temperatures and confirm its validity by comparing it to the mobility extracted from Hall effect measurements. We also extract the gMR mobility from short-channel quasi-ballistic devices, which show considerably lower $\mu_{\rm gMR}$ compared to the diffusive device. This apparent drop in the mobility seems to increase with decreased L_{g} , and we address this to an increased degree of ballistic transport. By simulations of ballistic and quasi-ballistic magnetotransport using the quantum transport tight-binding-based Kwant package, we show the limitations of the gMR method when applied on nondiffusive devices. The gMR mobility obtained from quasi-ballistic devices is lower than the diffusive mobility. The diffusive mobility can, however, be estimated from simulated $\mu_{gMR,b}$ and measured μ_{gMR}

$$\mu_{\rm diff} = \left(\frac{1}{\mu_{\rm gMR}} - \frac{1}{\mu_{\rm gMR,b}}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (6)

Care must be taken when using (6) since the estimated diffusive mobility depends strongly on the Fermi-level position used in the simulations.

We have also shown and explained the origin of an apparent larger V_T^* at low temperatures when obtained using extrapolation from conductance measurements, compared to V_T obtained from the carrier concentration. The larger V_T^* is related to the rapid mobility reduction with decreased carrier concentration and in turn reduced current at small gate bias.

REFERENCES

[1] J. S. Lee et al., "Transport studies of epi-Al/InAs two-dimensional electron gas systems for required building-blocks in topological superconductor networks," Nano Lett., vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 3083-3090, May 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.9b00494.

- [2] Z. Wan, A. Kazakov, M. J. Manfra, L. N. Pfeiffer, K. W. West, and L. P. Rokhinson, "Induced superconductivity in high-mobility two-dimensional electron gas in gallium arsenide heterostructures, Nature Commun., vol. 6, no. 1, p. 7426, Jun. 2015, doi: 10.1038/ ncomms8426
- [3] L Thevenod et al., "Magnetoresistance mobility extraction on TiN/HfO2/SiO2 metal-oxide-semiconductor field effect transistors, Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 90, no. 15, Apr. 2007, Art. no. 152111, doi: 10.1063/1.2721363.
- [4] M. Cassé et al., "A comprehensive study of magnetoresistance mobility in short channel transistors: Application to strained and unstrained silicon-on-insulator field-effect transistors," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 105, no. 8, Apr. 2009, Art. no. 084503, doi: 10.1063/1.3097764. [5] W. Chaisantikulwat et al., "Magnetoresistance technique for mobility
- extraction in short channel FDSOI transistors," in Proc. 35th Eur. Solid-State Device Res. Conf. (ESSDERC), Grenoble, France, Sep. 2005, pp. 569-572, doi: 10.1109/ESSDER.2005.1546712
- [6] S.-J. Chang, M. Bawedin, and S. Cristoloveanu, "Mobility investigation by geometrical magnetoresistance in fully depleted MOSFETs and FinFETs," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 61, no. 6, pp. 1979–1986, Jun. 2014, doi: 10.1109/TED.2014.2318516.
- [7] R. Tauk et al., "Low electron mobility of field-effect transistor determined by modulated magnetoresistance," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 102, no. 10, Nov. 2007, Art. no. 103701, doi: 10.1063/1. 2815610.
- [8] J. P. Campbell, K. P. Cheung, L. C. Yu, J. S. Suehle, A. Oates, and K. Sheng, "Geometric magnetoresistance mobility extraction in highly scaled transistors," IEEE Electron Device Lett., vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 75-77, Ian. 2011. doi: 10.1109/LED.2010.2086044
- [9] I. H. Rodrigues and A. Vorobiev, "Low-field mobility and high-field I. H. Konigues and A. Voorer, Low new new second and second se Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1109/TED.2022.3147733
- [10] I. H. Rodrigues et al., "Geometrical magnetoresistance effect and mobility in graphene field-effect transistors," Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 121, io. 1, Jul. 2022, Art. no. 013502, doi: 10.1063/5.0088564.
- [11] H. J. Lippmann and F. Kuhrt, "The geometrical influence on the transverse magnetoresistance effect for rectangular semiconductor plates," Zeitschrift Naturforsch, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 462–474, Mar. 1958.
 T. R. Jervis and E. F. Johnson, "Geometrical magnetoresistance and Hall
- mobility in Gunn effect devices," Solid-State Electron., vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 181-189, Feb. 1970.
- D. K. Schroder, Semiconductor Material and Device. 3rd ed. Hoboken, [13] NJ, USA: Wiley, 2006, p. 480.
- [14] N. S. Garigapati, L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, "Strained In Sourispin, in Sourispin, and MOSFETs," Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. 120, no. 9, Feb. 2022, Art. no. 092105, doi: 10.1063/5.0073918
- [15] C. W. Groth, M. Wimmer, A. R. Akhmerov, and X. Waintal, "Kwant: A software package for quantum transport," *New J. Phys.*, vol. 16, no. 6, Jun. 2014, Art. no. 063065, 10.1088/1367-2630/16/6/ 063065
- [16] L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, "Cryogenic characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 1226–1230, Mar. 2023, doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3238382
- [17] S. Das Sarma and E. H. Hwang, "Universal density scaling of disorder-5. Das Satria and E. H. Hwang, Universal density scaling of disorder-limited low-temperature conductivity in high-mobility two-dimensional systems," *Phys. Rev. B, Condens. Matter*, vol. 88, no. 3, Jul. 2013, Art. no. 035439, doi: 10.1103/physrevb.88.035439.
 E. Cha et al., "Two-finger InP HEMT design for stable cryogenic operation of ultra-low-noise Ka- and Q-band LNAs," *IEEE Trans.*
- [18] Microw. Theory Techn., vol. 65, no. 12, pp. 5171-5180, Dec. 2017, doi: 10.1109/tmtt.2017.2765318.
- [19] H. Rodilla, J. Schlech, P.-Å. Nilsson, N. Wadefalk, J. Mateos, and J. Grahn, "Cryogenic performance of low-noise InP HEMTs: A Monte Carlo study," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 60, 5, pp. 1625-1631, May 2013, doi: 10.1109/TED.2013 no. 2253469
- [20] Y. M. Meziani et al., "Magnetoresistance characterization of nanometer Si metal-oxide-semiconductor transistors," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 96, no. 10, pp. 5761-5765, Nov. 2004, doi: 10.1063/1.1806991.
- [21] M. Shin et al., "Magnetoresistance mobility characterization in advanced FD-SOI n-MOSFETs," Solid-State Electron., vol. 103, pp. 229-235, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.sse.2014.07.007.
- [22] P. Olausson, L. Södergren, M. Borg, and E. Lind, "Optimization of nearsurface quantum well processing," Phys. Status Solidi A, vol. 218, no. 7, Apr. 2021, Art. no. 2000720, doi: 10.1002/pssa.202000720.

Paper IV

Paper IV

Reproduced, with permission, from: IEEE

L. SÖDERGREN, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Cryogenic Characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 70, no. 3, pp. 1226-1230, March 2023, doi: 10.1109/TED.2023.3238382.

© 2023 IEEE. Personal use is permitted, but republication/redistribution requires IEEE permission.



Cryogenic Characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET

L. Södergren[®], P. Olausson[®], and E. Lind[®], *Member, IEEE*

Abstract—We present an investigation of the temperature dependence of the current characteristic of a long-channel InGaAs quantum well MOSFET. A model is developed, which includes the effects of band tail states, electron concentration-dependent mobility, and interface trap density to accurately explain the measured data over all modes of operation. The increased effect of remote impurity scattering is associated with mobility degradation in the subthreshold region. The device has been characterized down to 13 K, with a minimum inverse sub-threshold slope of 8 mV/dec and a maximum oN-state mobility of 6700 cm²/V-s and with values of 75 mV/dec and 3000 cm²/V-s at room temperature.

Index Terms—Band tail, charge carrier mobility, cryogenic electronics, InGaAs, MOSFETs.

I. INTRODUCTION

▼RYOGENIC electronics are of interest in applications, such as control circuits in quantum computing and space applications. In a typical modern quantum computer, the bias and control electronics are separated from the qubits since they operate at room temperature. In order to scale up a quantum computer to a higher number of qubits, there is a need to integrate the classical devices and the qubits to both be inside the cryostat. This is useful to reduce the number of connections needed into the cryostat; the benefits also include the reduction of thermal noise and signal distortion. In order to improve the understanding of MOSFETs operating at cryogenic temperatures, we have in this article characterized long-channel InGaAs MOSFETs, which exhibits high electron mobility. We have characterized the device down to 13 K, where we see a saturation of the subthreshold swing, which deviates from Boltzmann statistics. We present a model that utilizes a band tail parameter in the form of an effective lattice temperature, interface trap density, and an electron concentration-dependent mobility to accurately capture the current characteristics in both depletion and accumulation over a wide temperature range.

Manuscript received 24 November 2022; revised 5 January 2023 and 12 January 2023; accepted 14 January 2023. Date of publication 27 January 2023; date of current version 24 February 2023. This work was supported in part by the NanoLund, in part by the Swedish Research Council under Grant 2016-00891, and in part by the European Union H2020 Program Sequence under Grant 871764. The review of this article was arranged by Editor E. A. Gutiérrez-D. (*Corresponding author: L. Söderaren.*)

The authors are with the Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, 221 00 Lund, Sweden, and also with the Sweden NanoLund, Lund University, 221 00 Lund, Sweden (e-mail: lasse.sodergren@eit.lth.se).

Color versions of one or more figures in this article are available at https://doi.org/10.1109/TED.2023.3238382.

Digital Object Identifier 10.1109/TED.2023.3238382

II. DEVICE FABRICATION

The device fabrication starts with MOVPE growth of a thin film of 13-nm In_{0.69}Ga_{0.31} As on a (100) InP:Fe substrate. The substrate is cleaned in 0.05% HF just before growth. After growth, the devices are isolated by a wet etch in H₃PO₄:H₂O₂:H₂O (1:1:25) followed by a short dip in HCl:H₂O (1:1) to etch 16 nm in to the InP substrate. Source and drain contacts consisting of Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/200 nm) are then placed using a UV lithography liftoff process and electron-beam evaporation. Just prior to evaporation, the native oxide removal is performed by a short dip in HCl:H₂O (1:20). This facilitates a good interface with the metal, creating low resistive ohmic contacts. A bilayer gate oxide consisting of Al₂O₃/HfO₂ (7/100 cycles) is then deposited using atomic layer deposition (ALD) at 300 °C and 120 °C. The subsequent step is the gate metal deposition of Ti/Pd/Au (5/5/200 nm) using UV lithography liftoff and electron-beam evaporation. The device is finalized by a post metal anneal at 350 °C in a H₂/N₂ (5%/95%) mixture for 5 min. Fig. 1 shows a schematic of the finished device and a top-view scanning electron microscope (SEM) image.

III. DEVICE MODELING AND MEASUREMENTS

To compute the current characteristics, a 2-D transport model, including band tail states, defect interface trap density, and electron density-dependent mobility, was used. In order to calculate the current for degenerate systems at low temperatures, we utilize that the isothermal diffusive current is given by the gradient of the quasi-fermi level $E_{\rm Fn}$ as

$$J_D = n_s \mu_n \frac{dE_{\rm Fn}}{dx} \tag{1}$$

where n_s is the sheet electron concentration and μ_n is the electron mobility, which is valid for arbitrary temperatures and band structures [1], [2], [3]. The electron transport is along the *x*-direction and the total channel length is *L*. Using the gradual channel approximation and integrating over the length of the channel give

$$J_D = \frac{1}{L} \int_0^{q_{\rm V_{DS}}} n_s(E_F) \mu(n_s(E_{\rm Fn})) dE_{\rm Fn}$$
(2)

where the mobility is approximated, as shown in Fig. 2. For these surface channel devices, the low-field mobility is mainly limited by scattering from remote impurities and the InGaAs high-k interface, as such we model the mobility as

$$\mu^{-1} = k_1 n_s^{-\gamma_1} + k_2 n_s^{\gamma_2} + \mu_0^{-1}.$$
 (3)

0018-9383 © 2023 IEEE. Personal use is permitted, but republication/redistribution requires IEEE permission. See https://www.ieee.org/publications/rights/index.html for more information.



Fig. 1. (a) Schematic of the MOSFET. (b) Scanning tunneling microscopy image of the finished device.



Fig. 2. (a) Simulated electron mobility as a function of sheet carrier concentration. The curves are fit to match the experimental data. (b) Measured Hall mobility obtained at 9 and 300 K.

With $\gamma_1 \approx 1.5$ for remote Coulomb scattering [4], γ_2 term takes the effect of the vertical field of mobility into account. For nondegenerate carriers, the scattering becomes essentially independent of the carrier concentration [3], [5], which is modeled by the μ_0 term. For low temperatures, the k_1/γ_1 term is dominating, and we expect to see a large increase in mobility with increasing n_s , which is also observed for high-purity 2-DEGs. This behavior has also been observed by Hall measurements on InGaAs MOSFETs [6].

As seen in Fig. 2(a), the fit peak mobility is 6700, 5300, and 3000 cm²/V·s for 13, 100, and 300 K, respectively, with $\gamma_1 \approx 1.45$, 1.36, and 1.17. To verify the fit mobility model, gated Hall measurements on large area Hall bars have been performed, and the measured Hall mobility is shown in Fig. 2(b). Reasonable agreement is obtained, with peak $\mu_H = 3100 \text{ cm}^2/\text{V} \cdot \text{s}$ and $\mu_H = 2100 \text{ cm}^2/\text{V} \cdot \text{s}$ for $T_L = 9$ and 300 K, respectively.

Band tails or Urbach tails are localized states inside the bandgap induced by disorder in the crystal. These states play an important role in the subthreshold transport, especially at cryogenic temperatures, and will limit the lowest achievable inverse subthreshold slope. We use an empirical extension of the density of states to account for 2-D band tail states exponentially decaying into the bandgap [7]

$$D_{2\text{-}D,E0}(E) = \frac{m^*}{\pi \hbar^2} \mathcal{F}_{-1}\left(\frac{E - E_c}{E_0}\right).$$
 (4)

The sheet carrier concentration is then calculated using

$$n_{s}(E_{F}) = \int D_{2\text{-D},E_{0}}(E) f_{0}(E, E_{\text{Fn}}, T_{L}) dE$$
$$\approx \frac{m^{*}k_{B}T_{\text{eff}}}{\pi\hbar^{2}} \mathcal{F}_{0}\left(\frac{E_{F} - E_{c}}{k_{B}T_{\text{eff}}}\right).$$
(5)

The generalized Fermi–Dirac integrals of order -1 and 0 are approximated by $\mathcal{F}_0(\eta_F) = \ln(1 + e^{\eta_F})$ and $\mathcal{F}_{-1}(\eta_F) = 1/(1 + e^{-\eta_F})$, respectively, m^* is the effective mass, f_0 is the Fermi–Dirac distribution, T_L is the lattice temperature, and E_c is the subband edge. In the second step in (5), in order to avoid having to integrate numerically, we replace the lattice temperature with an effective temperature, taking both the effect of the band tails (E_0) and the lattice temperature. The effective temperature, defined as a simple average, $T_{\rm eff} = (T_0^{\alpha} + T_L^{\alpha})^{1/\alpha}$. For the best fit, we find $\alpha = 5$. The critical temperature $T_0 = E_0/k_B$, where E_0 is the band tail parameter.

 $T_{\rm eff}$ is equal to the actual lattice temperature at high temperatures and will saturate at T_0 at cryogenic temperatures. This is because, at high T_L , the nondegenerate statistics is set by thermal broadening, leading to statistics set by the lattice temperature. At low T_L , the Fermi–Dirac distribution becomes a step function, so the subthreshold statistics is set by the effect of the band tails. At degenerate conditions, (5) becomes independent of temperature.

The electron concentration calculated by numerically solving the integral and by using the approximative expression in (5) is plotted in Fig. 3(a). The approximation works well at high electron concentrations, due to the temperatureindependent degenerate statistics. However, at lower electron concentrations, there is a small error (<10%) when *T* is far from T_0 and a maximum error of roughly a factor of 2 when $T = T_0$, as highlighted in Fig. 3(b). Equation (5) with T_{eff} gives a simple physical explanation of the effect of tails on the carrier statistics and can be used with reasonable accuracy for calculations. Using standard 1-D MOS electrostatics suitable for long-channel devices, the surface potential ψ_s is related to the gate voltage by

$$V_{gs} = \psi_s + \frac{qn_s(E_{\mathrm{F}_n})}{C_{\mathrm{ox}}} + \frac{q}{C_{\mathrm{ox}}} \int_{E_{F_n}}^{+\infty} D_{\mathrm{it}}(E) dE.$$
(6)

Here, the interface trap density is included as an additional capacitance $C_{it} = q^2 D_{it}(E)$. The sheet electron concentration



Fig. 3. (a) Electron concentration calculated from the approximative function in (5) and from numerically solving the complete integral. (b) Ratio $n_{s,tun}/n_{s,int}$ as a function of electron concentration.

in relation to the gate bias is then found by self-consistently solving (5) and (6).

Measurements were performed on long-channel InGaAs MOSFETs with $L_G = 6-28 \ \mu m$, $W = 70 \ \mu m$, and a channel thickness of 13 nm. Devices with different L_G values show very similar behavior at all temperatures when normalizing with L_G for the same gate voltage overdrive, indicating reproducible data and negligible effect from parasitic resistances, as shown in Fig. 4. The long-channel devices give a well-defined mobility, small effect from contact resistances and can be well modeled using 1-D statistics. For short-channel devices, the modified statistics (5) should still apply, but (2) should for high mobility channels instead be solved using a quasi-ballistic model.

Fig. 5 shows the transfer characteristics for a $L_G = 28 \ \mu \text{m}$ device at three different temperatures, 13, 100, and 300 K. The model can greatly reproduce the data. The model is fit by



Fig. 4. Measured normalized transfer characteristics at 13 K for $L_G=6{-}28~\mu{\rm m}$ and $V_{DS}=50$ mV.

first considering the capacitance obtained at 13 K, as shown in Fig. 6. The slope of the onset of the capacitance is used to find the threshold voltage and band tail parameter, $E_0 = 5$ meV, which is assumed to be temperature independent. At these low temperatures and when the Fermi energy is close to the conduction band edge, the interface traps are assumed to only have a very small impact on the capacitance.

However, the capacitance does not fit very well in the ON-state due to parasitic overlap capacitances included in the measurement, as well as omission of nonparabolicity and charge centroid variation with n_s in the model [7]. The ON-state current level and the transition to the OFF-state measured at $V_{DS} = 50$ mV are fit by the electron concentrationdependent mobility. In order to obtain the amount of interface traps, the $T_L = 300$ K subthreshold regions are fit assuming and an exponentially increasing D_{it} toward the valence band is introduced as $D_{\rm it} = 8.7 \times 10^{11} e^{-7.8(E-E_C)} \text{ cm}^{-2} \cdot \text{eV}^{-1}$, which is used to correctly fit the data. The same $D_{\rm it}$ is then found to also reproduce the $T_L = 100$ K and $T_L = 13$ K data. As shown in Fig. 5(b), the model can also reproduce the data obtained in the saturation region at $V_{\rm DS} = 500$ mV without changing any fitting parameters. The drain bias dependence is captured by the integral limits in (2).

In subthreshold, there are several effects impacting the current. First, the band tail states, which the electrons can transfer through, will increase the current at a given voltage. Second, oxide defects such as interface traps or border traps, in this article, modeled as Dit, will reduce the current in two ways. First, charging/discharging the traps will act as a capacitor in parallel with the quantum capacitance and lower the gate effectiveness. Second, the traps are charged defects situated close to the channel and will act as scattering centers for the conducting electrons, and this reduces the electrons' effective mobility. The defects will also impact the energy profile along the channel, creating fluctuations in the conduction band edge [8]. This will reduce the transmission of the channel, especially close to (and below) V_T when the Fermi energy is close to the band edge. These effects introduce a carrier concentration dependence on electron mobility. At low



Fig. 5. Measured transfer characteristics at 13, 100, and 300 K together with the fit model with (a) $V_{DS} = 50$ mV and (b) $V_{DS} = 500$ mV.

gate bias, when the carrier concentration is low, the remote impurity scattering will be strong due to the reduced screening effect. The conducting electrons will also be close (in energy) to the conduction band edge fluctuations further reducing the effective mobility. Increase the gate bias, as the electron concentration is increased and so is the mobility. At high gate bias, the electron wave function will be shifted toward the semiconductor/oxide interface and the interaction with the remote scattering centers will increase, reducing the mobility. Similar mobility behavior can also be due to the population of higher effective mass valleys or scattering with the second subband [9], [10]. This behavior is captured in (3).

Note that, in the current calculated from (2), the mobility is dependent on $n_s(E_{\rm Fn})$. Since $E_{\rm Fn}$ is decreasing toward the drain when $V_{\rm DS} > 0$, a dependence of the position xalong the channel is introduced. With large applied $V_{\rm DS}$, the mobility at the drain side of the channel will be reduced due to the decreased electron concentration. An alternative way to compute the current is to let

$$J_D = \frac{\mu_n(n_s)}{L} \int_0^{qV_{\rm DS}} n_s(E_{\rm Fn}) dE_{\rm Fn}$$
(7)



Fig. 6. Measured and simulated capacitance–voltage characteristics at 13 K.



Fig. 7. Calculated drain current using (5) (dashed line) and (7) (solid line) with $V_{\rm DS}=500$ mV.

where the mobility is the source side mobility independent of the channel position. This is the mobility, which is usually extracted from ON-resistance measurements at low $V_{\rm DS}$. In Fig. 7, the current at $V_{\rm DS} = 500$ mV calculated using the two methods is shown. We see that using the source side or low-field mobility will overestimate the current in saturation. This is because, in a more realistic picture, the mobility will degrade at the high field/low electron concentration region close to the drain.

For room temperature operation, the inverse subthreshold slope for the device will behave close to a standard MOSFET since the effect of band tails is insignificant, and the nondegenerate mobility is essentially constant along the channel. However, the small drop in μ_n with n_s can potentially lead to a subthreshold swing, which potentially can go below



Fig. 8. Measured and simulated temperature dependence of the minimum subthreshold swing.

60 mV/decade, as also recently pointed out in [11]. At low temperatures, deviations will be observed due to the effect from the band tails and mobility degradation. Also, for the typical example of increasing D_{it} toward the valence band, we expect to see a decrease in the slope since the subthreshold regime occurs close to the conduction band edge for lower temperatures.

The measured minimum subthreshold swing from room temperature down to 13 K is shown in Fig. 8 together with fit simple models. A low minimum swing of 8 mV/decade is found. The standard expression for a quantum well thermionic device gives that exponential gate voltage dependence of the drain current is described by

$$S = \frac{k_B T_L}{q} \ln(10) \left(1 + \frac{C_{\rm it} + C_q}{C_{\rm ox}} \right) \tag{8}$$

where $C_{\rm it} = q^2 D_{\rm it}$ describes the capacitance due to the interface traps and C_q is the quantum capacitance. In subthreshold, C_q is exponentially suppressed and can be approximated as 0. To obtain the correct inverse subthreshold slope at room temperature, $D_{\rm it} = 2 \times 10^{12} \, {\rm cm}^{-2} \cdot {\rm eV}^{-1}$ was used. We observe that the measured swing deviates from (8) at both high and low T_L .

Below the critical temperature ($T_0 = E_0/k_B = 58$ K), the subthreshold swing starts to deviate from the value predicted by the Boltzmann statistics. This is because the localized band tail states allow the electrons to be transported through the channel, increasing the current, which is captured by the use of $T_{\rm eff}$ instead of T_L . Using only $T_0 = 58$ K would give a minimum swing of 11.5 mV/decade assuming no $D_{\rm it}$, which is higher than the measured swing of 8 mV/decade. However, the carrier-dependent mobility for low T_L will lead to a reduction in the current with n_s , leading to a lower subthreshold swing. The subthreshold swing will saturate at a value depending on the band tail parameter E_0 , $D_{\rm it}$, and the OFF-state mobility. To include these effects in a simple way, (8) is modified to

$$S = \frac{k_B T_{\text{eff}}}{q(1+\gamma_1(T))} \ln(10) \left(1 + \frac{C_{\text{it}}(T)}{C_{\text{ox}}}\right). \tag{9}$$

The factor γ_1 [from (3)] describes the electron concentration dependence of the mobility at the bias point of minimum subtreshold swing. For high T (T > 100 K), we observe a faster reduction on the measured slope as compared with the standard expression, which mainly can be attributed to a reduction in the effective $D_{\rm it}$, whereas the mobility degradation factor stays fairly small. For low T (< 50 K), the slope is essentially set by the band tail limiting $T_{\rm eff}$ to around 60 K, as well as the mobility degradation, which helps in decreasing the minimum slope. For low T, the effective $D_{\rm it}$ also stays approximately constant. The effect of improvement in the slope due to mobility degradation was also pointed out recently in [11].

IV. CONCLUSION

In summary, we have fabricated long-channel InGaAs quantum well MOSFETs and characterized them down to 13 K. A 2-D transport model is presented, which can describe the behavior over a wide temperature range and all modes of operation. The model includes the effects of band tails, interface traps, and electron concentration-dependent mobility. We show how the band tails can be incorporated as an effective temperature for calculating the sheet charge. Understanding the interplay between the band tails, interface traps, and the mobility is important to accurately model MOSFETs operating at cryogenic temperatures.

REFERENCES

- P. T. Landsberg, "Dgrad v or grad(Dv)?" J. Appl. Phys., vol. 56, no. 4, pp. 1119–1122, Aug. 1984, doi: 10.1063/1.334083.
- [2] U. Lindefelt, "Current-density relations for nonisothermal modeling of degenerate heterostructure devices," J. Appl. Phys., vol. 75, no. 2, pp. 958–966, Jan. 1994, doi: 10.1063/1.356451.
- [3] A. H. Marshak and C. M. V. Vliet, "Electrical current and carrier density in degenerate materials with nonuniform band structure," *Proc. IEEE*, vol. 72, no. 2, pp. 148–164, Feb. 1984, doi: 10.1109/PROC.1984.12836.
- [4] S. Das Sarma and E. H. Hwang, "Universal density scaling of disorderlimited low-temperature conductivity in high-mobility two-dimensional systems," *Phys. Rev. B, Condens. Matter*, vol. 88, no. 3, Jul. 2013, Art. no. 035439, doi: 10.1103/PhysRevB.88.035439.
- [5] F. S. di Santa Maria, L. Contamin, M. Cassé, C. Theodorou, F. Balestra, and G. Ghibaudo, "Comprehensive kubo-greenwood modelling of FDSOI MOS devices down to deep cryogenic temperatures," *Solid-State Electron.*, vol. 192, Jun. 2022, Art. no. 108271, doi: 10.1016/j.sse.2022.108271.
- [6] T. Chidambaram, D. Veksler, S. Madisetti, M. Yakimov, V. Tokranov, and S. Oktyabrsky, "InGaAs inversion layer mobility and interface trap density from gated Hall measurements," *IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1547–1550, Dec. 2016, doi: 10.1109/LED.2016.2617119.
- [7] N. S. Garigapati, L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, "Strained InxGa(1-x)As/InP near surface quantum wells and MOSFETS," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 120, no. 9, Feb. 2022, Art. no. 092105, doi: 10.1063/5.0073918.
- [8] P. Van Mieghem, "Theory of band tails in heavily doped semiconductors," *Rev. Modern Phys.*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 755–793, Jul. 1992, doi: 10.1103/RevModPhys.64.755.
- [9] T. Chidambaram et al., "Interface trap density and mobility extraction in InGaAs buried quantum well metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effecttransistors by gated Hall method," *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, vol. 104, no. 13, Mar. 2014, Art. no. 131605, doi: 10.1063/1.4870257.
- [10] D. Esseni and A. Abramo, "Modeling of electron mobility degradation by remote Coulomb scattering in ultrathin oxide MOSFETS," *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices*, vol. 50, no. 7, pp. 1665–1674, Jul. 2003, doi: 10.1109/TED.2003.814973.
- [11] S. Cristoloveanu and G. Ghibaudo, "Breaking the subthreshold slope limit in MOSFETs," Solid-State Electron., vol. 198, Dec. 2022, Art. no. 108465, doi: 10.1016/j.ssc.2022.108465.

Paper V

Paper V

L. SÖDERGREN, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Low-Temperature Characteristics of Nanowire Network Demultiplexer for Qubit Biasing," *Nano Letters*, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 3884-3888, May 2022, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c04971.

NANO-LETTERS

pubs.acs.org/Nanol.ett

Low-Temperature Characteristics of Nanowire Network **Demultiplexer for Qubit Biasing**

Lasse Södergren,* Patrik Olausson, and Erik Lind

Cite This: Nano Lett. 2022, 22, 3884-3888 **Read Online** ACCESS III Metrics & More Article Recommendations

ABSTRACT: In current quantum computers, most qubit control electronics are connected to the qubit chip inside the cryostat by cables at room temperature. This poses a challenge when scaling the quantum chip to an increasing number of qubits. We present a lateral nanowire network 1-to-4 demultiplexer design fabricated by selective area grown InGaAs on InP, suitable for on chip routing of DC current for qubit biasing. We have characterized the device at cryogenic temperatures, and at 40 mK the device exhibits a minimum inverse subthreshold slope of 2 mV/dec, which is encouraging for low power operation. At low drain bias, the transmission breaks up into several resonance peaks due to a rough conduction band edge; this is qualitatively explained by a simple model based on a 1D real space tight-binding nonequilibrium Green's functions model.

KEYWORDS: nanowire, multiplexer, InGaAs, cryogenic

In current quantum computers, most low frequency bias, high frequency readout, and control electronics are generated at room temperature and connected with cables to the qubit chip at low temperatures. However, as quantum computers are scaled to a large number of qubits, the number of input/output (I/O) connections of the cryostat becomes unmanageable.¹⁻⁴ By moving some of these circuits into the cryostat and operating them at cryogenic temperatures the amount of I/O needed can be reduced significantly. Therefore, there is a need for an increased effort in characterization of low-temperature electronics which are designed to operate at the low-temperature stages in scaled quantum computers. One circuit element of interest is the demultiplexing device for individually biasing many qubits with few input signals. Different kind of qubits such as transmons, spin qubits, or Majorana-based qubits all need current/voltage for biasing or control.5-9 For example, transmons need a biasing magnetic field provided by a current in close proximity on the qubit chip. Apart from the standard CMOS-implementation, multiplexing structures have also been demonstrated before in both III-V modulation doped quantum well devices¹ and Si nanowires.¹⁰ In this paper, we have built a 1-to-4 demultiplexer (demux) proof of concept device based on a selective area grown lateral InGaAs nanowire network on InP with current control through gates coupled to the channel using high- κ oxide. Such a device can allow for highly scaled routing of bias currents/voltages, while operating under low power constraints due to a high on/ off ratio and low on-resistance. The higher electron mobility and lower effective mass of the InGaAs nanowires compared to Si enables operation with lower drive voltage, which reduces the power dissipation, which is important for mK cryogenic operation where the cooling power is limited.³ On-chip (de)multiplexing devices can also be used to obtain statistics for wire-bonded devices operated in dilution fridges, where the device pin count can be limited.¹¹ The device characteristics have been measured down to 40 mK. At cryogenic temperature the low inverse subthreshold slope allows the device to be efficiently turned off, minimizing the leakage currents. Operation of the fabricated devices at frequencies relevant for qubit control (~1-5 GHz) requires some further considerations. The individual InGaAs nanowire transistors can be operated at high frequencies by utilizing a T-gate design which reduces parasitic capacitances and small gate lengths enabling a high transconductance.¹² Considerations regarding the (de)multiplexer gate design also must be done to limit the capacitive leakage through the gates at the operating frequency.

A demultiplexer is a simple circuit which is able to deliver an input signal to one of many outputs. Figure 1a shows a

Received:	December 24, 2021	NANO
Revised:	May 8, 2022	
Published:	May 12, 2022	





💽 😳 🚺 Letter

n 4







© 2022 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society 3884



Figure 1. (a) A 1-to-4 demultiplexer circuit schematic with one input (S), four outputs (D) and four control gates (A, B). (b) False-colored scanning electron microscope (SEM) image of a demultiplexer. Source/drain contacts in blue, doped InGaAs in red, and gate contacts in yellow. The device has in total four different gates, A_{12} , A_{22} , B_{12} , and B_{22} since the respective B gates are shorted (not shown). The unintentionally doped InGaAs inchic has be seen under the gates have dimensions of W = 80 nm and $L_{c_2} = 120$ nm.

schematic of a 1-to-4 demultiplexer; this network has one input at the source contact and four outputs at the drains. The gates (A, B) are used for controlling which drain the signal reaches. This type of network is very scalable, each added layer doubles the number of outputs while only requiring two more control signals, a 1:2ⁿ multiplexer requires 2n control gates. Thus, the fabricated nanowire demultiplexing network shown in Figure 1b has four control gates (A₁, A₂, B₁, B₂) and four outputs drains (D₁₁, D₁₂, D₂₁, D₂₂). The proposed technology can be used to implement multiplexers with bigger fan-out (n > 2); this however requires a back-end-of-line technology for routing some of the gate wires as they need to cross some internal electrodes.¹

The lateral InGaAs nanowire network was fabricated on a semi-insulating InP:Fe (100) substrate by selective area epitaxy (SAE) using a metal organic vapor phase epitaxy (MOVPE) system. Figure 2 illustrates the fabrication process. Hydrogen



Figure 2. Simplified schematics of the fabrication steps for one gated region. (a) The InGaAs nanowire network is grown using selective area epitaxy with HSQ as a growth mask on an InP substrate. (b) An EBL defined HSQ dummy gate patterned across the nanowire. (c) Highly doped n° InGaAs contacts are grown. (d) Final device structure after dummy gate removal, gate oxide deposition, and metallization steps.

silesquioxane (HSQ) patterned by an electron beam lithography (EBL) system was used as a growth mask. The mask openings were 80 nm wide and aligned to (001). This leads to nanowires defined by {110} facet sidewalls and (100) top surface, which limits the overgrowth of the mask.¹³ The sample was cleaned in 0.05% HF solution just prior to the first growth step consisting of 4 nm InP followed by 13 nm In_{0.65}Ga_{0.35}As grown at 600 °C. The increased indium content relative to the lattice matched (53% indium) gives a crystal with increased electron mobility, simultaneously the thickness of 13 nm InGaAs is not sufficient for relaxation to occur. Buffered oxide etch (BOE) was used to remove the HSQ mask before dummy gate HSQ lines were patterned along the (110) direction, defining the gate length of 120 nm. In the second growth step, 25 nm of doped $In_{0.65}Ga_{0.35}As$ ($N_D \approx 5 \times 10^{19}$ cm⁻³) contact layer was grown, which is sufficient to create a good contact with source/drain metal. After the HSQ was removed by BOE, a HSQ etch mask was patterned, outlining the mesa. Mesa isolation was done by wet etching the grown InGaAs using H₃PO₄/H₂O₂/H₂O followed by a short HCl/ H₂O dip, etching 16 nm into the substrate. Plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) was used to deposit 14 nm of SiN_x before removing the HSQ with BOE, leaving SiN_x everywhere on the sample surface except the active device area. This ensures proper isolation between measurement pads. The surface of the sample is etched by ozone oxidation followed by diluted HCl. An EBL lift-off process and electron beam evaporation of Ti/Pd/Au was used to fabricate the source and drain contacts. Next, the surface was passivated by ozone cleaning and 20 min in (NH4)2S (10% solution in water) before deposition of Al₂O₃/HfO₂ gate oxide (7/100 cycles) at 300/120 °C. The device is completed by gate definition by evaporation of Ti/Pd/Au using a lift-off process followed by a forming gas (H2/N2, 5/95%) annealed at 300 °C. The implemented structure thus allows routing of a current between input and output and avoids losses due to ohmic contacts within the structure. Other circuit elements, such as MOSFETs, varactors, and MIM-capacitors, can also be implemented within this material platform.

The typical transfer characteristics at $V_{\rm DS}$ = 50 mV and 500 mV of a W = 80 nm and $L_{\rm G}$ = 120 nm demux device are presented in Figure 3. The measurements were done at 13 K by first simultaneously applying a constant drain bias to all of the drains; then, the current was sequentially routed to the respective drain. This was done by setting the respective gate A at a constant high voltage (~800 mV), making sure the



Figure 3. Low-temperature transfer characteristics normalized to the nanowire width at (a) $V_{DS} = 500 \text{ mV}$ and (b) $V_{DS} = 50 \text{ mV}$ measured at 13 K. The different colored lines refer to the drain current in each respective drain, as indicated in Figure 1. During the measurements, the drain bias was applied to all drains simultaneously, and the gates were then used to only set one source-drain path in a low resistive paths were state at any given time. The current in the high resistive paths were below the noise floor of the measurement setup (<1 pA).

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c04971 Nano Lett. 2022, 22, 3884-3888



Figure 4. Extracted (a) threshold voltage, (b) minimum inverse subthreshold slope, and (c) on-resistance for different drain connections, measured on eight multiplexers at 13 K. The filled circles are the median value of each drain, and the bars show the 95% confidence interval.

channel is in the on-state, then sweeping the voltage of the respective gate B. The two other gates are set in the off state. Doing the reverse, sweeping gate A while gate B is at a high voltage, yields similar characteristics. For example, to route the current between S and $D_{1\nu}$ gate A_1 and B_1 are turned on while gate A_2 and B_2 are turned off. All gate currents and the drain currents in the turned off paths are measured simultaneously to be below the noise floor of the measurement setup (<1 pA), demonstrating demultiplexing functionality. This demonstrates a well-behaved device with a very small gate leakage and good isolation between all gates and drains. The small signal transconductance of the devices with respect to a single gate is $g_m \approx 0.6 \ mS/\mu m.$

Statistics of device threshold voltages, minimum inverse subthreshold slopes, and on-resistances from several different devices are shown in Figure 4. The data is extracted from 8 demux devices, which essentially is equivalent to 32 available current paths, since there should be no difference between the 4 drains. The difference in the median threshold voltage is within 100 mV between the four drains. The total median minimum inverse subthreshold slope of all current paths is below 10 mV/dec, showing a good control of the channel electrostatics. The on-resistance is extracted at 300 mV above $V_{\rm T}$ with a total median of 6800 $\Omega\mu$ m. Measurements on similar samples show that the metal/semiconductor contact resistance $R_{\rm C} = 20 \ \Omega \mu m$, and the access resistance through the doped n+ InGaAs layer $R_A = 30 \ \Omega \mu m$ are both reasonably low. This suggests there is some additional series resistance in the structure, most likely originating from the interface between the undoped InGaAs channel and the doped n+ InGaAs layer. Although the statistics are limited, this data indicates a high process yield with all demultiplexers operational. Only one source-drain current path exhibits high $V_{\rm T}$ and $R_{\rm on}$, resulting in an effective yield of over 95%.

Figure 5a compares the transfer characteristics at 13 K and 40 mK of the D₁₁ current. For this specific drain, the minimum inverse subthreshold slope is 130, 6, and 2 mV/dec at 300 K, 13 K, and 40 mK, respectively. At cryogenic temperatures, the source/drain thermal energy is extremely sharp ($kT = 3 \mu eV$ at 40 mK), potential fluctuations leading to 1D resonant tunneling type of behavior will lead to transmission resonances, which can enhance the subthreshold slope even for very low temperatures. This is in contrast to 2D type of devices, where averaging will lead to current limited by exponential band tails.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ At cryogenic temperatures the inverse subthreshold



Figure 5. (a) Transfer characteristics normalized to the nanowire width of D₁₁ with V_{DS} = 50 mV at 13 K and 40 mK. (b) Normalized conductance of D₁₁ measured with V_{DS} = 5 mV at 40 mK. (c) Electrostatic potential along the channel used for calculations. A fluctuating potential with σ = 100 meV and L = 5 nm is superimposed on the ideal conduction band edge profile. (d) Simulated conductance characteristics at 40 mK using a 1D real space tight-binding nonequilibrium Green's functions model.

slope is probably limited by a combination of tunneling through potential fluctuations and interface trap states, while at room temperature limit is set by the Fermi–Dirac distribution and interface trap states. The very small inverse subthreshold slope is encouraging for low voltage operation in order to minimize the power dissipation for cryogenic operation, where cooling power often is very limited.

Figure 5b shows the normalized conductance of D_{11} measured at 40 mK and a low V_{DS} = 5 mV, when sweeping

gate B₁. This is the minimum limit of the conductance since there is some voltage drop over the channel under gate A₁ as well. At this relatively small bias window, several clear peaks and valleys appear in the conductance. We attribute this to charged defects in the oxide, changing the energy landscape and roughening the conduction band edge. This can be seen as quantum dots connected in series along the channel, which leads to resonance peaks in the transmission at certain energy levels. The resulting electron mobility degradation can be alleviated by moving the conducting channel away from the oxide interface by inserting a thin layer of $1nP.^{17}$ The drawback of this approach is the reduction of electrostatic control of the channel due to a lower gate-channel capacitance.

Presented in Figure 5c is such a fluctuating potential along the channel. A varying conduction band edge potential (mean standard deviation σ = 100 meV with a correlation length L = 5 nm) is superimposed on a smoothly varying background. obtained from an analytical solution of Poisson's equation and 1D electrostatics. To calculate the transmission and hence the conduction through such a potential, a simple model based on a 1D real space tight-binding nonequilibrium Green's functions (NEGF) model has been used.¹⁸ Each subband is added by an energy separation given by a two-band k·p model.¹⁹ The current and transmission through the fluctuating potential are then calculated using NEGF, the resulting conductance is presented in Figure 5d. This model can qualitatively explain the data, since the transmission and resonance peaks highly depend on the exact potential variation along the channel. In order to agree with the experimental data, high potential barriers (1.2 eV) are also needed to be added at the sourcedrain region. This indicates a need to optimize the regrown contact interface to enable a more transparent contact. This can potentially be achieved by additional cleaning prior to growth or further optimization of the growth parameters. The potential fluctuations within the channel can be minimized by reducing the charged defect concentration at the semiconductor/oxide interface.

In conclusion, we have designed and fabricated a 1-to-4 demultiplexer proof of concept device with good yield based on a selective area grown nanowire network. The design has been characterized at both 13 K and 40 mK and shows good isolation between gates and drains with very small gate leakage. The device exhibits a low minimum inverse subthreshold slope of 6 and 2 mV/dec at 13 K and 40 mK, respectively. At very low temperatures and low bias voltages, the transmission breaks up into resonance peaks due to a rough conduction band edge, highlighting the importance of oxide trap minimization especially when designing electronics for low-temperature operation.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Lasse Södergren – Department of Electrical and Information Technology and NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; • orcid.org/0000-0001-5208-8209; Email: lasse.sodergren@eit.lth.se

Authors

Patrik Olausson – Department of Electrical and Information Technology and NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; Occid.org/0000-0002-1044-8947 Erik Lind – Department of Electrical and Information Technology and NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c04971

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Swedish Research Council, in part by NanoLund, and in part by the European Union H2020 program SEQUENCE (Grant 871764).

REFERENCES

(1) Al-Taie, H.; Smith, L. W.; Xu, B.; See, P.; Griffiths, J. P.; Beere, H. E.; Jones, G. A. C.; Ritchie, D. A.; Kelly, M. J.; Smith, C. G. Cryogenic on-chip multiplexer for the study of quantum transport in 256 split-gate devices. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2013**, 102 (24), 243102.

(2) Hornibrook, J. M.; Colless, J. I.; Conway Lamb, I. D.; Pauka, S. J.; Lu, H.; Gossard, A. C.; Watson, J. D.; Gardner, G. C.; Fallahi, S.; Manfra, M. J.; Reilly, D. J. Cryogenic Control Architecture for Large-Scale Quantum Computing. *Phys. Rev. Applied* 2015, 3 (2), 024010. (3) Patra, B.; Incandela, R. M.; van Dijk, J. P. G.; Homulle, H. A. R.; Song, L.; Shahmohammadi, M.; Staszewski, R. B.; Vladimirescu, A.; Babaie, M.; Sebastiano, F.; Charbon, E. Cryo-CMOS Circuits and Systems for Quantum Computing Applications. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 2018, 53 (1), 309–321.

(4) Pauka, S. J.; Das, K.; Kalra, R.; Moini, A.; Yang, Y.; Trainer, M.; Bousguet, A.; Cantaloube, C.; Dick, N.; Gardner, G. C.; Manfra, M. J.; Reilly, D. J. A cryogenic CMOS chip for generating control signals for multiple qubits. *Nat. Electron.* 2021, 4, 64–70.

(5) DiCarlo, L.; Chow, J. M.; Gambetta, J. M.; Bishop, L. S.; Johnson, B. R.; Schuster, D. I.; Majer, J.; Blais, A.; Frunzio, L.; Girvin, S. M.; Schoelkopf, R. J. Demonstration of two-qubit algorithms with a superconducting quantum processor. *Nature* 2009, 460, 240–244.

(6) Casparis, L.; Connolly, M. R.; Kjaergaard, M.; Pearson, N. J.; Kringhøj, A.; Larsen, T. W.; Kuemmeth, F.; Wang, T.; Thomas, C.; Gronin, S.; Gardner, G. C.; Manfra, M. J.; Marcus, C. M.; Petersson, K. D. Superconducting gatemon qubit based on a proximitized twodimensional electron gas. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* 2018, *13*, 915–919.

(7) Petta, J. R.; Johnson, A. C.; Taylor, J. M.; Laird, E. A.; Yacoby, A.; Lukin, M. D.; Marcus, C. M.; Hanson, M. P.; Gossard, C. Coherent manipulation of coupled electron spins in semiconductor quantum dots. *Science* **2005**, 309 (5744), 2180–2184.

(8) Bauer, B.; Karzig, T.; Mishmash, R. V.; Antipov, A. E.; Alicea, J. Dynamics of Majorana-based qubits operated with an array of tunable gates. *SciPost Phys.* **2018**, 5 (1), 4.

(9) Karzig, T.; Knapp, C.; Lutchyn, R. M.; Bonderson, P.; Hastings, M. B.; Nayak, C.; Alicea, J.; Flensberg, K.; Plugge, S.; Oreg, Y.; Marcus, C. M.; Freedman, M. H. Scalable designs for quasiparticlepoisoning-protected topological quantum computation with Majorana zero modes. *Phys. Rev. B* 2017, *95* (23), 235305.

(10) Beckman, R.; Johnston-Halperin, E.; Luo, Y.; Green, J. E.; Heath, J. R. Bridging dimensions: demultiplexing ultrahigh-density nanowire circuits. *Science* 2005, 310 (5747), 465–468.

(11) Puddy, R. K.; Smith, L. W.; Al-Taie, H.; Chong, C. H.; Farrer, I.; Griffiths, J. P.; Ritchie, D. A.; Kelly, M. J.; Pepper, M.; Smith, C. G. Multiplexed charge-locking device for large arrays of quantum devices. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2015**, *107*, 143501.

(12) Zota, C. B.; Lindelöw, F.; Wernersson, L.-E.; Lind, E. High-frequency InGaAs tri-gate MOSFETs with f_{max} of 400 GHz. *Electron.* Lett. 2016, 52 (22), 1869–1871.

(13) Zota, C. B.; Lindgren, D.; Wernersson, L.-E.; Lind, E. Quantized conduction and high mobility in selectively grown $In_xGa_{x-1}As$ nanowires. ACS Nano 2015, 9 (10), 9892–9897.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.1c04971 Nano Lett. 2022, 22, 3884-3888 (14) Bohuslavskyi, H.; Jansen, A. G. M.; Barraud, S.; Barral, V.; Cassé, M.; Le Guevel, L.; Jehl, X.; Hutin, L.; Bertrand, B.; Billiot, G.; Pillonnet, G.; Arnaud, F.; Galy, P.; De Franceschi, S.; Vinet, M.; Sanquer, M. Cryogenic subthreshold swing saturation in FD-SOI MOSFETs described with band broadening. *IEEE Electron Device Lett.* 2019, 40 (5), 784–787.

(15) Ghibaudo, G.; Aouad, M.; Casse, M.; Martinie, S.; Poiroux, T.; Balestra, F. On the modelling of temperature dependence of subthreshold swing in MOSFETs down to cryogenic temperature. *Solid-State Electron.* 2020, 170, 107820.

(16) Beckers, A.; Jazaeri, F.; Enz, C. Theoretical limit of low temperature subthreshold swing in field-effect transistors. *IEEE Electron Device Lett.* 2020, 41 (2), 276–279.

(17) Södergren, L.; Sri Garigapati, N.; Borg, M.; Lind, E. Mobility of near surface MOVPE grown InGaAs/InP quantum wells. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2020**, *117*, 013102.

(18) Data, S. Quantum Transport: Atom to Transistor; Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2005.

(19) Lind, E. High frequency III-V nanowire MOSFETs. Semicond. Sci. Technol. 2016, 31 (9), 093005.

3888

Paper VI

Paper VI

L. OLAUSSON, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, AND E. LIND, "Gate-controlled near-surface Josephson junctions," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 042601, January 2024, doi: 10.1063/5.0182485.

гîл

Gate-controlled near-surface Josephson junctions

Cite as: Appl. Phys. Lett. **124**, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 Submitted: 19 October 2023 · Accepted: 7 January 2024 · Published Online: 23 January 2024

L. Olausson,^{1,2,a)} (D P. Olausson,^{1,2,a)} (D and E. Lind^{1,2} (D

AFFILIATIONS

¹Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, Box 118, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden ²NanoLund, Box 118, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden

^{a)}Authors to whom correspondence should be addressed: louise.olausson@eit.lth.se and patrik.olausson@eit.lth.se

ABSTRACT

Gate-tunable Josephson junctions are interesting for quantum technology applications, such as gatemon qubits and topological Majoranabased qubits. Furthermore, high-frequency compatible geometries can be utilized for implementing electrically pumped parametric amplifires. In this paper, we combine processing, measurements, and modeling of near-surface InGaAs Josephson field-effect transistors in order to facilitate circuit simulations of actual non-ideal devices. We developed a compact model using Verilog-A and confirmed the validity of our model by accurately reproducing our measured data by circuit simulations in Advanced Design System. From the circuit simulations, an effective gate-dependent transmission coefficient, with a peak value of ~ 3.5%, was extracted, mainly limited by contact transparency.

© 2024 Author(s). All article content, except where otherwise noted, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0182485

The increasing interest in quantum computation has put efforts toward the realization of hybrid superconductor-semiconductor devices with highly transparent interfaces.¹⁻⁴ The potential application in emerging quantum technologies spans from superconducting quantum computation^{5,6} to electrically tuned parametric amplifiers.⁷ fully understand and optimize advanced circuits containing hybrid devices, a compact device model is required, that is, a mathematical description of the system using parametric equations. In the literature, there are several works on implementations of compact models for superconductor/insulator/superconductor-based Iosephson junctions (JJs)9-11 and gate-tunable superconductor/semiconductor/ superconductor junctions.¹²⁻¹⁴ However, there is lack of work that combines processing, measurements, and modeling to facilitate circuit simulations of actual quasi-ballistic non-ideal hybrid devices, which is essential for system-level integration.

We investigate the superconducting properties of a near-surface Al-InGaAs-Al Josephson field-effect transistor (JOFET). The channel is located directly at the surface, allowing for fabrication of short-gate length devices with high gate control. In addition, we use a thinner gate oxide compared to similar works,^{15,16} which increases the electrostatic control even further. Such geometry is needed for very short gate length scaling, similar to that of high-performance field-effect transistors.

To facilitate circuit simulations of our device, we developed a compact model, which considers the gate tunability of the semiconductor, the carrier density-dependent mobility and transmission coefficient, semiconductor band tails, non-ideal interfaces, and nonlinear excess resistances, allowing for circuit modeling with more realistic JoFETs.

InGaAs JoFETs were fabricated on a wafer with a layer stack according to Table J, where the 2DEG consists of layers 4, 5, and 6. The epitaxial layer stack is designed for maximum electron carrier concentration in the high indium part of the composite channel, layer 5.

The devices were electrically isolated by resist masking using direct laser writing (DLW), followed by a mesa wet etch into layer 1 using H₃PO₄:H₂O₂:H₂O (1:1:25). Next, source and drain contacts (Ti/ Al, 5/40 nm) were defined by electron beam lithography (EBL) followed by e-beam evaporation and liftoff. Titanium is known for its rapid reaction with oxygen and its oxygen-scavenging effects.^{17,18} The thin Ti layer in our device serves the purpose of decreasing the amount of free oxygen in the air in the evaporator chamber. This is achieved by formation of titanium oxides, thereby minimizing the formation of insulating low-k Al2O3 at the semiconductor-superconductor interface. Just before evaporation, the native oxide on InGaAs was removed in HCl:H2O (1:20). Next, the gate oxide was deposited by ALD (Al2O3/HfO2, 1/10 nm, 300 °C/120 °C), followed by deposition of the gate contact (Ti/Pd/Au, 5/5/200 nm) by e-beam evaporation and liftoff. The ALD process involves pre-pulsing of trimethylaluminum to restore surface As atoms to a bulk-like bonding configuration and reduce the density of interface traps.¹⁹ Subsequently, the bilayer of Al2O3 and HfO2 is deposited, resulting in a high-quality interface with a low equivalent oxide thickness. The device characterized in this work

Appl. Phys. Lett. 124, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 © Author(s) 2024

Applied Physics Letters

TABLE I. Sample layer stack

Layer	Material	Х	T (Å)	Si (cm ⁻³)	Function
6	In(x)Ga(1-x)As	0.53	30		Channel
5	In(x)Ga(1-x)As	0.80	50		Channel
4	In(x)Ga(1-x)As	0.53	40		Channel
3	In _(x) Al _(1-x) As	0.52	30		Spacer
2	In(x)Al(1-x)As	0.52	30	1.0×10^{19}	Delta doping
1	In(x)Al(1-x)As	0.52	1900		Buffer
0	S.I. InP				Substrate

has a device width of $W = 4 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a gate length of $L_g = 210 \,\text{nm}$. A schematic of the device and fabrication steps are shown in Fig. 1.

The devices were characterized at cryogenic temperatures in a Triton dilution refrigerator from Oxford Instruments, with a base chamber temperature at 15 mK. Current-driven measurements were performed as four-point measurements, where the voltage drop was measured over the inner contacts. An alternative device geometry, featuring a T-gate to minimize parasitic capacitances or a junction involving superconductor, semiconductor, and normal conductor, would have facilitated a more in-depth exploration of RF-performance and the induced superconducting gap. A magnetic field evaluation of the induced supercurrent is presented in the supplementary material. However, the primary aim of our device was to validate our DC circuit simulations. Therefore, the simpler device design was adopted. The carrier mobility was extracted by Hall measurements in a closed cycle helium refrigerator at 9 K, with an applied magnetic field from -1 T to 1 T perpendicular to the sample surface.

We implemented a Verilog-A code to model the behavior of our device in Advanced Design System (ADS). A circuit schematic of the system used is shown in Fig. 2(a). A voltage source, V_{drive}, in series with a 20 MΩ resistor is used to simulate current-driven measurement similar to the real experiments. R_g and V_g represents the gate finger resistance and the applied gate voltage, respectively. Two parasitic capacitances, $\frac{C_g}{2}$, are included due to an overlap between the gate contact and the source–drain contacts. The part of the circuit within the dashed line in Fig. 2(a) is implemented in a Verilog-A code, where JJ represents the Josephson junction. The full device is characterized by contact resistance, R_{c_1} , and total intrinsic gate capacitance, C_{g_2} , C_{g_3} is obtained from reference C–V measurements,²⁰ including the influences of centroid capacitance and quantum capacitance based on the ARTICLE

pubs.aip.org/aip/apl

effective mass obtained through k-p modeling.²¹ C_p is determined from the overlap area between the gate electrode and source–drain electrodes, using the relative permittivity of the gate oxide,²⁰ and assuming a parallel plate capacitor. Their corresponding values are $C_{gg} = 5.58$ fF and $C_p = 160$ fF, and thus $C_{gg} \ll C_p$. We assume that the total current, *I*, has one contribution from

We assume that the total current, I, has one contribution from the normal quasi-particle current, I_N , which obeys Ohm's law, and one contribution from the supercurrent, I_S , which satisfy the Josephson equation,²²

$$I_S = I_c \sin(\Delta \phi)$$
, (1)

where $\Delta \phi$ is the gauge invariant phase difference between the superconductors, and the critical current, I_c , is the maximum supercurrent of the junction. The phase difference is implemented in the circuit model by connecting our device to a voltage-controlled current source parallel to a capacitor, see Fig. 2(b). The voltage and gauge invariant phase over the JJ is given by

$$V_{JJ} = \frac{\hbar}{2q} \frac{d\Delta\phi}{dt},\tag{2}$$

where \hbar is the reduced Planck's constant, and q is the elemental charge. In the circuit simulator, the gauge invariant phase difference is represented by voltage V_{ϕ} over a capacitor C_{ϕ} in the subcircuit in Fig. 2(b). The voltage-controlled current source is controlled by V_{ff} , and with a gain of unity, the current becomes

$$I_{\varphi} = V_{JJ} = C_{\varphi} \frac{dV_{\varphi}}{dt} = \frac{\hbar}{2q} \frac{d\Delta\varphi}{dt},$$
 (3)

where we have used the definition of the current through a capacitor. If the capacitance is set to $\frac{\hbar}{2q^2} \Delta \varphi$ and V_{φ} are interchangeable, and the supercurrent current through the JJ, see Eq. (1), can be expressed as

$$I_S = I_c \sin(V_{\phi}). \qquad (4)$$

It is important to note that $\Delta \varphi$ and V_{φ} do not have the same dimension, and the substitution is solely performed to facilitate the implementation of a phase difference in ADS. The method used to get Eq. (4) is based on the work in Ref. 23. The expression of the critical current, I_c , is based on the works in Refs. 24 and 25, see the supplementary material for details,

$$I_c = N \frac{D_n}{4\pi} \frac{q}{\tau},\tag{5}$$

where D_n can be seen as an effective transmission coefficient and τ is related to the time it takes for a Cooper pair to travel from one





Appl. Phys. Lett. 124, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 © Author(s) 2024

ARTICLE



FIG. 2. Circuit schematic of the system used in Verilog-A and ADS (a). Circuit used to implement the phase difference, $\Delta \phi$ (b).

superconductor to the other. D_n is used as a fitting parameter and is assumed to be equal for all conducting modes. The number of modes can be found from

$$N = \frac{W}{\left(\frac{\pi}{k_F}\right)} = W \sqrt{\frac{2n_s}{\pi}},\tag{6}$$

where k_F is the Fermi wave vector and n_s is the electron carrier concentration. Following the work in Ref. 26, an approximate expression for n_s is

$$n_s = \frac{C_{gg} n \phi_t}{q} \ln \left(1 + e^{\frac{V_{gs} - V_T}{n \phi_t}} \right), \tag{7}$$

where V_T is the threshold voltage and $n = \frac{S}{g_{a}\ln(0)}$ is the subthreshold coefficient, described by the subthreshold swing, SS, and the thermal voltage $\phi_t = \frac{k_s T}{g_t}$, where k_B is the Boltzmann constant and T is the temperature. Eq. (7) is suitable to use for circuit simulations due to the expression being continuous and valid for both $V_{gg} \gg V_T$ and $V_{ge} \sim V_T$. At lower temperatures, the influence of band tails becomes significant, and this effect is captured by the subthreshold coefficient. The channel resistance, R_{dh} used to calculate the contribution from the normal current, can then be expressed using the transport transmission probability per conducting mode τ_{dh} .

$$R_{ch} = \frac{1}{NW} \frac{h}{2q^2} \frac{1}{\tau_{ch}},\tag{8}$$

where $\tau_{ch}=\frac{\lambda}{\lambda+L_g}^{27}$ and $\lambda=n_sq\mu_n\frac{h}{2q^2}\frac{W^{27}}{N}$ is the mean free path. Here, μ_n is the gate-dependent channel mobility. The gate dependence of the mobility is implemented in the model by measurements of the Hall mobility at 9 K and $V_{gg}=0$ V.²⁸

The total resistance of the device is modeled by $R_{tot} = 2R_c + R_{ch} + R_{ex}$, where R_{ex} describes how the nonlinear resistance of the junction varies with V_{IJ} and can give rise to a positive or negative excess current. We use the Octavio–Tinkham–Blonder–Klapwijk (OTBK) theory,²³ assuming ballistic transport and fully incoherent junctions, which for nontransparent contacts predicts a positive

Appl. Phys. Lett. **124**, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 © Author(s) 2024

ARTICLE

nonlinear resistance that goes to zero for large enough V_{JJ} . Using the work by Niebler *et al.*³⁰ and assuming $I_{ex} < 0$, the nonlinear resistance can be modeled as

$$R_{ex} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } |V_{IJ}| \ge \eta 2\Delta, \\ -\frac{R_0}{2\Delta \eta} |V_{IJ}| + R_0 & \text{if } |V_{IJ}| < \eta 2\Delta, \end{cases}$$
(9)

where $\Delta=1.764k_BT_c$ is the superconducting gap at T=0 K, T_c is the critical temperature, and R_0 and η are fitting parameters for better fit to the real quasi-ballistic transport. Numerical solution of the OTBK model shows that the nonlinear resistance, for $I_{\rm ex}<0$, behaves approximately as we describe with the simpler fit that $R_{\rm ex}$ decreases linearly from R_0 and goes to zero when V_{IJ} becomes sufficiently large. The normal current is $I_N=\frac{V_B}{R_{\rm ex}}$, and the total measured current is $I=I_S+I_N$. In the compact model, the fitting parameters are $D_n(V_{gs})$, $R_0(V_{gs})$, η , and V_T , where D_n and R_0 are described by analytic functions of V_{gs} .

The device shows good electrostatic control, with a normal current subthreshold swing of SS \sim 130 mV/decade at 15 mK and $V_{ds} = 50$ mV. Even lower swings can be achieved by sulfur passivation,^{30,21,31} which however is not directly compatible with the gate-last process utilized here. From Hall effect measurements, $\mu_n \sim 7700 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ and $n_s \sim 4 \times 10^{12} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ were extracted at 9K and $V_{gs} = 0$ V, which correspond to a mean free path $\lambda \sim 400 \text{ nm} > L_g$, indicating that the device is operating close to the ballistic limit for $V_{gs} \gg V_T$. For lower carrier concentrations, we expect the mobility to decrease due to remote coulomb scattering,³² and we have observed from reference samples that $\mu_n \propto n_s^{2-1}$ for low n_s . The crossover from diffusive to ballistic regime is important to consider for devices operating close to V_T , which will influence both the normal resistance and the critical current. Relating λ to the coherence length, ξ_0 , using Eq. (S1) in the supplementary material, gives $\lambda \ll \xi_0 \sim 4000 \text{ nm}$, and the device is thus in the ballistic dirty limit.¹⁵ This gives a dirty coherence length, $\xi_{0,d} = \sqrt{\xi_0 \lambda} \sim 1300 \text{ nm}$, close to the coherence length of AL.³³

In Fig. 3(a), the gate and temperature dependence of I_c is presented, showing a good electrostatic control of f_c , and a decrease in l_c with increasing temperature, related to a decreased induced superconducting gap. At 700 mK, the V–I plateaus have disappeared, and I_c is not possible to extract anymore. We, therefore, conclude that $T_c \approx 700$ mK. The noise in Fig. 3(a) at 700 mK is only related to uncertainty in the low current I_c extraction.



FIG. 3. Temperature and gate dependence of l_c , showing $T_c \approx 700$ mK (a). $l_c R_N$ is plotted vs V_{gs} , together with simulated data in black (b). The inset shows measured l_c and R_N together with simulations in black, (c). The inset shows V–I curves for three different V_{gs} . The gate-dependent fitting parameters used in the compact model of the JoFET (d). The effective transmission coefficient, D_n , increases to a peak value of 3.5% and then decreases due to the high R_c .

Appl. Phys. Lett. 124, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 © Author(s) 2024

Applied Physics Letters

In Fig. 3(b), the standard figure of merit for hybrid JJs, R_N times Ic, is plotted vs Vgs. The measured and simulated data from circuit simulations shows excellent agreement. The inset shows Ic and RN plotted vs V_{gs} , showing a strong initial increase in I_c above V_T and then a more gradual increase, deviating somewhat from the ideal I_c $\propto \sqrt{V_{gs} - V_T}$ behavior, see Eqs. (5)–(7). The strong increase close to VT is related to an increase in the mean free path due to the increased mobility, with a gentler increase for larger gate overdrives as the mobility is more constant. At large positive V_{gs} , when R_{ch} is negligible, R_N is approximately equal to $2R_c \sim 1100 \Omega$. In the compact modeling, $R_c = 550 \Omega$ was used. In Fig. 3(c), the normalized product of I_{ex} times R_N is plotted vs V_{gs} . The Andreev reflection across the junction gives rise to an excess current, $I_{ex} = I - \frac{V_{||}}{R_N}$, which can be found from the V-I curves, three of which are shown in the inset, by extrapolation back to the $V_{IJ} = 0$ axis.³⁴ The product $I_{ex}R_N$ shows no clear gate voltage dependence, which indicates that $I_{ex}R_N$ is not affected by the change in carrier concentration in the 2DEG, but rather depends on the interface transparency Z of the superconductor-semiconductor interface.¹⁵ It is clear that $I_{ex} < 0$, which indicates that the current gain due to the Andreev reflection is smaller than the current loss due to the normal reflection process. Therefore, the excess current observed in this device is rather a deficit current,³⁵ suggesting a Z > 1.2.³⁰ The presence of the interface barriers implies a small Andreev reflection coefficient, meaning few carriers that penetrate from the 2DEG into the superconductor, effectively producing a deficit current.³⁶ This is in line with transmission line measurements on reference samples, showing a specific contact resistance between Al and the InGaAs stack, $R_c \approx 10^4 \ \Omega \,\mu m$, as compared with optimized ohmic contact technology yielding $R_c < 10^3 \Omega \mu m$.

In Figs. 3(b) and 3(c), the data obtained from circuit simulations using our compact model of the JoFET are indicated in black and show excellent agreement with the measured data. The gate-dependent fitting parameters used in the compact model of the JoFET are presented in Fig. 3(d) as a function of V_{gs} . The data points correspond to exact fittings to the measured data, while the gate dependence used in the final model is obtained by fitting exponentials to these data points. R_0 resembles R_N but does not increase as quickly at low V_{gs} . The effective transparency, D_n , follows approximately the mobility. First, a strong increase is shown close to V_T , with a maximum transmission of 3.5%, then a decrease due to the limited transparency of the Al-InGaAs contacts is observed. There is an uncertainty in D_n , which is related to the fitting value used for V_T . If V_T is overestimated, less modes will be conducting and D_n will need to be larger in order to give the same current. In the compact model, V_T is set to -1.5 V, and η is set to 0.46.

We have fabricated and characterized a near-surface JoFET at cryogenic temperatures. Our device shows good tunability of the supercurrent and a high channel mobility of 7700 cm²/V s at 9K. To investigate the potential of JoFETs in future gate-tunable qubit systems, we developed a Verilog-A-based compact model of the near-surface JoFET. Circuit simulations in ADS using our compact model show excellent agreement with the measured data at cryogenic temperatures. Especially, when operating close to V_T , we find that the device shows a crossover from diffusive to ballistic regime, which must be considered for device concepts operating close to V_T . Our model enables system-level investigation of circuits containing realistic, non-ideal JoFET's which is essential for the development of gate-tunable qubits.

See the supplementary material for magnetic field evaluation of the induced supercurrent as well as an explanation of the expression for the critical current.

This work was supported in part by NanoLund and in part by the Swedish Research Council under Grant No. 2016-00891.

AUTHOR DECLARATIONS

Conflict of Interest

The authors have no conflicts to disclose.

Author Contributions

L. Olausson and P. Olausson contributed equally to this work.

L. Olausson: Conceptualization (equal); Investigation (equal); Methodology (equal); Writing – original draft (equal); Writing – review & editing (equal). P. Olausson: Conceptualization (equal); Investigation (equal); Methodology (equal); Writing – original draft (equal); Writing – review & editing (equal). E. Lind: Conceptualization (equal); Funding acquisition (lead); Methodology (equal); Supervision (lead); Writing – review & editing (supporting).

DATA AVAILABILITY

The data that support the findings of this study are openly available in Zenodo at https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.10401032, Ref. 37.

REFERENCES

 ¹T. Akazaki, H. Takayanagi, J. Nitta, and T. Enoki, "A Josephson field effect transistor using an InAs-inserted-channel In_{0.5}Al_{0.48}As/In_{0.55}Ga_{0.47}As inverted modulation-doped structure," Appl. Phys. Lett. **68**(3), 418–420 (1996).
 ²K. Delfanazari, R. K. Puddy, P. Ma, T. Yi, M. Cao, Y. Gul, I. Farrer, D. A.

*K. Deltanazari, R. K. Puddy, P. Ma, T. Yi, M. Cao, Y. Gul, I. Farrer, D. A. Ritchie, H. J. Joyce, M. J. Kelly, and C. G. Smith, "On-chip Andreev devices: hard superconducting gap and quantum transport in ballistic Nb-In0₂₇₅Gao₂₅As-quantum-well-Nb Josephson junctions," Adv. Mater. 29(37), 1701836 (2017).

³M. Kjaergaard, F. Nichele, H. Suominen *et al.*, "Quantized conductance doubling and hard gap in a two-dimensional semiconductor-superconductor heterostructure," Nat. Commun. 7(1), 12841 (2016).

⁴K. Delfanazari, J. Li, P. Ma, R. K. Puddy, T. Yi, Y. Xiong, I. Farrer, S. Komori, J. W. A. Robinson, D. A. Ritchie, M. J. Kelly, H. J. Joyce, and C. G. Smith, "Large-scale on-chip integration of gate-voltage addressable hybrid superconductor-semiconductor quantum wells field effect nano-switch arrays," Adv. Electron. Mater. (published online 2023).

⁵L. Casparis, M. R. Connolly, M. Kjaergaard, N. J. Pearson, A. Kringhøj, T. W. Larsen, F. Kuemmeth, T. Wang, C. Thomas, S. Gronin, G. C. Gardner, M. J. Manfra, C. M. Marcus, and K. D. Petersson, "Superconducting gatemon qubit based on a proximitized two-dimensional electron gas," Nat. Nanotechnol. 13(10), 915–919 (2018).

⁶A. Hertel, M. Eichinger, L. O. Andersen, D. M. T. Van Zanten, S. Kallatt, P. Scarlino, A. Kringbøj, J. M. Chavez-Garcia, G. C. Gardner, S. Gronin, M. J. Manfra, A. Gyenis, M. Kjaergaard, C. M. Marcus, and K. D. Petersson, "Gate-tunable transmon using selective-area-grown superconductor-semiconductor hybrid structures on silicon," Phys. Rev. Appl. 18(3), 34–42 (2022).

⁷G. Butseraen, A. Ranadive, N. Aparicio, K. R. Amin, A. Juyal, M. Esposito, K. Watanabe, T. Taniguchi, N. Roch, F. Lefloch, and J. Renard, "A gate-tunable graphene Josephson parametric amplifier," Nat. Nanotechnol. 17(11), 1153–1158 (2022).

⁸D. Phan, P. Falthansl-Scheinecker, U. Mishra, W. M. Strickland, D. Langone, J. Shabani, and A. P. Higginbotham, "Gate-tunable superconductor-semiconductor parametric amplifier," Phys. Rev. Appl. **19**(6), 064032 (2023).

Appl. Phys. Lett. 124, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 © Author(s) 2024

Applied Physics Letters

ARTICLE

- ⁹S. Alam, M. A. Jahangir, and A. Aziz, "A compact model for superconductorinsulator-superconductor (SIS) Josephson junctions," IEEE Electron Device Lett. 41(8), 1249-1252 (2020).
- ¹⁰S. R. Whiteley, "Josephson junctions in SPICE3," IEEE Trans. Magn. 27(2), 2902-2905 (1991).
- ¹¹J. A. Delport, K. Jackman, P. l Roux, and C. J. Fourie, "JoSIM-Superconductor SPICE simulator," IEEE Trans. Appl. Supercond. 29(5), 1300905 (2019). ¹²F. Wen, J. Shabani, and E. Tutuc, "Josephson junction field-effect transistors for
- Boolean logic cryogenic applications," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 66(12), 5367-5374 (2019).
- $^{13}\mbox{L}.$ A. Glasser, "Circuit models and applications of the superconducting fieldeffect transistor," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits 24(5), 1441–1450 (1989). ¹⁴U. Ghoshal, T. van Duzer, and H. Kroger, "SPICE models and applications of
- superconducting FETs and higher-voltage Josephson gates," in International Electron Devices Meeting 1991 (Technical Digest), Washington, DC (IEEE, 1991), pp. 349-352.
- 1991), pp. 349-352.
 15W. Mayer, J. Yuan, K. S. Wickramasinghe, T. Nguyen, M. C. Dartiailh, and J. Shabani, "Superconducting proximity effect in epitaxial Al-InAs heterostructures," Appl. Phys. Lett. 114(10), 103-104 (2019).
- ¹⁶ F. Vigneau, R. Mizokuchi, D. C. Zanuz, X. Huang, S. Tan, R. Maurand, S. Frolov, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, F. Lefloch, and S. De Franceschi, "Germanium quantum-well Josephson field-effect transistors and interferome-ters," Nano Lett. **19**(2), 1023–1027 (2019).
- 17 Y. B. Lee, B. Y. Kim, H. W. Park, S. H. Lee, M. Oh, S. K. Ryoo, I. S. Lee, S. Byun, D. Shim, J. H. Lee, H. Kim, K. D. Kim, M. H. Park, and C. S. Hwang, "Oxygenscavenging effects of added Ti layer in the TiN gate of metal-ferroelectric-insulator-semiconductor capacitor with Al-doped HfO2 ferroelectric Film," Adv. ectron. Mater. 8(11), 2200310 (2022).
- 18 R. Winter, P. Shekhter, K. Tang, L. Floreano, A. Verdini, P. C. McIntyre, and M. Eizenberg, "Effects of titanium layer oxygen scavenging on the high-k/ InGaAs interface," ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 8(26), 16979-16984 (2016).
- 19J. Ahn, T. Kent, E. Chagarov, K. Tang, A. C. Kummel, and P. C. McIntyre, ⁴ Arsenic decapping and pre-atomic layer deposition trimethylaluminum passiv-ation of Al₂O₃/InGaAs(100) interfaces," Appl. Phys. Lett. **103**(7), 071602 (2013).
- ²⁰P. Olausson, L. Södergren, M. Borg, and E. Lind, "Optimization of near-surface
- Gantauson, E. Societzen, M. Poys. Status Solidi A 218(7), 2000720 (2021).
 N. S. Garigapati, L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, "Strained In_xGa_(1-x)As/InP near surface quantum wells and MOSFETS," Appl. Phys. Lett. 120(9), 092105 (2022).
- ²²B. D. Josephson, "Possible new effects in superconductive tunneling," Phys. Lett 1(7), 251-253 (1962).

- 23 F. Wen, "Strain engineered Si-Ge nanowire heterostructures and Josephson junction field-effect transistors for logic device applications," Ph.D. dissertation (University of Texas, Austin, 2020).
- 24 N. M. Shchelkachev, "Critical current in superconducting quantum point contacts," JETP Lett. 71(12), 504-507 (2000).
- ²⁵T. Bauch, E. Hürfeld, V. M. Krasnov, and P. Delsing, "Correlated quantization of supercurrent and conductance in a superconducting quantum point contact," Phys. Rev. B 71(17), 174502 (2005).
- ²⁶A. Khakifirooz, O. M. Nayfeh, and D. Antoniadis, "A simple semiempirical short-channel MOSFET current-voltage model continuous across all regions of operation and employing only physical parameters," IEEE Trans. Devices 56(8), 1674 (2009).
- 27 M. Lundstrom and G. Jeong, Near-Equilibrium Transport (World Scientific, 2013).
- ²⁸P. Olausson and E. Lind, "Geometrical magnetoresistance as a tool for carrier mobility extraction in InGaAs MOSFETs," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 70, 5614-5615 (2023).
- 29 M. Octavio, M. Tinkham, G. E. Blonder, and T. M. Klapwijk, "Subharmonic energy-gap structure in superconducting constrictions," Phys. Rev. B 27(11), 6739 (1983).
- ³⁰G. Niebler, G. Cuniberti, and T. Novotný, "Analytical calculation of the excess current in the Octavio-Tinkham-Blonder-Klapwijk theory," Supercond. Sci. Technol. 22(8), 085016 (2009).
- ³¹L. Södergren, P. Olausson, and E. Lind, "Cryogenic characteristics of InGaAs MOSFET," IEEE Trans. Electron Devices **70**(3), 1226–1230 (2023).
- 32 S. Das Sarma and E. H. Hwang, "Universal density scaling of disorder-limited low-temperature conductivity in high-mobility two-dimensional systems,' v. B 88(3), 035439 (2013).
- ³³C. Kittel, *Introduction to Solid State Physics* (Wiley, New York, 2004).
 ³⁴G. E. Blonder, M. Tinkham, and T. M. Klapwijk, "Transition from metallic to
- tunneling regimes in superconducting microconstrictions: Excess current, charge imbalance, and supercurrent conversion," Phys. Rev. B 25(7), 4515-4532 (1982).
- 35 T. Schäpers, Superconductor/Semiconductor Junctions, Springer Tracts in Modern Physics (Springer Berlin, Heidelberg, 2001), Vol. 174
- ³⁶W. M. van Huffelen, T. M. Klapwijk, D. R. Heslinga, M. J. de Boer, and N. van der Post, "Carrier transport in mesoscopic silicon-coupled superconducting junctions," Phys. Rev. B 47(9), 5170-5189 (1993).
- 37 P. Olausson, L. Olausson, and E. Lind (2023). "Gate-controlled near surface Josephson junctions," Zenodo, Dataset. https://doi.org/10.5281/ do.10401032

Appl. Phys. Lett. 124, 042601 (2024); doi: 10.1063/5.0182485 C Author(s) 2024

124. 042601-6

Paper VII

Paper VII

J. SVENSSON, <u>P. OLAUSSON</u>, H. MENON, S. LEHMANN, E. LIND AND M. BORG, "Three-Dimensional Integration of InAs Nanowires by Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy on Tungsten," *Nano Letters*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 4756-4761, June 2023, doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04908.

NANO LETTERS

pubs.acs.org/NanoLett

Three-Dimensional Integration of InAs Nanowires by Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy on Tungsten

Johannes Svensson,* Patrik Olausson, Heera Menon, Sebastian Lehmann, Erik Lind, and Mattias Borg

Cite This: Nan	o Lett. 2023, 23, 4756–4761	Read Online				
ACCESS	III Metrics & More		E Article Recommendations		Supporting Information	_

ABSTRACT: 3D integration of III-V semiconductors with Si CMOS is highly attractive since it allows combining new functions such as photonic and analog devices with digital signal processing circuitry. Thus far, most 3D integration approaches have used epitaxial growth on Si, layer transfer by wafer bonding, or die-to-die packaging. Here we present low-temperature integration of InAs on W using Si₃N₄ template assisted selective area metal–organic vapor-phase epitaxy (MOVPE). Despite growth nucleation on polycrystalline W, we can obtain a high yield of single-crystalline InAs nanowires, as observed by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and electron backscatter diffraction (EBSD). The nanowires exhibit a mobility of 690 cm²/(V s), a low-resistive, Ohmic electrical contact to the W film, and a resistivity which



increases with diameter attributed to increased grain boundary scattering. These results demonstrate the feasibility for singlecrystalline III-V back-end-of-line integration with a low thermal budget compatible with Si CMOS.

KEYWORDS: InAs, III-V semiconductors, nanowires, metal-organic vapor-phase epitaxy, selective area epitaxy, Si CMOS integration

II-V semiconductor devices are dominating applications in optoelectronics and high-speed analog electronics such as signal amplification and processing due to their high carrier mobilities and injection velocities. For emerging 6G wireless networks, 3D heterointegrated high-frequency systems are considered essential,¹ and it is thus highly attractive to monolithically integrate high-performing III-V devices such as high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) or high-speed photodetectors on top of Si CMOS circuitry, since this enables new functionalities, minimizes latency, and allows optimal heat dissipation. However, any viable III-V integration method needs to (i) be cost-efficient i.e. enable integration on Si substrates without the use of expensive bulk III-V substrates, (ii) be scalable to the 200-300 mm wafer diameters used in industry, (iii) use low-temperature processes to not exceed the temperature budget of Si CMOS, and (iv) achieve a sufficiently high material quality.

Until now, the most promising routes have been direct wafer bonding² and variations of selective area epitaxial growth techniques using dielectric masks. Direct wafer bonding has been used to demonstrate integration of III-V layers on Si wafers with diameters up to 200 mm³ and integration of high electron mobility transistors and Si CMOS⁴, however, the process requires ultraclean surfaces with very low roughness, as any particles result in extended bonding defects and a degraded quality of the transferred film.⁵ In addition, for direct wafer bonding to be economically viable requires that the donor III-V wafer can be reused.³ The most successful direct epitaxial techniques are conformal lateral overgrowth,⁶ aspect ratio trapping,⁷ and template-assisted selective epitaxy (TASE).⁸ These selective area growth techniques⁹ are closely related and rely on crystal nucleation inside openings in dielectric masks which stop threading dislocations, that originate from the III-V/Si interface, from extending far into the material. In TASE, a circular dielectric mask opening with a small diameter is used, since such confinement in two dimensions promotes crystal formation from a single nucleation event and thus antiphase boundaries can be avoided.¹⁰

The TASE technique has enabled various innovations such as sequential and dense cointegration of different III-V semiconductors (InAs and GaSb),¹¹ lateral heterojunctions¹² as well as III-V MOSFETs,¹³ tunnel field effect transistors,¹⁴ and photodetectors,¹⁵ all integrated to be coplanar with Si. Thus, TASE allows for integration of III-V devices close to the active layer in a CMOS stack, which is known as the front-endof-line (FEOL). In this paper, we extend the use of the TASE method to allow also for III-V device integration further up in the metal layer stack, in what is known as the back-end-of-line

 Received:
 December 15, 2022

 Revised:
 May 22, 2023

 Published:
 May 25, 2023



💽 😳 🚺



© 2023 The Authors. Published by American Chemical Society 4756

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04908 Nano Lett. 2023, 23, 4756-4761

Nano Letters

(BEOL) consisting of metal interconnects and dielectric layers. This enables true heterogeneous and monolithic 3D systems to be realized, combining for instance high-speed low-noise amplifiers, photodetectors, and sensors on top of Si CMOS circuitry used for readout and digital processing, without requiring significant changes to the CMOS active layer or increasing the total chip area.

Here we present a technique for InAs metal organic vapor phase epitaxy (MOVPE) directly on W using TASE. The confinement induced by a Si₃N₄ template allows the creation of single-crystalline InAs on polycrystalline W, in contrast to unmasked growth, which has been shown to result in a poor-quality semiconductor. 16 In addition, our method does not require expensive substrates, since the W can be deposited on various surfaces, it is also scalable to large-diameter wafers and the growth temperature of 450 °C is sufficiently low to not degrade any underlying CMOS circuits,¹⁷ thus fulfilling the requirements (i)-(iii) discussed above. W is suitable since it has a high melting point, a low thermal expansion coefficient, and a low resistivity and has been demonstrated to form a lowresistivity contact to InGaAs.¹⁸ Also, since W is used at the interface between the FEOL and BEOL of a Si CMOS stack, our III-V integration method can be deemed to be CMOS compatible.

The samples consist of a layer stack of 50 nm W/6 nm $Al_2O_3/380$ nm $Si_3N_4/12$ nm Cr (bottom to top) deposited on Si with a 100 nm thick SiO₂ layer (Figure 1). Circular holes with 40–300 nm diameter and 500–2000 nm pitch were etched in the Si_3N_4 using the Cr as a hard mask which had been patterned by electron beam lithography (see the Supporting Information for details). InAs was grown for ~15 min at 450 °C using MOVPE with TMIn and AsH₃ without any preceding annealing step, which is below the maximum allowed temperature budget for Si CMOS.

The grown samples were cleaved to enable cross sectional imaging using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). The orientation and the crystallinity of InAs nanowires were inspected using electron backscatter diffraction (EBSD) at an accelerating voltage of 10 kV and a 20–50 nm step size to maximize the number of pixels per nanowire. To inspect the nanowires in more detail, they were mechanically transferred onto a lacey-carbon-supported Cu grid using a micromanipulator to enable transmission electron microscope (TEM) imaging.

To enable electrical characterization, 10 nm Ni/150 nm Au contacts were patterned on top of individual InAs nanowires of different diameters by optical lithography, sputtering, and liftoff, while utilizing the Si₃N₄ template as an isolating planar spacer. To access the W layer and contact the bottom of the nanowires, vias were etched using SF_c-based ICPRIE prior to metal deposition and electrical characteristics were measured at room and cryogenic temperatures.

With the optimized growth conditions, as will be discussed below, we achieve InAs nanowire growth in all template openings. The nanowires in an array have uniform lengths and an inversely tapered geometry which follows that of the Si_3N_4 template (Figure 2a).

To achieve single-crystalline InAs growth, it is imperative that there is only a single nucleation event on the exposed W at the bottom of each template tube and that this nucleus grows to fill up the full template cross-sectional area before another nucleation event occurs. This requires the nucleation probability on the W surface to be sufficiently high compared



Figure 1. (a) Schematic illustration of the process to (1) form the material stack on a Si substrate, (2) etch template openings in Si₃N₄ using ICPRE with an EBL patterned Cr mask, and (3) remove the Cr mask followed by MOVPE where a single nucleus is formed on the exposed W, resulting in (4) a single-crystalline InAs nanowire inside the Si₃N₄ template. (b) SEM cross section of a template before the Cr mask etch. (c) Scanning TEM of an as-grown InAs nanowire inside the template which has been filled with Pt for lamella preparation. Coloring of the SEM and STEM images are only for visualization purposes.

to the surrounding Si₃N₄ surfaces. However, the nucleation probability on the W cannot be too high, as this would inevitably lead to nucleation of multiple distinct crystallites that would converge into a polycrystal. To optimize the conditions for selective InAs growth initiated from a single nucleus on the W, we study the effect of flow and V/III ratio on InAs nucleation. For a growth process with only a short (6 min) nucleation step, it is possible to observe the number of nuclei by SEM. For low precursor molar fractions of $X_{TMIn} =$ 3.8×10^{-7} and $X_{AsH_3} = 7.6 \times 10^{-6}$, i.e. V/III = 20, template openings with 120 nm diameter (Figure 2b) and larger mostly exhibit multiple nuclei, which upon further growth could lead to a polycrystalline nanowire. On the other hand, template openings with a diameter of 40 nm predominately have a single nucleus (Figure 2c).

In contrast, if the growth is initiated using a high precursor molar fraction and high V/III ratio ($X_{TMIn} = 3.8 \times 10^{-6}$, X_{AsH} , = 3.8 × 10⁻⁴, V/III = 100), InAs nucleates on the top edge or the inner sidewalls of the template openings instead of on the W surface at the bottom (Figure S1 in the Supporting Information). Under these conditions, the supersaturation is high enough that the precursors do not reach the bottom of the templates before nucleation occurs on the Si₃N₄ surface. However, high V/III ratios are necessary during the main part of the growth process to avoid incomplete filling of the template openings (Figure S2 in the Supporting Information),

Nano Letters



Figure 2. (a) False-color SEM image of InAs crystals grown in 75 nm diameter templates after the Si_3N_4 template has been removed. (b, c) Crystals after the 6 min nucleation step with low V/III ratio with 120 nm (b) and 40 nm (c) template diameter. (d, e) InAs crystals grown in 315 nm and 63 nm diameter templates. (f) Length vs template diameter for three different pitches. Note that the longest nanowires for 2000 nm pitch protrude above the 380 nm thick Si_3N_4 template.

since a low V/III ratio is known to give anisotropic growth, mainly on the (111)B facet, an effect which is more pronounced at low growth temperatures.¹⁹ Also, since we do not at this point control the orientation of the InAs crystals, the upward-facing facet types will vary between different template openings. Having similar growth rates on all facets thus ensures uniform nanowire dimensions across the sample. Therefore, by combining a nucleation step using a low flow and V/III ratio with a subsequent growth step using a considerably higher flow and V/III ratio, we achieve a complete filling of the template openings (see Figure 2a,d,e) and uniform InAs nanowire lengths.

Having established suitable nucleation conditions, we investigate the growth dynamics due to the tubular templates. For the larger template openings (>120 nm) (Figure 2d), the

pubs.acs.org/NanoLett

crystals exhibit multiple, uncorrelated facets, which is a sign of polycrystallinity. In contrast, only one flat top facet or a few inclined facets can be observed for InAs grown in the smaller openings (Figure 2e), indicating that these may be single crystalline. We also observe that the growth rate is significantly reduced with decreasing template diameter (Figure 2f) in agreement with Borg et al.,8 who concluded that growth in TASE is limited by Knudsen diffusion for which the molecular flow per area is linearly dependent on the template diameter. The growth rate follows a linear increase with template diameter up to 75 nm, with little or no impact of the pitch between template openings, thus indicative of Knudsen diffusion. For larger diameters, the aspect ratio of our 380 nm deep templates is small and Knudsen diffusion may no longer limit the growth rate. Indeed, we observe an almost diameter-independent growth rate for the largest openings. In addition, for these diameters the growth rate increases with increased template opening pitch, indicating that the growth rate is limited by the collection of material from the neighboring area at the top of the Si₃N₄. For a smaller pitch, the collection areas overlap and thus there is competition for material, resulting in a decreased growth rate. Note that the arrays with the largest diameter and pitch have InAs nanowires that protrude above the template, which gives a high growth rate at the end of the process. For extended growth times using the conditions for optimal template filling, also the InAs nanowires from small-diameter openings protrude above the mask, extending laterally to form a larger crystal at the top.

High-resolution TEM was used to image InAs nanowires grown in 40 and 120 nm template openings (Figure 3). The nanowires have a single-crystalline zincblende crystal structure and exhibit a wider base due to underetching of Al₂O₃ underneath the Si₃N₄ template. The 40 nm diameter nanowire has a high density of stacking faults with a large inclination angle with respect to the Si₃N₄ template orientation that results in streaks in the diffraction pattern (Figure 3c). In contrast, apart from the nucleation region, the 120 nm diameter InAs nanowire has a very low density of stacking defects but has a few twinned segments along different $\langle 111 \rangle$ directions, in line with previous observations of twin formation predominantly occurring on the (111)B growth plane.¹⁹ It has previously been shown that such stacking faults and twins do not significantly affect the resistivity of InAs nanowires and they are therefore not expected to be detrimental to device characteristics.^{13,20} It was not possible to obtain high-quality images of the bottom of the 120 nm diameter nanowire, and thus we cannot exclude that the growth is polycrystalline at the nucleation stage. Due to the diameter dependence of precursor transport, it is likely that growth conditions at the bottom of the templates are different for the two diameters, which may impact nucleation and thus defect formation as the nucleus expands.

EBSD was used to probe the crystal structure of 17–30 nanowires for each diameter to obtain statistics not possible with HRTEM. To do this, the Si_3N_4 film was partially wet etched (BOE 1:10) so that the InAs nanowires protruded. In Figure 4 (and Figure S3 in the Supporting Information), SEM images of arrays of nanowires with 40, 63 and 120 nm diameters are presented together with the crystal orientation of the nanowires parallel to the normal direction of the sample as obtained by EBSD. It is clear that almost all of the 40 and 63 nm diameter nanowires are single crystalline and have different orientations. In contrast, more than half of the 120 nm diameter nanowires (Figure 4c) exhibit EBSD patterns with

Letter



Figure 3. TEM overview and high-resolution (HRTEM) images and selected area diffraction patterns (SADPs) from InAs nanowires with 40 nm (a-c) and 120 nm (d-f) diameters obtained at 300 kV using a IEOL 3000F instrument. The 40 nm diameter nanowire has a high density of stacking faults, as can be observed from the HRTEM image and the streaks in the SADP, while the 120 nm diameter nanowire is almost free of stacking defects apart from three twinned segments.

multiple uncorrelated orientations in each template, clearly being the result of polycrystalline growth. Note that the EBSD map of one of the nanowires with 63 nm diameter has two stripes. By correlating the relative orientation of these areas to the rest of the nanowire, it is concluded that these are twin plane defects are not the result of polycrystalline growth. We observe a 95% single-crystalline yield for template diameters of 63 nm and below (Figure 4d), with a reduction in yield for larger diameters. Note that we do not observe any preferred crystal orientation from EBSD measurement on 120 nm nanowires (color map in Figure 4). This result gives us confidence that this method can achieve high-crystal-quality InAs nanowires suitable for device integration in the Si BEOL.

Since large-diameter template openings give polycrystalline InAs and even the single-crystalline nanowires have uncontrolled orientations, it is of interest to study the W film in more detail. Sputtered W forms two major phases depending on sputtering parameters, and the low-resistivity α -W phase, with a bcc structure and a lattice constant of 0.316 nm, is typically



Figure 4. (a–c) EBSD analysis of InAs crystals grown in Si₃N₄ template openings of different diameters. The template has been partially wet etched so that the InAs protrudes. SEM images at 70° tilt and corresponding EBSD color map (IPZ orientation) of InAs nanowires with 40 nm (a), 63 nm (b) and 120 nm (c) diameters. The orientation of all 120 nanowires analyzed is displayed in the color map. (d) Yield of single-grain InAs as a function of template opening diameter as determined from EBSD analysis.

predominant.²¹ Indeed, X-ray diffraction analysis of 50 nm W gives three peaks ({110}, {200}, {211}) corresponding to the α -W phase (Figure S4 in the Supporting Information), and an EBSD analysis of 20 nm W shows that 87% of the grains have the α -W phase and no evident texture (Figure S5 in the Supporting Information). The majority of grains are much larger than the smallest template opening (0.001 μ m²), indicating that in most cases a single grain should be present at the bottom of the templates.

To be able to control the crystal orientation of the InAs nanowires by e.g. tuning the texturing of the W film, 22 there needs to be an epitaxial relationship between them. However, due to the geometry used in the EBSD setup, it is not possible to correlate the crystal orientation of entire nanowires to the orientation of the W grains on which they nucleated. Therefore, EBSD was performed on InAs grown using only the short nucleation step (Figures S6 and S7 in the Supporting Information). Distinctive Kikuchi patterns for two InAs crystals and W grains showed that for one of the InAs crystals, its orientation was close to that of one of the W grains in its vicinity. However, no orientation relation was deduced from a second InAs crystal; therefore, we cannot draw general conclusions of a possible epitaxial relationship at this point.

A major and unique benefit of our integration approach is that we directly grow the InAs nanowires on a metal that without further processing could potentially be used as a contact in an electronic device. It is therefore vital to evaluate the electrical characteristics of the W/InAs contact as well as the InAs nanowires themselves (Figure 5). The current– voltage (I-V) characteristics of representative InAs nanowires are Ohmic, with no indication of Schottky-like behavior at either of the electrodes. Indeed, we confirm the absence of a significant energy barrier by measuring the I-V characteristics



Figure 5. (a) Resistivity as a function of nanowire bottom diameter at room temperature obtained using a Keysight B1500A parameter analyzer. 4–6 nanowires were measured for each diameter. The I-Vcharacteristics for 40 and 63 nm diameter nanowires and a schematic device are displayed in the insets. (b) Resistivity as a function of temperature for nanowires with 63 nm and 315 nm diameters. (c) Transfer characteristics and transconductance of a single 70 nm diameter back-gated nanowire at $V_{\rm ds}$ = 10 mV with a SEM image of the device being given in the inset.

at various temperatures down to 13 K, which in all cases result in similar Ohmic characteristics.

The resistivities of the InAs nanowires were extracted from the inverse slope of the I-V characteristics, taking into account the tapered geometry of the nanowires (Figure S8 in the Supporting Information) and evaluated as a function of diameter and temperature. Again we see the impact of polycrystallinity for nanowires with larger diameters. The resistivity increases significantly from 26 $\Omega \ \mu m$ for the 63 nm template opening to 64 $\Omega \ \mu m$ for the 315 nm opening. This is attributed to an increasing number of grain boundaries in polycrystalline InAs grown in the larger openings which results in more electron trapping and scattering.^{23,24} We see little change in resistivity with temperature, indicating that the mobility is limited by charged impurity scattering as opposed to phonons.²⁵

 crude estimation of the carrier concentration can be obtained by $n = \frac{1}{q \times \mu \times \rho}$, where ρ is the resistivity, μ the mobility, and q the elementary charge. To estimate the mobility, the Si₃N₄ was wet etched, nanowires were transferred to a Si substrate with a 200 nm thick SiO₂ layer, and Ni/Au source-drain contacts were patterned using EBL and lift-off. Transfer characteristics were measured at $V_{\rm DS}$ = 10 mV using the Si substrate as a back gate (Figure 5c). The field effect mobility is then obtained from $\mu_{\rm FE} = g_{\rm m} L^2 / C V_{\rm DS}$, where $g_{\rm m} =$ dI_D/dV_{GS} = 94 nS is the transconductance, L = 140 nm the distance between the contacts, C = 2.68 aF the capacitance to the back gate calculated using the finite element method (Figure S9 in the Supporting Information), and $V_{DS} = 10 \text{ mV}$ the source-drain bias.²⁶ This calculation gives a lower bound estimate of the mobility of $\mu_{\rm FE} = 690 \text{ cm}^2/(\text{V s})$, assuming that contact and series resistances and interface states are negligible. Combining the lower mobility estimate with the resistivity of 25 Ω μ m obtained from vertical nanowires gives an upper bound carrier concentration of $n = 3.6 \times 10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3}$.

This result indicates a moderate unintentional doping in our nanowires that could originate from background carbon incorporation due to the low growth temperature²⁷ but more likely is due to Si incorporation from a nonstochiometric Si₃N₄ film. This background doping could be reduced by the use of an ethyl-type In precursor (triethylindium), Si₃N₄ of higher quality, or a SiO₂ template.¹³ Nevertheless, the measurements demonstrate electrically well-behaving InAs nanowires with Ohmic connection to the bottom W electrode without the need for further processing.

In summary, we have demonstrated that single-crystalline InAs nanowires can be grown on polycrystalline W films by confining the growth in two dimensions in a dielectric template, resulting in nanowires with uniform dimensions determined by the shape of the template, but at this point with uncontrolled crystal orientation. The W/InAs interface provides a stable and Ohmic contact to the InAs nanowires which have unintentional doping estimated to be at most 3.6×10^{18} cm⁻³. In conclusion, our low-temperature TASE on W process enables growth on noncrystalline substrates and paves the way toward low-cost, scalable heterogeneous integration of III-V devices in the Si CMOS BEOL.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge at https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04908.

Growth template fabrication process, SEM images of InAs grown with high total flow and high V/III and low flow and low V/III, additional EBSD orientation maps, GIXRD scan of bare W film, EBSD phase map and grain area analysis of W, EBSD analysis of InAs and the surrounding W grains after the nucleation step, EBSD of band contrast of a single InAs grain, and FEM simulation of potential distribution in InAs for resistivity calculations (PDF)

4760
Nano Letters

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Johannes Svensson – Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweder; © orcid.org/0000-0002-4673-8225; Email: johannes.svensson@eil.th.se

Authors

- Patrik Olausson Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; • orcid.org/0000-0002-1044-8947
- Heera Menon Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; © orcid.org/0000-0002-7365-1256
- Sebastian Lehmann NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; Solid State Physics, Lund University, S-221 00 Lund, Sweden; • orcid.org/0000-0002-4091-905X
- Erik Lind Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden
- Mattias Borg Department of Electrical and Information Technology, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; NanoLund, Lund University, SE-221 00 Lund, Sweden; orcid.org/0000-0003-1217-369X

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.nanolett.2c04908

Author Contributions

J.S., P.O., and H.M. contributed equally to this work. Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by NanoLund, the Crafoord foundation (Grant no. 20210658), and the Swedish Research Council (VR) (Grant 2016-00891). The authors also acknowledge the kind assistance with TEM imaging and analysis from Crispin Hetherington and Daniel Madsen, both at the Centre for Analysis and Synthesis at Lund University.

REFERENCES

 Sheikh, F.; et al. 2.5D and 3D Heterogeneous Integration: Emerging applications. *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Magazine* 2021, 13 (4), 77–87.

(2) Caimi, D.; et al. Heterogeneous Integration of III-V Materials by Direct Wafer Bonding for High-Performance Electronics and Optoelectronics. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* **2021**, 68 (7), 3149– 3156.

(3) Daix, N.; et al. Towards large size substrates for III-V cointegration made by direct wafer bonding on Si. APL Materials 2014, 2 (8), 086104.

(4) Jeong, J.; et al. Heterogeneous and Monolithic 3D Integration of III-V-Based Radio Frequency Devices on Si CMOS Circuits. ACS Nano 2022, 16 (6), 9031–9040.

(5) Bao, S.; et al. A review of silicon-based wafer bonding processes, an approach to realize the monolithic integration of Si-CMOS and III-V-on-Si wafers. *Journal of Semiconductors* 2021, 42 (2), 023106.

(6) Pribat, D.; et al. High quality GaAs on Si by conformal growth. Appl. Phys. Lett. **1992**, 60 (17), 2144–2146.

(7) Waldron, N.; et al. Integration of InGaAs Channel n-MOS Devices on 200mm Si Wafers Using the Aspect-Ratio-Trapping Technique. ECS Trans. 2012, 45 (4), 115–128. (8) Borg, M.; et al. Mechanisms of template-assisted selective epitaxy of InAs nanowires on Si. J. Appl. Phys. **2015**, 117 (14), 144303.

(9) Yuan, X.; et al. Selective area epitaxy of III-V nanostructure arrays and networks: Growth, applications, and future directions. *Applied Physics Reviews* **2021**, *8* (2), 021302.

(10) Renard, C.; et al. Dislocation and antiphase domain free microscale GaAs crystals grown on SiO2 from (001) Si nano-areas. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2013**, *102* (19), 191915.

(11) Borg, M.; et al. High-Mobility GaSb Nanostructures Cointegrated with InAs on Si. ACS Nano 2017, 11 (3), 2554-2560. (12) Suran Brunelli, S. T.; et al. Horizontal Heterojunction Integration via Template-Assisted Selective Epitaxy. Cryst. Growth Des. 2019, 19 (12), 7030-7035.

(13) Schmid, H.; et al. Template-assisted selective epitaxy of III-V nanoscale devices for co-planar heterogeneous integration with Si. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2015**, *106* (23), 233101.

(14) Cutaia, D., et al. Complementary III-V heterojunction lateral NW Tunnel FET technology on Si. In 2016 IEEE Symposium on VLSI Technology, 2016.

(15) Wen, P.; et al. Waveguide coupled III-V photodiodes monolithically integrated on Si. Nat. Commun. 2022, 13 (1), 909. (16) Sands, T.; et al. Stable and epitaxial metal/III-V semiconductor

(16) Sands, T.; et al. Stable and epitaxial metal/III-V semiconductor heterostructures. *Mater. Sci. Rep.* **1990**, *5* (3), 99–170.

(17) Sedky, S.; et al. Experimental determination of the maximum post-process annealing temperature for standard CMOS wafers. *IEEE Trans. Electron Devices* **2001**, 48 (2), 377–385.

(18) Lahav, A.; Ren, F.; Kopf, R. F. Thermal stability of tungsten ohmic contacts to the graded-gap InGaAs/GaAs/AlGaAs heterostructure. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **1989**, *54* (17), 1693–1695.

(19) Borg, M.; et al. Facet-selective group-III incorporation in InGaAs template assisted selective epitaxy. *Nanotechnology* **2019**, 30 (8), 084004.

(20) Thelander, C.; et al. Effects of Crystal Phase Mixing on the Electrical Properties of InAs Nanowires. *Nano Lett.* **2011**, *11* (6), 2424–2429.

(21) Girault, B.; et al. Controlled nanostructuration of polycrystalline tungsten thin films. J. Appl. Phys. 2013, 113 (17), 174310.

(22) Girault, B.; et al. Controlled nanostructuration of polycrystalline tungsten thin films. J. Appl. Phys. 2013, 113 (17), 174310.

(23) Bakonyi, I. Accounting for the resistivity contribution of grain boundaries in metals: critical analysis of reported experimental and theoretical data for Ni and Cu. *European Physical Journal Plus* **2021**, 136 (4), 410.

(24) Scott, D. W.; et al. Low-resistance n-type polycrystalline InAs grown by molecular beam epitaxy. J. Cryst. Growth 2004, 267 (1), 35-41.

(25) Walukiewicz, W. Carrier scattering by native defects in heavily doped semiconductors. *Phys. Rev. B* **1990**, *41* (14), 10218–10220.

(26) Dayeh, S. A.; et al. High Electron Mobility InAs Nanowire Field-Effect Transistors. Small 2007, 3 (2), 326–332.

(27) Wagener, M. C.; Wagener, V.; Botha, J. R. Growth temperature dependence of the background doping in MOVPE-grown InAs. J. Cryst. Growth **2012**, 340 (1), 13–17.

4761